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Foreword

The Rebirth of Capitalism

ROBERT J. SAMUELSON

ONE OF THE REMARKABLE STORIES of our time is
the fall and rise of capitalism. If you go back 30 or 40
years, hardly anyone talked about “capitalism.” The
word existed in dictionaries and history books, but it
had virtually disappeared from everyday conversation
and political debate. It connoted a bygone era (it was
thought) of cruel and crude business titans who abused
their workers and presided over an inherently unstable
economic system. It was bad news.

We had moved on. People thought the economic sys-
tem had fundamentally changed. Government supervised
markets; modern managers, not the old moguls, were
more sensitive to workers and communities. They had
more “social responsibility.” A new vocabulary was
needed to signify the progress. People talked of a “mixed
economy” of shared power between government and
business. Sometimes there was mention of “free enter-
prise” and “private enterprise.” Hardly anyone advo-
cated unadulterated “capitalism.”

There were a few conspicuous exceptions. In 1962,
a little-known economist named Milton Friedman pub-
lished a book titled Capitalism and Freedom. The title
was catchy precisely because it praised a system that was
so unfashionable that it was hardly mentionable.

Four decades later, we have come a long way. Fried-
man became famous and won a Nobel Prize. His title no
longer seems controversial, and the relationship it sug-
gests—that capitalism promotes political freedom—is
widely, if not universally, accepted. (Freidman cited
many connections. By allowing consumers more choices,
capitalism nurtures a taste for choice in many areas, in-
cluding politics. Capitalism dilutes political power with

“widely dispersed” economic power. And it enables peo-
ple to criticize government because most workers do not
depend on government for a job.)

What explains the reversal? Well, the answer isn’t
shrinking government. When Friedman wrote his book,
government did less than it does now. It spent less as a
percentage of national income (gross domestic product—
GDP) and taxed less. It had fewer regulations. In 1965,
Congress created Medicare and Medicaid, federal health-
insurance programs for the elderly and poor. Programs to
provide college aid, food assistance, and housing ex-
panded. In 1960, governments at all levels—federal, state
and local—spent 26 percent of GDP. In 2002, they spent
32 percent of a much larger GDP. Government regula-
tion of the environment, workplace safety, and consumer
products had increased dramatically.

Generally speaking, the story is similar in Europe. In
the 1980s and 1990s, some nationalized industries (air-
lines, telecommunications, steel) were converted to private
companies. But government spending has progressively
grown, as has regulation. From 1960-2002, government
spending rose from 30-45 percent of GDP in Germany,
from 28-46 percent of GDP in Italy, and from 37-49 per-
cent of GDP in France (1963-2002). Almost everywhere
the “welfare state” has grown.

Still, capitalism has regained respectability for two
reasons: fading memories and the end of the Cold War.

Nothing discredited capitalism more than the Great
Depression, which seemed to be a climactic crisis. In the
1930s, the unemployment rate in the United States aver-
aged 18 percent. High joblessness in Europe helped
cause World War II by bringing Hitler to power. Raw
capitalism, in the popular view, could no longer be
trusted. At a minimum, it needed to be reformed and
regulated. Other critics thought it should be abolished.
Among some intellectuals, communism was fashionable.

\%



Vi Foreword

So much suffering and political instability made capital-
ism a scourge. But as the Depression-era generation has
died, so have the personal memories of the decade’s hor-
rors. The anti-capitalist stigma has faded.

Simultaneously, the collapse of communism in the
1980s and the early 1990s seemed to confirm capital-
ism’s superiority as a wealth-generating machine, a sys-
tem that could raise mass living standards. Governments
everywhere were obsessed with improving the well-
being of their citizens. For roughly four decades, com-
munism (and its many variants) vied with “free
enterprise” to see which could do better.

Under communism, government ruled the econ-
omy. There was collective ownership of industry and
agriculture in communist states; in socialist countries,
the government controlled critical industries (power,
communications, railroads, airlines, oil). Central plan-
ners coordinated production, made investment deci-
sions, and decided which industries would expand. On
the other side was free enterprise. Private companies
competed for customers and profits. Private “mar-
kets”—responding to consumers’ preferences and cor-
porate profitability—made the basic decisions of what
would be produced, what prices would be charged, and
what sectors would flourish or falter.

By the early 1980s, even before communism’s polit-
ical collapse, the economic competition was essentially
over. People could see that the communist world (the old
Soviet Union, most of Eastern Europe, China, and Cuba)
was vastly poorer than Western Europe, the United
States, and Japan. They could see that it wasn’t just
elites who benefited; average families enjoyed riches
that, 50 years earlier, had been virtually unimaginable.
The contrast was so obvious that even some communist
states began abandoning the orthodoxy. In the late
1970s, China started to introduce personal ownership
and private markets into its farming system. Once the
Soviet Union and Eastern Europe discarded commu-
nism, it became commonplace to dramatize the out-
come: “Capitalism” and “freedom” had conquered
“communism” and “tyranny.”

But if “capitalism” was no longer a dirty word, its
triumph was also misleading. Lost in all the celebration
and rhetoric was a simple reality: Capitalism itself is a
vague concept. Its meaning is unclear. Capitalism re-
quires more than the legality of private property or the
ability to accumulate profits—wealth. After all, even feu-
dal societies had private property and permitted some
members (monarchs, lords, barons) to become rich. But
feudal societies restricted property ownership and,
through law and custom, decided what people could do.
Serfs were tied to lords, who promised them protection.
In turn, the serfs had to farm their lords’ lands.

Capitalism is larger than property and profits. It’s
an economic system that depends on some common so-

cial and political arrangements that guide the behavior
of people and enterprises. A capitalist society has at least
three defining characteristics.

First, it settles most economic questions through de-
centralized markets and free prices. If people want more
widgets, then widget prices rise and production in-
creases. If there are too many widgets, prices will drop,
profits will fall and, ultimately, production will decline.
Decisions about which industries will grow (or shrink)
and what occupations will increase (or decline) are
mostly resolved by markets.

Second, it creates a motivational system because it
allows people and companies to keep much of the re-
ward from their own work. Capitalism presumes that
people want to better themselves. The theory is that they
will work harder, invest more, and take more risks if
they benefit from their own ambition, inventiveness, or
imagination. Incomes are generally not determined by
law, custom, or politically set “needs.”

Finally, capitalism establishes a permanent system
of “trial and error.” Without centralized control of
what’s produced—and because people and firms can
profit from satisfying “the market”—everyone is free to
experiment. The experimentation is a basic source of
higher living standards, because it leads to new tech-
nologies, products, and services or better ways (includ-
ing cheaper ways) of making and selling existing
products and services.

What this means is that, as a social system, capital-
ism inevitably involves inequality. Some win more than
others. The whole theory is that the possibility of excep-
tional reward inspires people to make exceptional effort.
Similarly, capitalism virtually ensures constant change.
The “market” is not wedded to the present. Its demands
and desires can shift. The economist Joseph Schumpeter
(1883-1950) called this process “creative destruction.”
At its best, it improves people’s well-being. But some-
times the constant change leads to economic and social
instability—financial panics, depressions, and industrial
and agricultural displacement. Economic stability re-
quires that supply and demand roughly match; that
workers who want jobs can find them; that what’s pro-
duced will be consumed; that what’s saved will be in-
vested. Though “the market” does well at making these
matches, it doesn’t succeed at all times and in all places.

Because all societies cope with these twin prob-
lems—inequality and instability—there is no ideal form
of capitalism. Every country, including the United States,
modifies capitalism’s dictates to satisfy its own political
preferences and cultural tastes. Few markets are totally
free. Most involve some government regulation. Labor
markets in the United States have, among other things, a
minimum wage, limits on working hours, and rules for
pensions. Some prices are regulated or controlled; in
many countries, governments set power, water, and
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phone rates. People and companies typically can’t keep
everything they earn; there are taxes. Government regu-
lation and social custom limit “trial and error.” In
Japan, government regulations protected small family-
owned stores against larger chains. Almost all societies
regulate scientific experimentation.

Capitalism is thus a term of art. All advanced econ-
omies remain “mixed economies” with power shared be-
tween private markets and government. It is a matter of
degree. Similarly, capitalism is conditioned by culture. It is
not the same in the United States as in, say, Japan, Brazil,
Germany, or South Korea. If government suppresses the
power of markets too much—through taxes, restrictions,
regulations, subsidies, and politically inspired privileges—
then capitalism is a misnomer. It is a label without mean-
ing. Similarly, if culture checks markets too much—by, for
example, awarding wealth and status on the basis of
birth, custom, political connections, or corruption—then
capitalism is also a misnomer.

Capitalism is always a work in progress, and at the
dawn of the 21st century, this is especially true. In the
past half century, it has grown more global in two senses.

First, more and more countries are trying the capital-
ist “model”—China, India, and Russia being the largest
of recent converts—and hoping to fit it to their own val-
ues and social systems. Because Friedman was at least
partially correct, this involves social and political trans-
formations as well as economic change. Relying more on
“markets” means giving people more freedom and allow-
ing status and income to be settled more by economic

competition rather than by birth, ethnic background, or
political standing. Conflicts between the past and present
are not only possible; they are inevitable.

Capitalism has also grown more “global” in a second
sense: Reduced barriers to international trade and invest-
ment have resulted in more of both. Countries that decide
to try capitalism need not decide simultaneously to join
the world economy; they could keep their capitalism at
home and restrict dealings with the outside world. But in
practice, countries are doing both. Almost all countries
have become more dependent on worldwide flows of
trade and investment funds for their own prosperity. This
creates new opportunities for gains—cross-border flows
of products, technologies, and management techniques.
Countries can specialize in what they do best; investors
can seek out the highest returns. But the same interde-
pendence also creates new opportunities for instability if
there’s a breakdown in global trade or investment flows.

There has been a rebirth of capitalism, but it is not
the capitalism of 30, 50, or 100 years ago. It is a new
version—or rather many new versions—of an old idea.
How it evolves and fares is a fascinating story that is
fateful for us all.

ROBERT ]. SAMUELSON writes a column for Newsweek and the
Washington Post. He is author of The Good Life and Its Dis-
contents: the American Dream in the Age of Entitlement
(1995) and Untruth: Why the Conventional Wisdom is (Al-
most Always) Wrong (2001).







Introduction

THE FACT THAT WE live in an era of capitalism is
universally acknowledged by both the laity and the
priesthood of social sciences. The dynamism in the pro-
duction of wealth and the social progress associated
with the historical development of capitalism are also
generally conceded. However, passionately controversial
debates ensue as soon as an effort is made to specify the
defining elements—the essence—of the social system
called capitalism.

What is capitalism? A dictionary definition, for exam-
ple, is generally stated as an economic system character-
ized by freedom of the market, along with private
ownership of the means of production and distribution.
Simple enough at the outset. But, if one looks at the in-
stitution of markets, one finds them in primitive, slave,
feudal, and even socialist societies. Perhaps, one could
assign a teleological design to an ever-expanding market
as an indicator of choice and freedom achieving its
zenith in the full flowering of capitalism. The fully
fledged actualization of a market system in this view, in
a way, is a herald of the end of history: Capitalism must
reign forever since it is coeval with human freedom.

Another view explains the pervasive and guiding
role of markets under capitalism—the invisible hand
metaphor of Adam Smith. While individual human be-
ings pursue their own selfish interests, the market forces
bring about not only a technical equalization of things
bought and sold (i.e., produced and consumed) but also,
as if behind the backs of the unsuspecting operators, a
socially beneficent outcome is generated—an optimum
optimorum—the best of all possible worlds. The implied
belief system is to yield to the deity of the inherently vir-
tuous invisible hand.

Yet another strand of thinking questions the wis-
dom of reposing such sovereignty in the market forces—

expressing our productive potential as producing com-
modities for the market, satisfying our human needs
through buying from the market—as it bypasses direct
human interaction, thus leading to alienation from other
human beings, and creating a profound malaise of the
modern capitalist era. Does the freedom of the market
take precedence over the freedom of human beings? The
question remains.

A second defining element of capitalism has to do
with the private ownership of the means of production,
presumably to effect efficient utilization as well as effi-
cacious stewardship of resources. Those who produce
the smartest get to receive the most returns. And the ex-
pectation of future returns assures a rational interest in
the proper maintenance of productive resources—the
cliché of “nobody ever washes a rented car” is invoked
to reinforce private ownership. True enough.

However, if one examines the actual state of the re-
lationship between private (individual, corporate) and
collective (government) ownership in the advanced cap-
italist economies, it becomes obvious that the collective
control of national income (the gross national product)
varies from a third in North America to about a half in
Western Europe. This, of course, does not take account
of the collective ownership of stocks and bonds through
pension funds, etc. Also, despite repeated and frequent
spates of privatizations, the average weight of collective
ownership has been on the rise. This can be explained by
examining the role of the state in a private market econ-
omy. A market economy is premised on the notion of
private property, which in its essence requires the exclu-
sion of potential claimants. The enforcement of this ex-
clusion requires a potential, sometimes actual, use of
coercive power. Individually centered protection of pri-
vate property can be awfully expensive, hence irrational.
Therefore, we have the historically concomitant rise of

ix
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state power along with the development of capitalism,
as well as its public acceptance even when grudging, as
in the “necessary evil” conceptualization of government.

This formulation of the collective in service of, and
subservient to, the private ownership concept tends to
leave out a prior theoretical issue. How does private
ownership of the means of production come about in
the first place? The textbook economic literature essen-
tially assumes the problem away. The problematic is de-
fined to focus on efficient allocation of resources in the
market setting where the economic agents appear with
varying initial endowments. This truly is rephrasing the
myth of the proverbial stork randomly granting the
baby in the pouch with certain gifts—initial endowment.
A more sophisticated explanation would rest on the ob-
vious laws of inheritance, talent, industriousness, and a
random factor of luck—not an entirely robust explana-
tory formulation, much less a morally defensible one.

The skeptic must look for a sharper angle to dis-
cover the deeper meaning of this emphasis on the private
ownership (by some) of the means of production. By the
same token, it implies that there are others (indeed
many, the majority) who are deprived of their own inde-
pendent means of survival under capitalism. This intro-
duces the notion of social classes in the system—those
who own the means of production (the capitalists) and
those who do not (the workers) and must access them
via the courtesy of the former—a relationship of de-
pendence, inequality, and possibly exploitation.

The real significance of private property in the
means of production is that a worker can be excluded
from the use of tools necessary for productive activity
unless the worker agrees to share the produce of labor
with those who own capital, the tools of production. An
obvious corollary of this is that as in feudalism, where
the serf did the producing and the lord got most of the
share of total product, under capitalism the actual pro-
duction is undertaken by the workers, and the capitalist
is assured of a lion’s share of the produce. Not only that.
The market mechanism, through competition, allows
only a socially determined subsistence to the worker
whereas the capitalists get the residual—the social sur-
plus—as their reward. Thus, capitalists have a basis for
enhancing their property of the means of production,
and maintaining and consolidating their class privilege.

The creation of wealth. A stellar characteristic of capi-
talism is its fantastic capacity to produce goods and
services: wealth. Much as it is celebrated, it is also
mostly justifiable. By any measure, if one were to stack
the millennia of production of all previous social forma-
tions—primitive, slave, feudal—it would pale into in-
significance when compared to the production of this
relatively young, in a historical sense, social system that,
according to varying accounts, established itself during

the so-called long century, 1350-1550. The transforma-
tion of feudalism into capitalism, initially in western Eu-
rope, is accompanied with an era of enlightenment,
scientific discovery, industrialization of production, ex-
panding trade, and dissolution of many social barriers.
The transformation involves not just the application of
scientific technique to production, but also the necessity
of continuous innovation that is required by the inex-
orable forces of market competition.

It is in this context that one can appreciate the
unique category of capital as being similar to wealth in
the sense of accumulation of social objects of use, but
also quintessentially distinct in the sense of its drive to
dissolve into money capital, to buy physical commodi-
ties to produce more commodities that in turn had to be
sold for more money for their realization as capital, and
$0 on as a continuous circuit of production and circula-
tion. This ceaseless and insatiable quality of investing
for production and reinvesting for more production in
the face of competition from market adversaries lends
capitalism a special penchant for excellence in produc-
tion. Mercifully, all schools of thought are in happy uni-
son in praise of this aspect. But there is more.

Whereas the earlier social formations concentrated
the wealth objects in the exclusive possession of the rul-
ing classes, the dialectic of capitalist production re-
quires that, as part of the efficiency of production, the
commodities produced should be cheapened enough for
the working classes to partake of this abundance, and
experience a relatively higher standard of living. Money,
the common denominator of all valuations in the sys-
tem, requires that produced commodities be sold in the
market to realize their money value. That is the secret
of appropriating social surplus: the making of profits in
the system.

Thus, the expanded production leads to a commen-
surately expanded market. For all of the products to be
sold, the efficiency in production shows up as cheaper
products, which in turn enables the working classes to
participate in the market to raise their standard of living.
The historically unprecedented high standards of living
of advanced countries are a testimony to this dynamic.
The partisan champions of the system emphasize this
empirical reality as proof-positive that capitalism equals
prosperity.

In this view, capitalism’s frontiers are described by
the geographical areas of Western Europe, North Amer-
ica, and Japan. But capitalism, from its very inception, is
a global system—the long-distance trading, ocean-faring
adventures, colonial capture of far-flung areas for re-
sources and markets are essential features of its develop-
ment. The social systems of Honduras, Guatemala,
Bangladesh, Botswana (and most of the so-called Third
World countries) are shaped by and in the image of
western capitalism. A cursory look at these societies
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negates the equation of capitalism equaling prosperity.
One way to look at the system is to suggest a differential
system of distribution within countries (favoring the
governing classes), and between countries (favoring the
core countries). This hierarchy of privilege can explain,
to some degree, the existence of scarcity and deprivation
in some social classes and some geographical areas
under the sway of capitalism. While capitalism helps dis-
solve and destroy the hierarchy of pre-capitalist eras, it
establishes a new hierarchy of its own with consequent
deleterious effects.

The politics of capitalism. Another major claim often
asserted vociferously is that capitalism equals freedom
and democracy. Again, the empirical evidence of ad-
vanced capitalist countries is cited to stunning effect.
The logic of market is truly democratic: one dollar one
vote, more dollars more votes. Indeed, the market recog-
nition of any human need is in proportion to the money
endowment one commands. This leads to the hierarchy
of the elite. However, there is another side to it. If you
have money, you can overcome the barriers of caste,
creed, race, and social status—an amazingly leveling
phenomenon. In addition, anyone can strive to earn, to
accumulate money (at least in theory), thus overcoming
shortcomings of birthrights, conferred honors, etc. Since
the universe of capital runs on the measuring rod of
money, anybody with money can express freedom com-
mensurate with that valuable commodity.

As for democracy, the record is at best mixed. We
need only cite the varyingly undemocratic governments
of today’s Third World countries, but can also look to
the easy historical co-existence of capitalism with fas-
cism, militarism, and allied totalitarianisms. It is for this
reason that critics of capitalism can, with some effect,
decry the extant modes of democracy as, in reality, dic-
tatorships of the bourgeoisie. We have some ways to go
to achieve true democracy in the field of the economy as
we have done in the sphere of the polity: one person,
one vote!

The mainstream expositions assiduously avoid the
issue of fairness or equitability (perhaps exploitation) in
the market setting as a value judgment beyond the do-
main of scientific analysis. Is market price of labor
(wages) a fair compensation for work in some sense?
The question is obviated if we accept a market determi-
nation of personal or social values as not only in-
evitable, but inherently desirable. This view is buttressed
by the notion of the social contract between capital and
labor. Since, in this view, workers voluntarily agree to a
specific wage (presumably market determined, directly
or indirectly), there is no sense of unfairness or exploita-
tion in this relationship. Perhaps. But what, as some
have pointed out, if the workers have no choice but to
enter into an agreement with capital, since they do not

have their own independent means of production or sur-
vival? Could this, then, be a contract between un-equals
subject to nullification?

Generally, it is claimed that capitalists sacrifice
through saving (not consuming) and workers do not,
hence the extra share for the capitalists is justified. But, if
one examines this closely—just as a thought experi-
ment—one may arrive at a divergent conclusion. When
investment goods (machines) production increases to ex-
pand investment, the consumption goods (bread) produc-
tion declines, thus leading to relatively higher prices for
consumption goods—the marketplace expression of belt-
tightening. But who ends up consuming less bread as a re-
sult? The workers or capitalists? And when investment
does expand the overall production, who controls the ad-
ditional benefits of production? Workers or capitalists?
The best we can say is that, through a trickle down, work-
ers also gain at the end. They do, but in relation to each
one’s sacrifice? A corollary of this thought experiment is
that the slave and the serf could clearly see the obvious ex-
ploitation by the overlord as expropriation of the pro-
duced value. The expropriation of surplus under
capitalism is veiled through the mechanism of the market
that, like many things in the system, renders it invisible.

A more formal presentation equates land, labor, and
capital as factors of production—each factor in turn re-
ceiving its due desserts—the so-called theory of marginal
productivity. Since all produce is exhausted as a result of
compensating the three contributing factors, there re-
mains no social surplus to fuss over, and hence no possi-
bility of exploitation. The fact that it is the landlords
and capitalists, not the inanimate objects—land and
capital—who are receiving the share of the produce,
without contributing their labor directly to the process,
remains elusive. Here, there is no friction, conflict, or
contradiction of subordination. Therefore, there is no
reason for resistance to the system or appeal for reform.

Capitalism and buman beings. Lastly, how is the logic
of capitalism related, if at all, to the nature of social con-
struction and the essence of human beings? Here, the
mainstream view is crystal clear. Human beings are, and
have always been, essentially homo-economicus—i.e.,
they are by nature self-interested (selfish?), individualis-
tic (self-centered?), acquisitive (greedy?), and rational
(calculating?). And if you do not agree, observe them in
a market setting, we are told. Sure enough. How would
anybody, with some modicum of common sense, react
to the exacting conditions of survival in a market set-
ting? Besides, the notion of labor as a commodity, some-
thing produced for and purchased from the market, is
repeated incessantly in the same breath with land and
capital. Labor is co-equal with land and capital, to be
bought and sold and pressed into service for production
at the beck and call of capitalism.
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This, in a way, is an example of dehumanization par
excellence. There are no human beings in this model,
just commodities—commodities that acquire the social
attributes of interacting with each other in exchange
through the market. That the commodities for sale rep-
resent purposeful labor of a human being is lost in the
shuffle. People do not interact with, or depend on, or ex-
press their sociality with other people—all this is medi-
ated in the market through commodities’ purchase and
sale. There is no temporal transcendence, no reform, no
resistance—the peaceful reproduction of the capitalist
system continues. Of course, one still has to confront the
daily world of capitalism full of roiling resentments,
wars of conflicting interests, and general chaos of hu-
manity under duress. But, still capitalism continues on.

No introduction can be concluded without some fu-
ture prognosis of the system. This is the trickiest area in
social sciences, hence left untouched for better or worse.
However mystical this terrain, one can take a bit of a
risky peek. The economic side of the system is prone to
recurring ebbs and flows—expansion, contraction, re-
cession, depression, and stagnation and resurgence yet
again. Many theorists have suggested tentative remedies
of reform and control of the system. Some have argued
for a structural rearrangement. Others have argued for a
romantic return to the earlier (more pristine) formula-
tions. One thing is clear. Through the zigs and zags, trial
and error were built into the ever-changing nature of the
system, and an abiding drive of humanity has been to
raise its level of humane consciousness. The system of
capitalism, by the end of the 21st century, is likely to be
a lot more democratic, with freer access to its produc-
tions, less rapacious of environment, and more receptive
to the better instincts of human beings.

The Encyclopedia of Capitalism. Any work with preten-
sions of being encyclopedic is a daunting enterprise. To
carry out this project on the topic of capitalism—itself a
tricky subject—is doubly intimidating. Even so, the or-
ganizing principle of the work is to present topics and ar-
ticles that describe the historical evolution of capitalism as
a system of social relations in production and distribu-
tion. This evolution essentially relates to a transformation
from feudalism into the meteoric rise of industrialism. At
the same time, a system of ideas came into social accept-
ance after vigorous debate. We present this strand of ideas
as a history of economic thought—a new lexicon, a dif-
ferent perspective, the capitalist paradigm. We also pres-
ent the advance of capitalism through wars, colonization,
and imperialism to the modern day: the ultimate triumph
of unchallenged domination. This encyclopedia covers

not only the spread of the system itself but its myriad ben-
efits to humanity that make it so universally appealing:
the “Why?” of capitalism, if you will.

Here, along with commentaries, debates, and points-
of-view, we strive for objectivity and balanced perspec-
tive. Yet, we emphasize the nature of the system’s vigor
that compels and nourishes innovation of technique as
well as organization—the real secret of capitalistic suc-
cess. Lastly, we include reference to capitalism’s effect on
the overall condition of humanity both in the United
States and internationally. To accomplish this task, more
than 700 articles were prepared with the following fea-
tures in mind:

e Descriptions of major world countries and their eco-
nomic histories as they relate to capitalism.

e Biographies of winners of the Nobel Prize in Eco-
nomics and how their theories and discoveries af-
fected capitalism.

e Profiles of the top global companies and explana-
tions of how each employed the tenets of capitalism
in achieving their global status.

e Descriptions of all U.S. presidential administrations
with a focus on how their policies affected the de-
velopment of American capitalism.

e Historical biographies of American and international
capitalistic entrepreneurs and how their ideas, inven-
tions, or discoveries led to the creation of enterprise.

e More than 100 article entries on major historical
events, social movements, technological advances,
and personalities that affected the development of
capitalism.

e Definitions of economic business terms and theories
relating to capitalism.

More than 100 authors, affiliated with universities, re-
search organizations, and business activities around the
world were invited to write on the topic of their special-
ization. We hope the Encyclopedia will serve as a useful
and outstanding reference work, as well as a resource for
teaching courses in economics, political science, history, in-
ternational relations, sociology and other related fields.

SYED B. HussaIN, PH.D.

GENERAL EDITOR OF THE ENCYCLOPEDIA OF CAPITALISM
UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN, OSHKOSH

May 1, 2003
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Timeline of Capitalism

DATE

400s B.C.E.

1100s C.E.

1200s

1500s

1600s

1758

1776

1798

1803

1808

HISTORICAL EVENTS

Ancient market practices in Greece and Rome
Emergence of Arab trade

Emergence of regional trade in Europe under feudalism

Spain begins slave trade from Africa to Caribbean

Japan expands trade along Asian Pacific rim

Expansion of slave trade to the New World

Permanent settlements established as colonies
in Americas, Africa, and east Asia

Mercantilism and colonialism develop as primary economic systems

England increasingly exploits coalmining
Francois Quesnay publishes Tableau économique

Adam Smith publishes Wealth of Nations

American Declaration of Independence sets precedent
against colonial rule and taxation

Thomas Malthus publishes Essay on Population
French Revolution expands populist rule
First textile mills, cotton gins, and banks in operation in United States

Louisiana Purchase opens vast resources for United States

Great Britain outlaws slave trade

VOLUME/PAGE

1/114

1/114

1/289

3/761
2/438

2/540

2/540
1/146
3/869
3/691

3/769

3/874

2/515

1/318

3/874

3/874

3/869
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xxvi Timeline of Capitalism
1817 David Ricardo publishes Principles of Political Economy 2/715
Erie Canal construction is begun in United States 3/874
1821 U.S. cotton and textile industry expands 3/874
Mexico gains independence from Spain 2/545
1836 Nassau Senior publishes Outline of Political Economy 3/749
First steam engine built in Germany 1/341
Industrialization expands in western Europe 2/411
1838 First steam ships cross the Atlantic Ocean 2/411
1841 Depression in United States; Bank of the United States fails 3/874
1842 Opium War ends enabling trade between China and Europe 1/131
1848 John Stuart Mill publishes Principles of Political Economy 2/550
Irish famine causes mass emigrations 2/429
Mexican-American War ends 2/545
1850 California Gold Rush 3/874
Railroad expansion across the United States 2/695
1859 First oil wells drilled in Pennsylvania, United States 2/614
1861 First federal income tax introduced in United States 3/826
Emancipation of Russian serfs 2/729
1865 American Civil War ends, Reconstruction begins 1/22
1886 Sweden abolishes system of estates 3/820
1867 Karl Marx publishes Das Kapital 2/533
1869 Suez Canal opens increased trade between Asia and Europe 3/811
Transcontinental railroad completed in United States 2/695
1871 Unification of German states 1/341
Carl Menger publishes Principles of Economics 2/539
1873 Wall Street banking house fails, leading United States into
five-year depression 1/203
1874 Leon Walras publishes Elements of Pure Economics 3/911
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1875 W.S. Jevons publishes The Solar Period and the Price of Corn 2/144
1877 Rail workers stage first national strike in United States 3/805
1879 Thomas Edison develops incandescent light bulb 1/236
1881 Standard Oil Trust created in United States 2/614
1887 Interstate Commerce Commission established in United States 3/874
1889 Eugen von Bohm-Bawerk publishes Positive Theory of Capital 1/91
John A. Hobson publishes Physiology of Industry 2/381
1890 Russia’s economy moves to industrialization 2/729
Sherman Antitrust Act passes U.S. Congress 1/35
1892 Irving Fisher publishes Mathematical Investigations 1/302
Germany and France innovate automobile engine 1/59
U.S. federal income tax ruled unconstitutional 3/874
1898 Spanish-American War 2/779
1900 Boxer Uprising in China 1/131
United States adopts gold standard 1/348
Socialist Party of America founded 3/774
1901 J.P. Morgan establishes U.S. Steel Corporation 2/577
1902 Vilfredo Pareto publishes The Socialist Systems 2/635
1904 Thorstein Veblen publishes Theory of Business Enterprise 3/893
Russo-Japanese War 2/438
1905 Russian revolt by workers and peasants put down by Tsar 2/732
Industrial Workers of the World established 3/865

1906 Author Upton Sinclair depicts poor worker lives in United States
in his novel The Jungle 3/757
1908 Henry Ford rolls out the first Model T automobile 1/306
1911 Standard Oil Company dissolved in United States 2/614
Irving Fisher publishes Purchasing Power of Money 1/302

Chinese revolution topples dynasty, creates economic chaos 1/131



xxviii Timeline of Capitalism

1912

1913

1914

1917

1918

1920

1921

1922

1923

1926

1927

1929

1930

1931

1932

Joseph Schumpeter publishes
Theory of Economic Development

Federal Reserve Act passes U.S. Congress

Henry Ford introduces assembly line system
World War I breaks out in Europe

U.S. Congress passes Clayton Antitrust Act
The Panama Canal opens

Russian Revolution ends Tsarist rule

Treaty of Versailles ends World War I; imposes severe
economic restrictions on Germany

Ludwig von Mises publishes Economic Calculation

United States leads formation of League of Nations

Vladimir Lenin announces new economic policies in Russia
Benito Mussolini establishes Fascism in Italy

Irving Fisher publishes The Making of Index Numbers
United States creates high trade tariffs

German hyper-inflation destroys middle-class

Piero Sraffa publishes Laws of Returns Under
Competitive Conditions

Early econometrics introduced by E.J. Working

U.S. stock market crashes, prompting the Great Depression

Soviet Union announces first five-year plan

Gunnar Myrdal publishes Political Element in the
Development of Economic Theory

Union movement gains strength in United States

Great Depression spreads throughout Europe
Japan invades Manchuria, China

Mahatma Ghandi starts civil resistance against British rule in India
Dow Jones Industrial index hits Depression low

3/742

1/285
1/306

3/924
1/35
2/634

2/732

1/341

2/557

3/917
2/483

1/282
1/302
3/825

1/341

3/789

1/223

3/874
3/864

2/580
3/865

1/203
2/438

2/407
3/799
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1933

1934

1935

1936

1937

1939

1940

1941

1942

1944

1945

Franklin Roosevelt’s New Deal begins in United States

Joan Robinson publishes Economics of Imperfect Competition
U.S. Congress passes Emergency Banking Act

U.S. unemployment reaches 25 percent

Adolf Hitler becomes Germany’s chancellor

Securities and Exchange Commission created in United States
Ragnar Frisch publishes Confluence Analysis

Federal Communications Commission established in United States

Frederich von Hayek publishes Collectivist Economic Planning
United States creates Works Progress Administration

U.S. Congress passes Social Security and Banking Acts

John Maynard Keynes publishes The General Theory

Civil war breaks out in Spain
Japan expands invasion of China

World War II begins with Germany’s invasion of Poland
John R. Hicks publishes Value and Capital
Jan Tinbergen publishes Statistical Testing of Business Cycle Theories

Ludwig von Mises publishes Human Action

United States enters World War II
Wassily Leontif publishes Structure of the American Economy
Germany attacks the Soviet Union

Revenue Act in United States expands federal income tax

Joseph Scumpeter publishes Capitalism, Socialism,
and Democracy

Allies land in German-occupied France
First calculator is invented

Trygve Haavelmo proposes The Probability Approach
to Econometrics

Game theory gains advocates among economists

Bretton Woods conference sets dollar as currency standard

World War II ends and United Nations is formed

First computer is developed

2/591
2/719
1/203
1/203
1/341

3/745
1/321
1/149

2/369
2/591
2/591

2/456
3/778

2/438

3/927
2/379
3/842

2/557

3/927
2/485
3/864
3/826

3/742

3/927
3/829

2/363
1/330
1/97

3/851
1/159



xxx  Timeline of Capitalism

1947 Paul Samuelson publishes Foundations of Economic Analysis 3/735
Truman Doctrine spurs reconstruction in Europe 3/851
1948 Communist rule takes over Czechoslovakia 1/190
1949 First steps that eventually lead to the European Union 1271
Chinese Revolution founds second major communist state 1/132
1950 United States enters Korean War 2/463
1951 Kenneth Arrow publishes Social Choice and
Individual Values 1/46
Europe forms Coal and Steel Community, prelude to EU 1271
1952 John Kenneth Galbraith publishes American Capitalism 1/327
U.S. economy expands with post-war Baby Boom 3/874
1953 Milton Friedman publishes Essays in Positive Economics 1/320
1955 AFL and CIO unions in United States merge 3/865
Soviet Union leads formation of Warsaw Pact 3/864
Herbert Simon proposes Models of Man 3/756
1956 U.S. Congress passes Interstate Commerce Act 3/874
1957 Common Market established in western Europe 1271
Soviet Union launches Sputnik satellite 3/864
1958 Chinese Great Leap Forward to industrialization 1/132
1959 Gerard Debreu publishes Theory of Value 1/193
1960 European colonies in Africa move to independence 1/146
Ronald Coase proposes The Problem of Social Cost 1/144
Pierro Sraffa publishes Production of Commeodities 3/789
1961 Berlin Wall is built 1/341
1962 Cuban Missile Crisis 1/186
George Stigler presents Information in the
Labor Market 3/796

Milton Friedman publishes Capitalism and Freedom 1/320
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1964 Civil Rights movement gains momentum in United States 2/446
Robert W. Fogel publishes Railroads and American Economic Growth 1/303
Gary Becker publishes Human Capital 1/85
Lyndon Johnson begins War on Poverty 2/446
1968 Protests spread against U.S. Vietnam War policy 3/902
1971 Richard Nixon abandons gold standard, Bretton Woods 2/602
1973 OPEC begins oil embargo against western nations 2/621
1979 Margaret Thatcher pushes privatization in UK 3/835
1981 France experiments with nationalization 1/309
Ronald Reagan engages supply-side economics 2/702
1987 U.S. stock market crash causes deep recession 2/704
Single Market Act approved in Europe, EU groundwork 1271
1988 Japanese economic confidence peaks 2/438
1991 First introduction of the World Wide Web 3/829
Soviet Union breaks into separate states 3/864
1992 Russia launches privatization program 2/729
1993 U.S. Congress passes NAFTA 2/581
1994 United States enters economic expansion 3/874
Apartheid falls in South Africa, opens economy 3/777
1998 Asian financial crisis spreads fear of contagion 1/49
1999 Seattle WTO meeting draws strong protest 3/922
2001 Terrorist attacks in United States as nation enters recession 3/874
2002 Euro replaces currencies of 12 European nations 1/268

SOURCES. “Commanding Heights: Timemap” www.pbs.org; “Top 100 Business Events” www.thestreet.com; Harry Landreth and
David Colander, History of Economic Thought (Houghton Mifflin, 1993).
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accounting

IDENTIFYING, MEASURING, and communicating
economic information is the process of accounting that
permits informed judgments and decisions by the users of
the information. Accordingly, accounting is not an end in
itself but an information system that measures, processes,
and communicates financial information about an iden-
tifiable economic entity. An economic entity is a unit that
exists independently and includes both for-profit and
not-for-profit organizations. Examples include a busi-
ness, a hospital, a governmental body, a church, or a pro-
fessional football team.

Accounting should not be confused with bookkeep-
ing. Bookkeeping is the process of recording financial
transactions and maintaining financial records. Account-
ing, on the other hand, includes the bookkeeping func-
tion, but goes well beyond that. While bookkeeping is an
important part of accounting and is mechanical as well as
often repetitive in nature, accounting includes design of
accounting systems, interpretation and analysis of data,
and communicating this information to its intended users.

Who benefits from accounting? As the definition of
accounting indicated, after identifying the economic
events having financial consequences, the accountant
measures, records, and communicates this information.
The accounting information may be communicated to
two main groups: Insiders (people belonging to the or-
ganization) and outsiders, to help them make sound
business decisions.

Inside users include: Management, which has the re-
sponsibility for operating a business and for meeting its
profitability, liquidity, and investment goals; and other
non-management employees who may need the infor-
mation to help negotiate contracts with management,
salary increases, and other benefits.

Outside users include: Existing and prospective
owners (investors) who have the highest stake in the
company. They would like to know if they are making
enough money on their investment. If they donated
money to a charitable organization, their interest
would be to ensure the money was spent on the pur-
pose it was meant for. Potential investors judge the
prospects for a profitable investment using the infor-
mation provided by the accountants in the financial
statements.

Accounting information provides detailed pertinent
data that help creditors assess the profitability of the
debtor and hence the chances of the return of their cap-
ital together with the interest. Potential creditors are in-
terested in making the assessment of whether the
company will be able to pay back its debts when they
become due. Creditors would also be interested in as-
sessing the prospects of the continuity and the existence
of the company in future. Accounting information pro-
vided in the financial statements, when used with other
criteria, may be a very useful tool in making such deter-
minations.

Accounting information also helps customers and
clients get the answers to their concerns that may in-
clude questions such as: Will the company survive long
enough to honor its product warranties or provide after-
sales service provided in the sales agreement? Accoun-
tants have developed analytical procedures that provide
answers to such concerns.

Government, at all levels, depends on the TAX rev-
enues to finance its operations and business. Companies
and individuals pay many types of taxes. These taxes are
based on net sales (excise and sales tax), net income (in-
come tax), or on some other basis. Whatever tax amount
is computed, it is the accounting information that is used
as the basis to compute the taxes.
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Types of accounting. There are mainly two types of ac-
counting: Managerial accounting that is geared to the
needs of the internal users in the company and finan-
cial accounting, which is basically meant for the exter-
nal users.

Managerial accounting provides internal decision
makers working for the company at various levels infor-
mation that is needed for making sound business deci-
sions, relating to profitability and liquidity of the
company. The reports produced by the management ac-
countants are called management reports. The range of
these reports may include production department cost
reports, product cost reports, direct labor cost reports,
sales force traveling expenses in a particular area, ex-
pense reports of various departments, budgets, variance
analysis, and projections. These reports help manage-
ment identify areas of relative strengths and weaknesses
and focus on increasing the efficiency at various levels
and measure the effectiveness of the past decisions. In
essence, these reports relate more to the day-to-day oper-
ations of the business and do not follow the accounting
principles known as GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLES (GAAP).

Financial accounting, on the other hand is primarily
focused on the information needs of the outside users,
including creditors, investors (owners), prospective in-
vestors, governmental and regulatory agencies, and the
public in general. Accounting information is provided to
the external users through reports called FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS. These outside users make decisions pertain-
ing to the company, such as whether to extend credit to
a company or to invest in a company. Consequently, fi-
nancial accounting information relates to the company
as a whole, while managerial accounting focuses on a
part or a segment of a company. It follows, therefore,
that financial accounting is “macro” whereas manage-
rial accounting is “micro” in nature.

Because of the diverse type of businesses companies
may engage in, it is imperative to use uniform standards
to record, process, accumulate and communicate the ac-
counting information to outsiders. In the absence of
such reporting standards or principles, accountants of a
company or different companies may report their finan-
cial statements differently from year to year based on
their personal goals or preferences. This would make the
comparisons of financial statements very difficult from
year to year and, at times, would be misguiding.

At the very early stage of its development, the ac-
counting profession recognized the need to address this
issue of adopting uniform standards for the preparation
and reporting of financial statements. These standards
or guidelines developed over a period of time, collec-
tively, are called GAAP. All the external financial reports
should be prepared in accordance with the GAAP.
GAAP also requires providing adequate disclosures in

the notes to the financial statements. By doing so,
chances are that different readers or users of the finan-
cial statements will interpret the data in the same way
and the leeway for subjectivity is minimized. The five or-
ganizations most influential in the establishment of
GAAP for business and non-business organizations are
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA), the Financial Accounting Standard Board
(FASB), the Governmental Accounting Standard Board
(GASB), the SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
(SEC), and the American Accounting Association.

With the increase in cross-border financial activities,
there has been an increased focus on international ac-
counting diversity. The International Federation of Ac-
countants (IFAC) established the International Accounting
Standards Committee (ISAC) in 1973 (now replaced by
International Accounting Standards Board) in order to
address this emerging issue. The ISAC has 142 account-
ing organizations from 103 countries as its members.
More and more countries are recognizing International
Accounting Standards (IAS) as acceptable standards for
reporting their financial statements.

As a further measure to protect the interests of the
financial statement users, SEC requires all the public
companies whose stocks are listed on stock exchange to
include “audited” financial statements in their annual
reports. An audited financial statement means that a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) has to examine the fi-
nancial statements of the company to give the reader an
assurance that GAAP was followed in recording and
processing the financial transactions as well as reporting
standards required by GAAP have consistently been fol-
lowed by the company. CPAs conduct their audits in ac-
cordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
(GAAS). The essential role of CPAs is to provide attesta-
tion and assurance services.

Basic financial statements. GAAP requires businesses to
prepare and include four types of financial reports and
include them in the annual report of the business. These
reports, when used collectively, provide external users
enough information about the financial position of a
company and the results of its operations.

A balance sheet, also called the statement of finan-
cial position, shows the total economic resources at the
disposal of a company on the date of the report and the
sources of those resources. These economic resources,
used to generate revenues for the company, are also
called assets. By definition, assets are the economic re-
sources owned by a business that are expected to benefit
future operations. Examples are cash, amounts receiv-
able from customers, inventory to be sold in the future,
machinery and equipment used in production, furniture
used in the office, land and building, etc. Assets can also
be intangible (non-physical) such as patents, trademark,
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goodwill, software, etc. Assets have value to the com-
pany because it uses them to run its business.

The accounting system is based on a double entry
system. Thus, for every resource, there has to be a
source. The sources of these resources (assets) or claims
on the resources are called equities. These sources can be
either from the owners (owners’ equity) or from the
creditors (creditors’ equity) or from both the sources.
The relationship between the two may be expressed in
any of the following ways:

Resources = Sources

Assets = Equities

Assets = Creditors’ Equity + Owners’ Equity
Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity

The last equation above is called the accounting equa-
tion and a balance sheet merely further provides details
of the two sides of this equation.

Liabilities are present obligations of a business to
pay cash, transfer assets or provide services to other enti-
ties in the future. Among these obligations are the debts
of the business, amounts owed to suppliers for goods or
services bought on credit (called accounts payable), bor-
rowed money (for example money on loans payable to
banks), taxes owed to the government, and services to be
performed.

The equity of owners, shareholders, or stockhold-
ers represents the amount invested by the investors as
CAPITAL. It is the claim of the owners to the assets of the
business.

A company’s assets are financed either by creditors,
investors (owners or shareholders), or by both. Stock-
holders’ equity, thus, is the portion of the assets financed
by (owned by) the investors. Owners’ equity is therefore
also called the residual interest or the residual equity in
the assets of the company. Owners’ equity comes from
two sources: a) contributed capital, which is the cash or
other investments in the business by the owners; and b)
earned capital, which is the earnings of the business kept
in the business. It follows that owners’ equity is in-
creased by capital contributions and earnings of the
business and decreased by the dividends paid out to
shareholders and losses incurred by the business. Earned
capital is also called retained earnings. Since the amount
of the assets of a business changes continuously as a re-
sult of its operations, the balance sheet is ever-changing
and therefore, at a point in time the financial position of
a business will be different from other points in time.

In summary, by looking at the balance sheet of an
entity, and comparing it with the balance sheet of the
previous period, its user can ascertain what economic
resources are at the disposal of the company, how they
are financed, and what changes took place over a pe-
riod of time.

The income statement, also called the statement of
income, statement of earnings, or statement of opera-
tions, reports the revenues and expenses for a period.
The excess of revenues over expenses is called net in-
come. An accounting principle, called the matching con-
cept, is applied in recognizing the revenues and expenses
for the period. The term, PROFIT, is also widely used for
this measure of performance but accountants prefer to
use the technical terms net income or net earnings. If the
expenses used in generating the revenue exceed the rev-
enue, the excess is the net loss for the period.

GAAP requires that financial statements should be
prepared in accordance with the accrual basis account-
ing principles. The matching concept is the essence of
accrual basis accounting. Therefore, an understanding
of the matching concept is important to grasp the con-
cept of the accrual basis accounting. In its simplest form,
the matching concept requires that all the expenses in-
curred to generate a period’s revenue should be recorded
(matched) in the same period regardless of when paid.
Conversely, if the expenses of the next accounting pe-
riod are paid in the current period, they cannot be de-
ducted in the current year; they need to be deducted
(matched) with the revenues of the next year.

Accrual basis accounting also requires that revenues
should be recorded when earned, regardless of the tim-
ing of the cash receipts. There is another form of ac-
counting, called cash basis accounting, which is usually
used by very small businesses. It is based on the actual
cash receipt and payment system. Therefore, under this
system, revenue would not be recognized (included) in
the income statement until actually collected. Similarly,
only those expenses which have actually been paid, are
recorded as expenses. Because, by choosing the timing
of the payment of expenses or collection of revenues, in-
come of the business can be manipulated, GAAP does
not recognize the cash method of accounting as an ac-
ceptable method of reporting income.

The statement of retained earnings is also some-
times called the statement of owners’ equity. This state-
ment explains the changes in retained earnings during
the accounting period. Such changes are usually due to
the net income of the business, which increases the re-
tained earnings, and dividend payments to shareholders
which decreases the retained earnings.

While the income statement focuses on a company’s
profitability goal, the statement of cash flows is directed
toward a company’s liquidity goals. CASH FLOWS are
the inflows of cash in the business (from customers,
loans from banks and individuals, sale of assets, capi-
tal contributions, and investment income, etc.) as well
as outflows from the business (payments to suppliers,
employees, purchase of new equipment, etc.). The state-
ment of cash flows summarizes the net cash flow in each
of the three types of activities: Operating activities of



4 Adams, John

business, investing activities, and financing activities. A
user of this financial report, after carefully reading this
statement can see how much cash from different sources
was collected, and how much and in which areas it was
spent.

GAAP and organizations influencing GAAP. It is im-
portant for the user of a financial statement to under-
stand the measurement rules that were used in
developing the information provided in the financial
statements. These GAAP rules recognize the importance
of adopting uniform rules for treating financial transac-
tions and issues and presenting them in the financial
statements. In the absence of these rules, the manage-
ment of a company could record and report financial
transactions as it sees fit and comparisons among com-
panies would be difficult. GAAP takes away this liberty
from the individual entities to use their own methods of
reporting the financial information and brings unifor-
mity in the accounting practices of different companies.

Historically, it was the SEC that took the initiative
to work out detailed rules relating the recognition and
measurement of accounting transactions and reporting
them in the financial statements. However, the SEC very
soon recognized that the development of accounting
standards should be in the hands of the professional ac-
countants. Since the late 1930s, the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) gradually took
over the major work of standard development through
its sub-organizations. From 1939 through 1959, the
AICPA Committee on Accounting Procedures issued 51
Accounting Research Bulletins relating to various ac-
counting issues. In 1959, AICPA created the Accounting
Principles Board (APB), which was charged with the re-
sponsibility of guiding on matters of accounting princi-
ples. From 1959 until 1973 when it was replaced by
another body of AICPA, Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB), APB issued 31 “opinions” that ac-
countants are required to follow while preparing the
financial statements.

APB was replaced in 1973 by an independent, full-
time, seven-member Financial Accounting Standard Board
(FASB). The FASB issues Statements of Financial Account-
ing Standards and there are currently 148 such statements.
A few more statements on some new emerging issues were
in the development stage at the time of the writing of this
article in 2003.

Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB)
established in 1984 is responsible for issuing account-
ing and financial accounting standards in the govern-
ment area.

The SEC, created under the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, works very closely with the accounting
profession to influence its work. The SEC indicates to
the FASB the accounting topics it believes should be ad-

dressed. The American Accounting Association, consist-
ing largely of accounting educators, influences GAAP by
conducting research and studies.

Certified Public Accountants. Financial reports should
be prepared in accordance with GAAP. But what is the
assurance that GAAP has been followed consistently
and if a departure from GAAP was necessitated, what
was the support or justification for such a departure?
Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) are charged to an-
swer this question by providing assurance and attesta-
tion services. In their role as the auditor, CPAs are
independent of the company’s management. An audit is
an examination of the company’s financial statements as
well as an evaluation of the accounting system, account-
ing controls used by the company, and records main-
tained by the company. CPAs state their opinion of the
fairness of the financial statements and evidence gath-
ered to support them in the Independent Auditor’s Re-
port, which is included in the annual report of a public
company. The CPA, in this role as an auditor, conducts
the audit of the financial statements in accordance with
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS).

The SEC requires that all the public companies
should include their audited financial statements in their
annual reports. The accountants’ report does not pre-
clude minor or unintentional errors and omissions in the
financial statements. However, it does provide an assur-
ance to the users of the financial statements that, on the
whole, the financial statements are reliable.

BIBLIOGRAPHY. American Accounting Association, “A
Statement of Basic Accounting Theory,” (1966); Financial
Accounting Standard Board, Statement of Financial
Accounting Concept No. 1, “Objectives of Financial Report-
ing by Business Enterprises,” (1979); Debra Jeter and Paul
Chaney, Advanced Accounting (John Wiley & Sons, 2001);
International Accounting Standard Board, www.isab.org.uk;
Needles, Powers, Mills, and Anderson, Principles of Ac-
counting (Houghton Mifflin, 1999); Financial Accounting
Standard Board, www.fasb.org.
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Adams, John (1735-1826)

AMERICA’S FIRST vice president and second president
seemed a bundle of contradictions. He was a leading ad-
vocate for American independence who admired British
institutions; a fiery radical who became a pillar of order
and conservatism; a revolutionary who defended British
soldiers in court; an accomplished diplomat who was all
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but impossible to deal with; a champion of the rights of
man who squelched freedom of speech; an architect of
democracy who distrusted the people; and a politician
who hated politics. Yet with all the contradictions of his
long life and complex personality, John Adams was one
of his nation’s greatest statesmen.

Born on a small farm in Braintree (now Quincy),
Massachusetts, outside Boston, Adams proved to be a
voracious reader and an outstanding scholar. At the age
of 16 he entered Harvard University and graduated in
1755. His parents hoped he would enter the ministry but
he studied law in the evenings while teaching school in
Worcester, Massachusetts in the day. After admission to
the bar, he started a law practice in Braintree. In 1764, he
married Abigail Smith, together sharing a love of books.
They would eventually have five children. Although
Adams would be known for his honesty, courage, and
patriotism, and recognized as a legal and political thinker,
he would also be known for his stubbornness, irritabil-
ity, egotism, and suspicion of others.

The events leading to the AMERICAN REVOLUTION
gave Adam’s life new purpose and showcased his abili-
ties as a lawyer, politician, and revolutionary. Displaying
courage, in 1770, he successfully represented a British
officer and six soldiers accused of murder during the
Boston Massacre, but rejoiced when tea was dumped in
Boston Harbor during the Boston Tea Party, and wrote
masterful attacks on British tax policies in the Boston
Gagette.

After election to the First Continental Congress,
which convened in 1774, and the Second Continental
Congress, which first met in 1775, he became an early
and ardent advocate for American independence and pro-
posed the appointment of George WASHINGTON as com-
mander of the American Army assembled outside Boston.
Even though written by Thomas JEFFERSON, Adams served
on the committee assigned the task of drafting the Dec-
laration of Independence and led the effort on the floor
of Congress to secure its adoption in July, 1776. As
Chairman of the Continental Board of War and Ordi-
nance, he was in effect a single-man department of war.
In 1779, he served as the chief drafter of the Massachu-
setts Constitution.

Adams believed that all men were created equal, but
in a limited way. He argued that men are born equal in
certain natural rights and desires, but unequal in charac-
teristics like talent, wisdom, and temperament. This in-
equality of ability results in inequality of property and
thus inequality of social status. He thought those favored
by nature form an aristocracy of merit, an elite destined
to rule for the good of society. These rulers are best able
to fulfill the chief function of government: control man’s
passions. Adams also believed man had an inclination to-
ward forming governments and without a ruling aristoc-
racy of the “wise and good,” anarchy results.

Therefore, Adams opposed the concept of democ-
racy granting political equality to all. He believed in a
republican government of aristocratic representatives.
Because his ideal aristocracy was based on merit, he dis-
favored the hereditary aristocracy prevalent in Europe.
His views also led him to support independence, for al-
though he admired British institutions of governance in
the abstract, including parliament and constitutional
monarchy, he saw Britain as having slipped into corrup-
tion and ruled by a degenerate, unmeritorious aristoc-
racy. He also believed in the protections of separation of
powers within government to prevent concentration of
power, even in the hands of aristocracy, but because of
continual fear of mob rule, he found the American Con-
stitution too liberal because of the popular elections it
sanctioned.

Adams was sent to France to assist with the negoti-
ation of a treaty of alliance. By 1780, he was back in Eu-
rope on a mission to obtain trade agreements and loans
with the Netherlands and France, and, along with Ben-
jamin Franklin and John Jay, negotiated a peace treaty
known as “The Treaty of Paris,” which was signed on
September 3, 1783, formally ending the war. He was
named the United States’ first ambassador to Great
Britain in 1785.

In 1789 and 1792, Adams was elected vice president
serving under Washington, but found his eight years in
the largely ceremonial position frustrating. When op-
posing political factions began to form around Secretary
of the Treasury Alexander HAMILTON and Secretary of
State Thomas Jefferson, Adams became a principal leader
of the Hamiltonian forces that coalesced into the Feder-
alist Party. As the Federalist nominee for president in
1796, Adams defeated Jefferson, and, under the terms of
the Constitution at the time, Jefferson became vice pres-
ident. Despite the victory, Adams’ presidency soon became
one of turmoil and disappointment.

When in 1797 American diplomats were asked to
pay a bribe to three French agents (referred to by Adams
as X, Y, and Z) to obtain a treaty with France, Ameri-
cans were enraged and an undeclared war developed be-
tween the United States and France. Despite demands
that a formal declaration of war be adopted, Adams
bravely resisted the pressure feeling that the country was
unprepared for such an engagement, and he eventually
reached an understanding with France in 1800. Although
a full-scale war was prevented, Adam’s popularity was
damaged and the Federalists were split.

Believing that foreign agents and spies were foment-
ing trouble, the Federalist Congress passed, and Adams
signed, the Alien and Sedition Act in 1798. This measure
made it harder to become a citizen and empowered the
president to deport aliens deemed troublemakers. More
importantly, it sought to silence domestic opposition by
permitting the criminal prosecution of those falsely or
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maliciously criticizing the Congress or the president.
The law was then used against Jeffersonian Republican
newspapermen. Due to these unpopular policies, Jeffer-
son defeated Adams in the bitter election of 1800.

After leaving the White House, Adams returned to
Braintree and his books, and he and Jefferson rekindled
their friendship in a remarkable series of letters. Both
died on the same day, July 4, 1826, the 50th anniversary
of the Declaration of Independence.

BIBLIOGRAPHY. L. H. Butterfield, ed., Diary and Autobiog-
raphy of Jobn Adams (Holiday House, 1962); Joseph Ellis,
Passionate Sage: The Character and Legacy of John Adams
(W.W. Norton, 1993); David McCullough, John Adams
(Simon & Schuster, 2001); Peter Shaw, The Character of John
Adams (1976); Jack Shephard, The Adams Chronicles: Four
Generations of Greatness (1975).
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Adams, John Quincy (1767-1848)

THE SIXTH PRESIDENT of the UNITED STATES, John
Quincy Adams was born in Braintree, Massachusetts,
the oldest son of John ApAMS. At age 10, during the
AMERICAN REVOLUTION, he began to accompany his fa-
ther on diplomatic trips to Europe and attended schools
in Paris, FRANCE, and Leiden, the NETHERLANDS. Adams
returned to attend Harvard University and, after gradu-
ating in 1787, he studied law and began a legal practice
in 1790.

Adams’ public support for President WASHINGTON’s
neutrality policy won him an appointment as minister to
the Netherlands in 1794. After three years he was ap-
pointed minister to Berlin. In 1801, his father, President
John Adams, recalled him immediately following the
election of Thomas JEFFERSON.

After several years in private practice, Adams was
elected to the U.S. Senate. His support for President Jef-
ferson’s embargo, however, enraged his Massachusetts
constituents who forced him to resign his seat.

In 1809, Adams once again left private practice and
a professorship at Harvard to become President James
MADISON’s minister to Russia. In 1814, he served as chief
negotiator to end the WAR OF 1812, and became minister
to Great Britain the following year.

President James MONROE recalled Adams in 1817 to
appoint him secretary of state. Adams had developed
many relationships in Europe and remained on good
terms with the heads of state and the diplomatic corps.
However, he continued to believe in the U.S. policy of
neutrality towards European affairs. He also negotiated

several agreements, including getting SPAIN to give up its
claims on Florida, and with Britain over the boundaries
of the Oregon Territory and for trade with the British
West Indies. Yet his most significant contribution to for-
eign policy was drafting the Monroe Doctrine, which
proclaimed that the United States would oppose any Eu-
ropean intervention in the Americas.

Adams was one of four candidates running to suc-
ceed President Monroe in 1824. Andrew JACKSON re-
ceived the most popular and electoral votes, but failed to
carry a majority. That threw the election to the House of
Representatives for the first time in U.S. history.

Henry Clay had great influence in the House, but
had finished fourth. Only the top three candidates could
be considered. Both Adams and Clay believed that Jack-
son would be a dangerous president. After meeting with
Adams, Clay had his supporters vote for Adams, allow-
ing Adams to win the presidency. Shortly thereafter,
Adams announced that Clay would be his secretary of
state, causing Jackson supporters to declare a “corrupt
bargain” had been struck.

As president, Adams supported the Bank of the
United States, a national tariff to protect domestic in-
dustries, greater infrastructure improvements such as
canals and railroads, and government involvement in
education and the sciences. A hostile Congress, however,
kept him from enacting most of his proposals.

Congress did send him a Tariff Act in 1828 that
raised tariffs on many manufactured goods to 50 per-
cent of their value. The Act protected domestic indus-
tries in New England and the western states, but harmed
southerners who bought most of their goods abroad. It
also reduced British demand for southern cotton. Some
Jackson supporters who normally opposed such tariffs
supported the increases, with the hope such outrageous
increases would either kill the bill altogether, or would
kill Adams’ chances of re-election if passed. Adams
signed the bill, termed the “Tariff of Abominations,”
into law, virtually ending his chances for re-election.

Strong southern opposition to the bill led to a new
movement for nullification, similar to the Virginia and
Kentucky Resolutions of 1798. Southern leaders such as
Vice President John Calhoun took the view that the
states could nullify actions of the federal government.
They also began to discuss more seriously the right of
states to secede from the Union.

At the end of four years, Jackson swept Adams from
power in 1828, and Adams returned to Massachusetts,
content to finish his life in private practice.

Despite the fact that Adams did not seek office nor
campaign for it, his friends and neighbors elected him to
the House of Representatives in 1830. Adams found
himself returning to Washington.

Congressman Adams remained prominent as an anti-
slavery advocate. He spent more then a decade fighting to
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end the gag rule that prevented Congressional debate over
the slavery issue. He repeatedly submitted petitions call-
ing for the end of SLAVERY, in violation of House rules.
Eventually the House voted to overturn the gag rule. Less
successful was his attempt to amend the Constitution in
1839 to declare that no one born after 1845 could be kept
in slavery.

Adams also donated his legal services to a group of
Africans who had mutinied on the slave ship Amistad.
Adams argued that these men who had been bound for
slavery were free men, kidnapped from Africa, and
should be allowed to return. The U.S. Supreme Court
agreed and allowed the men to return to Africa.

Adams continued to be a vocal advocate for internal
improvements as well as investment in scientific re-
search. His work focused on founding the Smithsonian
Institute and a failed attempt to establish a federal as-
tronomical observatory.

Adams was also a vocal opponent of the MEXICAN-
AMERICAN WAR. For 10 years, he had thwarted attempts
to annex Texas before the annexation passed in 1845. In
1848, as he was standing on the floor of the House,
protesting a Congressional grant of honorary swords to
the men who won the war, he suffered a cerebral stroke
and collapsed. He died two days later.
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Afghanistan

A LAND-LOCKED COUNTRY bordered by IRAN,
Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, CHINA, and PAK-
ISTAN, Afghanistan has an area of 251,739 square miles
(a bit larger than France), and has a population of 27
million people. Four ethnic groups inhabit the majority
of Afghanistan, making up 88 percent of the population.
The Pashtun people comprise 38 percent, the Tajiks 25
percent, the Hazara 19 percent, the Uzbeks 6 percent,
and the remaining 12 percent are categorized as “other.”

Afghanistan has never experienced an industrial rev-
olution, mostly due to the near constant state of war in

the country and partly because of the extremely rugged
terrain. Without an industrial revolution, the major in-
dustries in Afghanistan have remained nearly unchanged
in the past 200 years since its lawful foundation in 1774.
The major industries are textiles and rugs, fruits and
nuts, wool, cotton, fertilizer, soap, fossil fuels and gem-
stones. Afghanistan’s GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) in
2000 was $21 billion and the exchange rate of an Afgha-
nis to a U.S. dollar in January, 2000, was 4,700:1.

Export commodities include opium, fruits and nuts,
hand-woven carpets, wool, cotton, hides and pelts and
precious and semi-precious gems. In 2001, exported
commodities totaled $1.2 billion. Major import com-
modities include capital goods, food and petroleum
products and most consumer goods. The import com-
modities totaled $1.3 billion in 2001. It is no surprise
then, that in 1996 Afghanistan claimed $5.5 billion in
external debt.

In January, 2002, $4.5 billion was collected at the
Tokyo Donors Conference for Afghan Reconstruction
following the United States—led removal of the Taliban
regime. The money will be distributed by the World
Bank to the Afghan Interim Authority, headed by Chair-
man Hamid Karzai, and is slated for rebuilding the
country’s infrastructure.
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Afrocentrism

AT THE SURFACE LEVEL, Afrocentrism is a variation
on ethnocentrism in general and Eurocentrism in par-
ticular, designed to circumvent the inherent flaws of
both, and yet to disclose and assert the self-reflective
African consciousness. Based on a worldview that is de-
rived from an ideologically constructed African per-
spective based on African ideals such as balance and
harmony, Afrocentrism calls for “literally, placing African
ideals at the center of any analysis that involves African
culture and behavior.” Though, simply put, it means
looking at world with African eyes whose gaze is in-
spired by African experiences, its exponents are careful
to qualify that “To be an African is not necessarily to be
Afrocentric.”

Its constitutive elements include, but are not limited
to, Egyptcentrism, Negritude, Black Nationalism, and
Pan-Africanism. Articulated by a number of competing
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schools of thought, the Afrocentric project alternately
seeks: authenticity; recognition for its uniqueness; parity
with every culture including European; and centrality as
torch bearers of the first human civilization, as well as
the progenitors of uniquely American music and other
cultural forms. Moreover, it is defined by its zeal to con-
tribute to the world civilization from a non-European vi-
sionary perspective. To that end, broadly speaking, it
seeks influence in five main areas: 1) axiology, 2) educa-
tion, 3) culture, 4) literature, and §) politics.

The pursuit of authenticity is executed in two
realms: Afrocentricity, that is, acquisition of agency and
action and Africanity, or means to broadcast identity
and being. In those realms, Afrocentric assertions can be
summarized in terms of Edward Said’s contrapuntal
method, Malcolm X’s retrieval method, and Frantz
Fanon’s critical self-evaluation method. The contrapun-
tal method is supposed to provide missing links in the
collective memory and insert a multi-perspective correc-
tive connection into historical narratives; the retrieval
method is designed to recover forcefully alienated as-
pects of the self, (name, language, culture, art, religion,
dress, cuisine, ritual, etc.) and restore them to their exis-
tential significance; and, finally, the critical method grew
out of the need to for internal reform and improvement.
Afrology, yet another related construct, denotes a par-
ticular method of knowledge production that is charac-
terized by “the Afrocentric study of African concepts,
issues and behavior.”

Rooted in the politics of recognition, Afrocentrism
seeks to rectify problems of both non-recognition and
mis-recognition of the African identity. Typified by
Ralph Ellison’s novel, Invisible Man, it is based on the
underlying conception that, to a large extent, our iden-
tity is shaped by recognition or mis-recognition of oth-
ers, and to use Taylor’s words, “a person or group of
people can suffer real damage, real distortion, if the
people or society around them mirror back to them a
confining or demeaning or contemptible picture of
themselves.” The exponents of Afrocentrism seek recog-
nition on their own terms by way of substantive affir-
mation of African ideals, values, symbols, heroes, and
visions.

Its visionary goals, and here one could refer to
Frantz Fanon for a clear example, are to not to create a
third Europe but to “try to create the whole man,
whom Europe has been incapable of bringing to tri-
umphant birth.”

Concerning axiology, or conceptualization of val-
ues, Afrocentrism at its philosophical center involves a
revaluation of values in matters pertaining to morality,
the arts, science, religion, economics, politics, laws, and
customs, etc., and it seeks to disentangle them from
hegemonic and self-perpetuating cultural claims of the
West. Its approach to education involves a critique of

Eurocentric claims of universalism and permanence. It is
in the writing and teaching of history, and history of civ-
ilizations above all, that (the non-essentialist and non-
Manichean) Afrocentrism calls for a multicultural and
multi-perspective approach.

If art “expresses the transformation of the spirit in
the pursuit of value,” and if culture can be seen, as
Mathew Arnold has put it, as the pursuit of perfection,
then Afrocentrism offers a definition of perfection sig-
nificantly different than that of the West. But invested
in the concrete historical context of the UNITED STATES,
this definition gains added significance as a liberation
aesthetic: “It has long been a commonplace that the
achievements of the black music have far outstripped
those of black literature,” observes Henry Louis Gates,
Jr., and, therefore, black intellectuals such as Albert
Murray have “sought to process the blues into a self-
conscious aesthetic, to translate the deep structure of
the black vernacular into prose.” This literature is to be
a “statement about perseverance and about resilience
and thus also about the maintenance of equilibrium de-
spite precarious circumstances and about achieving ele-
gance in the very process of coping with the rudiments
of subsistence.”

Derived from its institutional memory of slavery
and colonialism, its politics is crystallized through vari-
ous readings of the civil rights and human rights move-
ments and, centrally focused on human liberation.

What underlies all five areas—at least from the per-
spective of non-Manichean and non-universalist Afro-
centrism—is a conception of history, culture, and society
that is open to and characterized by numerous perspec-
tives, voices, and methodologies. It seeks, to use Mikhail
Baktin’s terms, a public space capable of inspiring and
accommodating polyphony—an orchestra-like social in-
teraction with each voice having its place and signifi-
cance—and heteroglossia, that is to say, a wide variety
of speaking consciousnesses, each with its own agency
and autonomy.

Like many other ideological formulations, Afro-
centrism, too, has its moderate and radical as well as
essentialist and non-essentialist versions. The non-es-
sentialist formulation invokes a common historico-cul-
tural experience of subjugation, and bases itself, to use
Aimé Césaire’s words, not on “a cephalic index, or a
plasma, or a soma, but . . . the compass of suffering.”
This school limits the claims of its applicability only to
Africans or even more narrowly, as W.E.B. Du Bois
postulates it, to soul-searching and self-reconciliation
by African-Americans.

The non-essentialists exhort that Afrocentricity is
not ethnocentric in two senses: “It does not valorize the
African view while downgrading others,” and, “It is a
systematic approach to presenting the African as a sub-
ject rather than object.”
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The essentialist school, however, sees much broader
application based on the achievements and contribu-
tions of the Egyptian civilization, on the one hand, and
by the universal significance of black music, art and pol-
itics—civil rights movement, in particular—on the other.
The essentialist and non-essentialist schools also,
roughly, overlap with Manichean, a point of view that
divides the world into two morally irreconcilable oppo-
sites, and non-Manichean tendencies within the Afro-
centric project.

Third, apparently antithetical, school symbolized
by Albert Murrary and seen as integrationist is also,
paradoxically, Afrocentric at its core: “In its bluntest
form, their assertion was that the truest Americans
were the black Americans.” . . . [In their] discourse,
American, roughly speaking, means black.” This
school, however, does not anchor its claims in African
culture and history but in the black experience in the
United States.

The Afrocentrism debate. The idea and theory of Afro-
centrism has had its share of criticism and controversy.
Some critics have accused Afrocentrists of promoting
“bad” history in order to invent a glorious past and to
“provide themselves with an ancient history with links
to that of the high civilization of ancient Egypt.” This,
the critics claim, is a “myth based on the flimsiest kind
of evidence. The Egyptians were a mixed people, as all
Mediterranean people are mixed.” The charges leveled
against Afrocentrists include: poor scholarship, reverse
racism, sectarianism, and pursuit of therapeutic educa-
tion which amounts to projecting ideological self-glori-
fication into the academy, through the trap door of
agitation and militancy.

Critics of Afrocentrism raise many of the same ob-
jections that others have raised against Eurocentrism.
The debate, both sides agree is, in part, a debate about
the future of the United States and how this future will
be impacted by the emergent forms, types and hierar-
chies of knowledge.

Most of the critics, writing from a mainstream U.S.
perspective, allege that Afrocentrism will lead to multi-
centrism that will weaken the United States by promot-
ing “fragmentation and ethnocentrism,” in effect
resulting in rejection of multiculturalism. The critics fear
the Afrocentric project is propelling the United States to-
wards E Pluribus Pluribus instead of E Pluribus Unum.
It is also perceived as implicitly anti-capitalistic as it
seeks to overthrow Eurocentrism, capitalism’s overarch-
ing and unifying ideology.

A sublime Afrocentric response in the American
context, however, was given by Du Bois, even before
the current debate had formally started: “The history of
the American Negro is the history of this strife, this
longing to attain self-conscious manhood, to merge his

double self into a better and truer self. In this merging
he wished neither of the older selves to be lost. He
would not Africanize America, for America has too
much to teach the world and Africa. He would not bleach
his Negro soul in a flood of white Americanism, for he
knows that the Negro blood has a message for the
world.”

Afrocentrism as a method of critiquing Eurocentrism.
The exponents of Afrocentrism argue that a colonizing
system is premised on the demand that the history of a
state should also become the history of its varied peo-
ples. One task of Afrocentrism, they contend, is to fur-
nish a diversity-enhancing critique of all-homogenizing
Eurocentrism that aims at inculcating the same values
and aspirations in all peoples. Unless they are sub-
jected to severe criticism, the preponderant Eurocentric
myth of universalism, objectivity, and classical tradi-
tions retain a provincial European cast. And therefore
Afrocentrism challenges European hegemony in the
realms of:

1. production and dissemination of information
2. naming of things
3. propagation of concepts

4. dissemination of interpretations.

The final aim is abolishing the dominance and hege-
mony of the Eurocentric view of reality on a multicul-
tural society.

The future significance of Afrocentrism can be con-
templated in the dual cultural context characterized by
Americanization of globalization and ethno-diversification
of America. African-American intelligentsia has played a
pivotal role in the cultural life of the United States with
the aim of diversifying it from within. Afrocentrism can,
among other things, serve as a convenient short hand for
comprehending and discussing the role of black intellec-
tuals and artists in the ethno-diversification of the glob-
alization process.
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agriculture

SIMPLY DEFINED, agriculture is the production of
crops, but there is nothing simple about the importance
of agriculture to human evolution. Agriculture has been
and continues to be the foundation of the economies of
many societies. Agriculture is not an unchanging system
of production, but has been in a continual state of trans-
formation throughout human history, interacting with
and often acting as the catalyst for changing technolog-
ical, social, and environmental conditions.

Early agriculture. Agriculture first developed within set-
tled human communities in Africa. Specifically, there is
the region of the Sahara that, at one time, was wetter
than it is now. Little is known about the early farming
communities of the Sahara, except that they did not rely
on farming alone, but engaged in fishing and hunting
and gathering activities as well. These communities seem
to have cultivated grain crops. Due to environmental
and climatic change they were pushed out of the steadily
growing arid desert region of the Sahara to the Nile Val-
ley and surrounding areas.

The Nile River Valley experienced seasonal flooding
that produced rich silt deposits of minerals and highly
fertile soil. The early settlers to this region lived commu-
nally in small kinship units. Inhabitants engaged in the
cultivation and harvest of a wide range of seeds, fruits,
tubers, and the wild nut-grass that is still grown today.
In the beginning, subsistence farming was practiced, but
as cultivation practices improved with invention and in-
novation of new farming practices and materials, in-
cluding pottery, storage facilities, grindstones, sickles,
wheels, ploughs, hoes, mattocks, ox-driven water-
wheels, and cantilevered water-buckets to irrigate fields,
SURPLUS production became possible and with it trade
between kinship groups and eventually between commu-
nities throughout the region. The extension of land under
cultivation and the increasing surplus made it possible
for greater specialization in labor. Artisans, merchants,
and administrators became possible occupations with the
advance of surplus production within agriculture.

Surplus production in agriculture also made it
possible and necessary to have more advanced means
for organizing production. A system of crop manage-
ment was developed. In addition, a system for meeting

spiritual needs was also developed. Over time, the
changes in agricultural techniques helped to create the
basis for a highly centralized, theocratic society in the
Nile River Valley that would eventually evolve into a
monarchical society grounded in feudal, rather than
communal, labor.

Another side effect of the successes in expanding
agricultural output and generating a surplus was that it
made possible what Thorstein VEBLEN called “conspicu-
ous consumption” of the ruling elite. Farmers not only
had to give up their surplus in kind to the elite but were
also forced to perform surplus labor on public works
projects. These projects were sometimes beneficial to the
larger public, such as the production of irrigation net-
works. However, this surplus labor was often expended
in the creation of monuments to the ruling elite, includ-
ing the construction of the Pyramids, tombs to house the
mummified corpses and some of the precious posses-
sions of the elite (conspicuous consumption in death).

On the east coast of Africa, in what is now called
Ethiopia, the Aksum Kingdom rose to prominence
based on its agricultural prowess. Aksum was situated
in the highlands that receive an ample amount of rainfall
and has a relatively temperate climate. These conditions
made it possible for the Aksum farmers to produce and
harvest a diversity of plant life. A number of the world’s
major food crops originated from this one area in
Africa, including coffee. This area was so rich in genetic
plant material that, in the 1920s, Russian plant geneti-
cist Nikolai Vavilov claimed that Ethiopia was one of
just eight centers in which the entire world’s stock of cul-
tivated plants originated. Although this claim was later
refuted, Ethiopia is, nevertheless, the origin of a number
of species of wheat, barley, sorghum, millet, lentils,
legumes, and other staple crops. The ancient kingdom of
Aksum took advantage of its geographical and climatic
advantages and a flourishing agricultural society was es-
tablished. Being on the coast also gave it trading advan-
tages. Trade with Mesopotamia and the Mediterranean
states introduced terracing in the area, helping to in-
crease land cultivation.

About the time of Christ, climatic change increased
rainfall in Aksum so that crops could be increased to two
harvests a year, even on poor soil. This allowed for the
production of an agricultural surplus and led to special-
ization in trades, the rise of merchants, and the gradual
formation of a ruling elite of Aksum kings. Aksum was
so prosperous that it became a metropolis with satellite
urban centers sprawling across the northern plateau of
Ethiopia. Aksum became a trading center, controlling
most of the trade on the east coast of Africa and the hin-
terland. It established long-distance trading relationships
with INDIA, CHINA, the Black Sea area, and SPAIN.

The widening market for Aksum’s agricultural
goods resulted in continued expansion in production
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and more intensive use of existing farm areas. The result
was environmental degradation. The rapid growth of
Aksum generated not only an increased need for agri-
cultural lands but also increased demand for fuels and
construction materials. These factors combined to result
in deforestation, as trees were felled to supply fuel, used
in metallurgy, and for construction. Overuse of the soil
and deforestation led to soil erosion. Aksum suffered a
sharp drop in agricultural output that triggered a com-
mercial and political crisis. These problems were exacer-
bated by another change in climate. This time average
rainfall went down just as dramatically as it had earlier
risen. The crisis in Aksum led to the collapse in the cen-
tralized power of the monarchy. Around 800 C.E. what
was left of the royal elite moved, along with their re-
tainers, to settle in current-day central Ethiopia.

But while Africa may represent the earliest agri-
cultural communities, it had no monopoly on this de-
velopment. Other agricultural communities formed
independently in other parts of the world, mostly no-
tably in CHINA in the Hwang Ho Valley, in Mesopotamia
or the Fertile Crescent, the Indus River Valley in present-
day Pakistan, and in MEXICO in Central America.

Colonialism and the beginning of an international food
system. Settlements in western Europe are relatively re-
cent, particularly in comparison to Africa, Asia, and
Mesoamerica. From 500 to 1150 C.E., agriculture was
largely based on a feudal system for organizing the pro-
duction and distribution of agricultural goods. During
this period there was a rise in a merchant class that
traded agricultural goods produced on the feudal
manors to the growing towns, which were dominated by
self-employed artisans. The lords found that they could
gain significant additional wealth by selling agricultural
goods to these merchants. From 1200 to 1400 there
were numerous revolts of the feudal direct-producers
(peasants) in response to increased demands from lay
and ecclesiastical feudal lords. However, most feudal di-
rect-producers could not increase production sufficiently
to meet these new demands on their output, forcing
them to give up part of their family’s subsistence, caus-
ing an increase in malnutrition and, in extreme cases,
famines. The weakened state of the peasantry con-
tributed to an increase in disease, including epidemics.
The ensuing wars of resistance, famines, and epidemics
led to many feudal serfs running away from the areas
where the lords had authority, even if this meant aban-
doning relatively fertile for less fertile soil. Whole vil-
lages disappeared. The lords responded, eventually, by
reducing their demands on the peasantry. In many cases,
the crisis led to a complete abandonment of feudal rela-
tions in agriculture as lords sold or rented the land to
farmers, who became self-employed like the artisans in
the relatively prosperous towns.

In the 14th and 15th centuries western Europeans
colonized Mediterranean and Atlantic islands, then
north and west Africa and the Americas. Trade relations
were expanded with eastern Europe, the Russian
Steppes, and eventually central Asia in the search for
food and fuel. Wheat was a central focus of new pro-
duction and commerce. Exploration, colonization, and
trade not only provided new sources of existing foods,
but also introduced new foodstuffs into the European
diet. Sugar cane, introduced from Asia, became one of
the most important additions to the European diet, a
major impetus for island expansion and colonization.
The introduction of slave labor to sugar cultivation
began in the eastern Mediterranean in the 12th century
and then moved westward. Sugar was lucrative and de-
manding. Its production surpassed that of wheat. How-
ever, sugar production exhausted the soil requiring ever
new lands and people to harvest it. Other crops that
were, like sugar, not indigenous to Europe rose to
prominence during this period, such as bananas, tea,
coffee, and indigo. This was a period of sustained and
widespread diffusion of plant genetic material around
the world.

European agriculture benefited considerably from
the transfer of such plant genetic material from the so-
called New World. Two crops from the New World
that became a staple for factory workers during the in-
dustrialization of Europe were corn and potatoes.
These two crops offered lots of calories and made it
possible to cheaply feed the worker population of Eu-
rope. European countries organized botanic gardens in
the 10th century to collect plant specimens from
around the world. Botanists would sometimes illegally
remove plants from other countries in order to secure
specimens for their research. Intellectual property
rights were largely nonexistent, particularly in an in-
ternational context, and the source countries would
sometimes suffer serious economic harm as a result of

S

The spread of once-indigenous plants fueled the growth of
population and trade in the 14th and 15th centuries.
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losing control of plants that were the basis of lucrative
foreign trade. Many of these plants would eventually
become important commercial crops in the colonies
and hybrids developed from such plants would im-
prove yields on the slave plantations of the New World.
Fortunes were made on these plants for British, main-
land European and American companies. By the late
1800s, British and mainland European food supplies
were coming from all over the world. The food and
other agricultural resources flooding in from colonial
possessions helped to fuel, sustain, and expand the Eu-
ropean INDUSTRIAL REVOLUTIONS.

The agricultural basis of American hegemony. Origi-
nally, the European settlers to the American colonies
brought European seed crops to establish a subsistence
food supply. Many of these crops were unsuited to the
environmental conditions in the Americas, and the set-
tlers were forced to rely on indigenous crops, such as
maize, squash, and beans. Many expeditions to America
carried seeds to the new settlers for experimentation,
and eventually many new plant species were added to
the food supply and to plant species used for non-food
purposes. Following the tradition of the botanical gar-
dens of Europe, elites in the colonies had experimental
stations built that would focus on the growing of cash
crops in the New World. After American independence,
this practice continued and plant experimentation took
place on many plantations, including those of George
WASHINGTON and Thomas JEFFERSON. Imported crop va-
rieties would provide the basis for new hybrids, some of
which proved useful, and the variety of subsistence and
cash crops continued to grow.

The U.S. government played an important role in in-
creasing American seed and plant diversity. The U.S.
Naval fleets and U.S. embassies would often collect
plant material from around the world and ship it back
to the United States. But this approach was disorganized
and in 1862 the United States Department of Agricul-
ture (USDA) was formed and given powers to oversee
plant collection and selective breeding. The USDA was
able to speed up the development of new crop species by
using extension agents and government-funded research
sites for agricultural experimentation. The primary ob-
jective of the USDA was to significantly increase crop
yields and, by any estimate, this new government insti-
tution was a success.

In 1926, Henry A. Wallace, who would later become
first secretary of agriculture and then vice president of
the United States, founded the first company devoted
specifically to the commercialization of hybrid corn. This
initiated patents for plant seed varieties. Before this inno-
vation, seed was open-pollinated and farmers were able
to reproduce seed needed for next year’s crop. Under the
new system of patented seed, farmers were forced to buy

seed from capitalist firms specializing in the production
of patented hybrid seeds before they could plant the next
year’s crop. This spurred private investment in plant re-
search. Because hybrid corn increased yields and lowered
the cost to farmers, it was widely adopted and by 1965
over 95 percent of U.S. corn acreage was planted with
this variety. Because hybrid corn yields were so much
greater than the original yields, the use of mechanization
and hired labor increased.

At the end of WORLD WAR 11, the military had accu-
mulated a large store of nitrogen. The USDA, working
with the military, created a special program to sell, at
very low prices, this nitrogen to farmers as a substitute
for organic fertilizers. Unfortunately, the highly concen-
trated form of nitrogen sold by the USDA damaged
some plants. So, in the 1950s and 1960s breeders came
out with new plant varieties that were bred to grow in
nitrogen-rich soil. The richer soil made it possible to
grow more plants in the same space, but the richer soil
also allowed for the proliferation of weeds. The concen-
tration of plants, and monoculture, also attracted more
insects and plant disease. USDA provided a solution to
the problem it had, in fact, helped to create by encour-
aging farmers to use insecticides, fungicides, and herbi-
cides. This led to the growth of the agrichemical
industry in the United States.

Green revolution. American hybrid corn breeding pro-
grams extended to the rest of the world through govern-
mental and nongovernmental organizations. Primarily,
this began in Mexico and extended out to other Latin
American countries. It was the design of the U.S. gov-
ernment to create stronger economic ties between U.S.
agribusiness firms and growers in these other nations.
U.S. agrichemical companies, seed companies, and other
agribusinesses set up divisions in Latin America for the
sale of seeds, fertilizers, and other inputs to the Latin
American market. As hybrid seeds were adopted, agri-
culture in Mexico and many other Latin American
countries shifted from smaller scale farms to large mech-
anized farms using imported equipment, seeds, fertiliz-
ers, and other inputs. Since these inputs had to be paid
for in U.S. dollars, the most successful farmers were
those who could generate U.S. dollars to pay for these
inputs. In other words, agriculture became more export-
oriented (to the United States) than before the green rev-
olution. Self-employed farmers were replaced by
capitalist farms employing wage laborers. The total
number of people who could make a living from agri-
culture declined, forcing many who had been farmers to
migrate to the cities seeking wage employment. On the
other hand, U.S. companies gained a lucrative new mar-
ket for their goods and services.

Since the 1960s, there has been a growing recogni-
tion of the loss of plant species because of the smaller
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number of open-pollinated varieties in cultivation, and
the patenting of some of these varieties so that it is ille-
gal to grow them without permission from and royalties
paid to the patent-holding corporations. The growth in
capitalist agriculture, displacing self-employment in
many places, has raised awareness of unfair labor prac-
tices in agriculture and the unsafe working conditions
that many farm workers endure.

And, finally, there has been greater concern for the
impact of agriculture on the environment. In particular,
concern has been expressed about the poisons contained
in herbicides and pesticides used in crop production.
And there is a strong movement in opposition to geneti-
cally modified crops. One result of these concerns has
been an increase in sales of organically grown foods and
many states have passed organic-food laws that regulate
the organic food industry.
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airlines

WHEN THOMAS BENOIST introduced air service be-
tween Tampa and St. Petersburg, Florida, on January 1,
1914, his airline lasted through the tourist season but
shut down in the spring. For several years thereafter,
there was no American passenger service. The UNITED
STATES had a quarter of a million miles of railroad track
and railroad service from convenient downtown loca-
tions. Airplanes could not compete. Woodrow WILSON’s
government allowed airline pioneers to carry the U.S.
mail for a living.

Between WORLD WAR I and WORLD WAR II, trans-
portation technology improved markedly, not just in air-
craft but also in trains, ships, and automobiles. Still,
flying was dangerous, uncomfortable, and potentially
fatal in the primitive aircraft of the early postwar years.
Noise, vibration, cold at higher altitudes, airsickness,
claustrophobia—air travel was definitely uncomfort-
able. With government assistance, commercial aviation
began in the 1920s and slowly blossomed in the 1930s
once the competition from airships ended with the Hin-
denburg disaster of 1937. The flying boats peaked in the

late 1930s, fading when runway technology evolved from
grass or dirt to paved and grooved surfaces. Modern air-
ports such as in New York City and Los Angeles, initially
close to water for the convenience of flying boats, adapted
to faster and larger commercial land planes, including
jets. Airlines and airports alike developed aircraft service
capabilities and passenger amenities. But late in the 20th
century, airlines, especially American carriers, struggled
to survive.

Early technology. With the onset of World War 1, in
1915 the United States instituted the National Advisory
Committee for Aircraft (NACA), that established a re-
search facility at Langley Field, Virginia, to compete
with the English Royal Aircraft Factory, Farnborough.
By the 1930s Langley was home to the largest aircraft
research facility in the world. Scientists used wind tun-
nels and advanced photography to study potential prob-
lems of high performance aircraft, commonly years
before the manufacturers had the capability to apply the
research.

Langley research explored airflows and allowed
rapid development of aircraft with such innovations as
wing flaps and slats, cowling that streamlined the area
around the engine, and engines incorporated into the
wing structure. These innovations reduced drag, al-
lowed for better control on landing and takeoff. The
Lockheed Vega was first to use the cowl. Engines on the
wings were standard on the Douglas DC-3 and Boeing
247 and eventually all commercial aircraft. Between
1917 and its conversion to NASA in 1958, NACA made
American aircraft science the leader in the world. By
1935, the United States had technology that far sur-
passed the Europeans who had started earlier.

The first modern commercial airplane was the Boe-
ing 247-B, introduced in 1933 as an all-metal, low wing,
twin-engine aircraft with retractable landing gear. With
autopilot, de-icing equipment, and cabin air condition-
ing, it served as the standard configuration as well as the
standard for crew and service for two decades. It was
larger than earlier commercial aircraft. The 247 re-
quired 20 hours for the trip between New York to Los
Angeles, with seven refueling stops and an air speed of
189 miles per hour. Carriers that used it included Boeing
Air Transport, United Aircraft Corporation (United Air-
lines), Deutsche Lufthansa and a private owner in
China. After World War II, some 247s were converted to
C-73 transports and trainers, with some still flying into
the late 1960s.

But air travel was still not the norm. Although
world passenger miles nearly reached 1.9 billion in
1934, a marked increase over the 66 million passenger
miles of 1929, this was less than 2 percent of all inter-
city travel. In 1934, the novelty was gone; those who
would willingly fly had already done so, and the rest of
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From bumble beginnings in the early 20th century, airlines
carried millions of passengers by 2000.

the traveling public required enticement. The industry
recognized the need for a safer and more comfortable
airplane that could fly above turbulence, that had a
sealed and air-conditioned passenger compartment that
could take off and land safely. They needed government
assistance.

Government aid. The barnstormers of the postwar era
went the way of the innovative risk-takers of the prewar
era. The age of commercial aviation would be a time for
cautious capitalists and sympathetic governments. Leg-
islation, which had favored the RAILROADS in the 19th
century, and the AUTOMOBILE industry early in the cen-
tury, shifted to airlines in the 1930s. Clearly it would
take time for the airlines to become profitable, so gov-
ernments began providing contracts for army transport
or mail delivery. Outright purchase of aircraft was an-
other form of subsidy to the industry. Government re-
search at the NACA or the Institute Aerotechnique,
justified for military or pure scientific reasons, moved
quickly to Lockheed or Breguet as governments thought
open publication would deter military competition.

Interwar Germany, denied secret research of its
own, quickly managed to develop civilian aircraft con-
vertible to military use. And Japan also used NACA and
other government research information to develop its
military aircraft.

Initially, the mail service contracts were limited.
Trains competed for local routes, so the airlines bid for
transcontinental routes in 1921, routes finally marked
with beacon lights in 1924. Scheduled service began in
1924, leading the railroads to protest. Congress cooper-
ated by passing the Kelly Act of 1925, privatizing the
airlines. The government became responsible for aircraft
safety in 1926. When it was all done, the United States
had commercial air transport regulated and subsidized

by the government. When Charles Lindbergh flew non-
stop from New York to Paris in 1927, interest in avia-
tion soared. Passengers for all of 1926 totaled only
5,800; four years later the total was 417,000.

The Postmaster General of the United States pro-
vided a final ingredient. Walter Folger Brown, in the
Herbert HOOVER administration, pressed Congress to
enact the McNary Waters Act of 1930, which gave
Brown almost total control of awarding postal con-
tracts. By paying for carrying capacity instead of vol-
ume of mail, Brown encouraged the use of larger
aircraft. This harmed the small companies with small
aircraft, forcing them to merge with the larger compa-
nies that had the mail routes. By the time Brown was
through, 24 of the 27 contracts belonged to four carri-
ers. The Big Four were United, American Airways,
Transcontinental and Western air, and Eastern Air
Transport. Gone into the merger were Boeing Air
Transport, Varney, National, Stout, Pacific, Robertson,
Embry-Riddle, Colonial, Thompson, Texas Air, West-
ern air Express, and others.

When the Democrats came to power in 1933, they
investigated Brown’s dealings with the airlines. After a
Congressional investigation, in 1934 the Big Four lost
their mail contracts. The army would carry the mail. Tt
was a disaster. The army was unprepared. In six months,
11 people died in 16 crashes. Nearly half of the 26 mail
routes, 12, were not flown regularly.

Postmaster General James Farley returned the con-
tracts to the commercial lines at much reduced rates. To
avoid Farley’s prohibition of awards to the Big Four be-
cause of their participation in Brown’s division of the
routes, three of the airlines altered their names. Transcon-
tinental and Western air became Trans-World Airlines
(TWA), and American Airways became American Air-
lines. United Airlines retained its name. Bill Boeing of
United had other problems.

Boeing had developed a vertically integrated corpo-
ration. His company built the engines, built the planes
that used the engines, built the airline that used the
planes that used the engines. New Deal ANTITRUST legis-
lation outlawed this configuration, and Boeing had to
split his manufacturing companies from his airline. Boe-
ing retired as his company dissolved.

European governments also involved themselves
with private operators. France split Aeropostale from a
manufacturing company in 1927, forced its sale to an-
other owner, who managed to run a deficit for four
years before the airline dissolved in1931. France nation-
alized Aeropostale and four smaller airlines in 1933,
naming the new carrier Air France.

Germany established a state airline in 1926, Deutsche
LuftHansa, renamed Lufthansa in 1934. LuftHansa flew
Junkers aircraft and took passenger service seriously, so it
competed strongly throughout Europe. Its South Ameri-
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can subsidiary, VARIG, replaced Aeropostale as the major
provider between Europe and South America. By encour-
aging local management, contrasted to Aeropostale’s cen-
tral control, LuftHansa gave Germany a diplomatic edge
in South America.

Commerce and diplomacy: Pan Am. Competing with
the Germans in South America was Juan Trippe. Using
Charles Lindbergh as technical advisor and his connec-
tions to the Washington, D.C., elites, Trippe made his
airline, Pan Am, into the largest and best run long-dis-
tance airline in the world. He lasted four decades, too.
Trippe began with a small line that used navy war sur-
plus planes to ferry passengers from Long Island, New
York, to resorts. In 1922, his Colonial Air Transport
won the mail contract for the New York-Boston route.
In 1927, he won the contract for a route from Florida to
Havana, Cuba. Competing with the likes of Henry
“Hap” Arnold and Eddie Rickenbacker, Trippe con-
vinced the Cuban dictator, Garado Machad, to give his
airline monopoly landing rights in Havana. He forced
Arnold’s company out of business, adding insult to in-
jury by taking over the name Pan American. In 1930,
Pan Am had 20,308 miles of airway in 20 Latin Ameri-
can countries. Through the 1930s, Pan Am expanded
into the Pacific and more deeply into Latin America.
Trippe was a large purchaser of aircraft, and he favored
no manufacturer, keeping all suppliers competitive. He
also used Pan Am as a surrogate of the U.S. State De-
partment against LuftHansa and Germany in Latin
America. Trippe’s Pan Am also had the advantage that
its chief pilot, Eddie Musick, built the best training,
weather-forecasting, and communications systems in the
industry, holding the edge for decades.

Trippe also worked with others to create the S-40
“Clipper” flying boat, first introduced to service in
1931. Slow and luxurious, as was the S-42 of 1934, the
Clippers were also safe. Trippe and W.R. Grace Com-
pany joined to form Panagra, the subsidiary that serv-
iced the west coasts of North and South America. In
1935, Pan Am entered the Pacific as Trippe worried
about Japanese expansion. His new Clipper for this
route was built by Glenn Martin, and had a range of
3,000 miles. The ultimate Clipper, 1939’ Boeing B-3
14, had room for 70 passengers, a crew of 16, sleeping
quarters, dining rooms, bars, and powder rooms and
deluxe suites.

Europe could not compete with the Clippers. The
Short Company of England built the Empire flying boat
to carry mail and passengers across the Atlantic. When
Pan Am decided to compete in Europe and the Atlantic in
the late 1930s, the Empire was no match for the Clipper.

The German flying boat effort culminated in the
Dornier Do X, a plane with twelve engines and capacity
for 169 passengers. Its maiden voyage in 1931 was un-

successful, and the plane became a museum piece. The
Russians built the largest plane of the era, the Maxim
Gorky with eight engines and a 210-foot wingspan,
which crashed in 19335, killing all forty aboard and rais-
ing the question of the value of such large aircraft.

In the late 1930s Donald Douglas’ DC-3 was the
dominant aircraft. But the airlines on the eve of the war
wanted larger planes that could carry more passengers
faster and over longer distances. Douglas and Howard
Hughes competed to build the new plane. Hughes con-
trolled TWA, and he worked with Lockheed to create
the Constellation, with range to fly across the United
States nonstop. Douglas responded with the DC-6 and
DC- 7. This technology served until the jet age.

War and its legacies. While Douglas and Hughes com-
peted, the world went to war. WORLD WAR Il was pivotal
for the development of aviation because it compressed
decades of technological improvement into a matter of
years. When it was done, the flying boat was obsolete,
even though the British built the Saunders-Roe “Saro”
Princess as late as 1952. And cities began recognizing
the status and economic benefits of attractive and con-
venient international airports.

After the war, many airlines used converted war-
planes such as the Douglas DC-3 and DC-4 or the
Lockheed Constellation. And with the rise of the mili-
tary-industrial complex during the Cold War, military
technology translated to commercial planes. When Boe-
ing built the Stratocruiser from its B-29, Lockheed up-
graded to a Super Constellation in 1950. Douglas,
Lockheed, and Boeing made the United States the pre-
dominant builder of civilian aircraft. With three large
and comfortable passenger aircraft, the United States
was ready to dominate the market for long-distance
travel.

The British wartime Brabazon Committee planned
the postwar future, determining that jet power was the
future of commercial aviation. First into the fray was the
Vickers Viscount, a turboprop good for short distance
flights. The Saro Princess was also a product of this
plan, as was the oversized Bristol Brabazon turbojet that
died after eight empty years of development.

The British were planners, trying to anticipate the
market of a decade out. The Americans responded more
quickly to the market. While the Americans were flour-
ishing, filling seats, the British were building planes they
couldn’t sell. But the British did create the de Havilland
Comet, a four-engine jet that went through four models
from 1949. When two planes crashed in 1954, even
though the cause was quickly identified and corrected,
confidence in the plane was destroyed. Eighty percent
of the commercial market belonged to the Americans,
with Douglas holding more than half. But while Dou-
glas waited to read the fallout of the Comet disaster, in
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1954 Boeing introduced the 707, based on the B-52.
Pan Am bought large numbers of 707s, giving Boeing
market dominance even though Douglas and Convair
offered jets as well. Boeing also had more willingness
than the others to customize its planes to the customer’s
taste.

Jet age. The war generated jet engines. Boeing led the
way with the B-47 and B-52, fuel guzzlers unacceptable
to airline executives who did not want to lose money just
for greater speed. Juan Trippe disagreed as usual. Pan
Am’s lead forced the other lines to order jets to remain
competitive. But 1950s jets were too fast, as proved by
the 1956 collision over the Grand Canyon that killed 128
people. The government stepped in, funding radar and
navigational aids that made air travel much safer, even at
jet speed.

During the 1960s, jets, fast and comfortable, began
to dominate the market. Passenger miles soared. Be-
tween 1960 and 1970 passengers increased from 62 mil-
lion to 169 million. The soaring demand encouraged
Trippe and Boeing’s William Allen to commit to build-
ing the 747. Boeing took on massive debt. Then delivery
was delayed because the engines were not ready. Then a
recession hit and orders dried up. Boeing avoided bank-
ruptcy by offering still more variations of the 707. Pan
Am struggled too, having taken on high-interest debt to
buy the 747s. It struggled through the 1970s thanks
mostly to the International Air Transport Association,
the cartel that held worldwide fares high.

The Europeans didn’t quit, joining forces in 1962 to
develop a supersonic transport, the Concorde. The Amer-
icans assumed this would be another Brabazon fiasco, a
plane built even though the market would not support it.
Government support was not enough to counter lack of
market support and the likely environmentalist protest
over air and noise pollution. Nevertheless, the Concorde
came into being and never made a profit. For the British
and French governments, prestige was at stake. In the late
1970s, the Russians built the Tupolev Tu-144, the “Con-
cordski” for service between Moscow and Vladivostok.
After a crash at the 1973 Paris Air Show, this plane too
was mothballed.

The Europeans did have more success when they
formed Airbus, whose wide-body A340 was competitive
with Boeing’s finest, forcing Boeing to develop the 777,
luxurious but as with all contemporary liners, but a pale
shadow of the luxury planes of the 1930s.

Deregulation and dire straits. By century’s end the air-
lines were struggling with labor problems, mismanage-
ment, congested airports, and rising costs of fuel.
Government intrusion and questions of safety after var-
ious aircraft losses were also of concern. And there were
alarms over air pollution and possible health hazards

within the aircraft. Terrorism was a problem from the
1970s on as well.

For half a century the American airline industry was
highly regulated. The airline deregulation act of 1978 low-
ered fares overall while maintaining service to larger cities,
and initially it brought increased competition by start-ups.
But travelers found their choices limited as smaller cities
lost service. The major airlines quickly developed hub
cities, restricted competition by dividing the territory, and
froze out the smaller lines as well as decreased service to
the smaller airports. Many of the smaller lines went bank-
rupt in the face of inability to get slots at hub airports, and
the major airlines, with cut-rate prices squeezing their
profits as they squeezed the competition, experienced dif-
ficulty in surviving without major government assistance.

In 25 years after deregulation, 11 American airlines
went bankrupt. Old carriers such as Pan Am and TWA
and Braniff were no more.

American and United were among those that found
even more difficulty after the trauma of hijacked planes
in 2001, that produced airport delays for security and
shrinking numbers of passengers. Airlines, at least in
America, had not recovered previous levels of passenger
miles by early 2003. Costs continued to rise as virtually
every American line operated at a deficit. The survival of
the industry involved massive layoffs, bankruptcy re-
structurings, and additional fees for what before had
been amenities.
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Akerlof, George A. (1940-)

GEORGE AKERLOF HAS BUILT a career on his
quirky, unconventional insights: his papers are titled
with redolent words such as “Lemons,” “The Rat
Race,” “Gift Exchanges,” “Fair Wage,” “Gang Behav-
ior,” and “Looting.” Underneath the casualness has
been a serious research program: to provide underlying
behavioral models to Keynesian theory, importing knowl-
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edge from other social sciences. He was awarded the
2001 Nobel Prize with A. Michael sPENCE and Joseph E.
STIGLITZ for work that the three men did (separately) on
markets with asymmetric information, in Akerlof’s case,
on “lemon” markets. Other papers on the importance of
fairness and other sociological norms have been incor-
porated into efficiency wage theories in labor econom-
ics. Akerlof’s works form a comprehensive “behavioral”
paradigm, which he explicitly contrasts with the Neo-
classical explanations.

It is worth carefully examining the “lemons” model.
Akerlof analyzed a market where a certain fraction of
the goods sold were “lemons”—poor quality items that
were indistinguishable from the higher-quality ones.
Suppose these are used cars, where some cars are of
high quality and some of low. Buyers are willing to pay
up to $8000 for a high-quality car but only up to $2000
for a low-quality car. Sellers are willing to sell their
high-quality cars if they can get at least $6000, but will
sell low-quality cars (lemons) for as little as $1000.
Clearly, then, if buyers can differentiate between high
and low quality cars, there will be two separate mar-
kets. But what happens if buyers can’t tell high-quality
from low-quality cars? Then their willingness to pay
will be based on the probability that they will get a high
or low quality car.

Suppose that buyers initially believe that half the
cars are high quality and half are bad. In this case, they
would be willing to pay (50 percent)(8000) + (50 per-
cent)(2000) = $5000, if they believe that the outcome is
purely random. But there’s the problem: no seller is will-
ing to supply a high-quality car at a price of just $5000!
So fewer than 50 percent of the cars will be high quality,
so consumers will be willing to pay even less, and so on
in a downward spiral. All of the high-quality cars will be
driven out of the market by the lemons.

If there is a continuum of grades of quality, the mar-
ket may not even exist. This market is characterized by
asymmetric information: buyers can’t tell if they’re get-
ting a high or low quality car, but sellers know. So the
market must be somehow fixed, by government action
or by the traders themselves, to get sellers to reveal their
knowledge. A seller might offer a warranty, offering to
fix any problems that are revealed. Or certain sellers
might gain a reputation for selling high-quality prod-
ucts, a brand name. The good traded need not be cars, it
could be insurance, or products in developing countries,
or new hires, or myriad other goods, which Akerlof only
began to explore.

For macroeconomics the most important market is
the LABOR market, and here Akerlof has devoted much
of his theoretical and empirical work. Classical eco-
nomic theory wonders why wages don’t fall enough in
recessions to eliminate unemployment. In various pa-
pers Akerlof (with others, notably Janet Yellen) has im-

ported from other social sciences reasons why firms
might choose to pay higher wages: from psychology,
equity theory highlights considerations of fairness;
from anthropology, gift exchange notes the importance
of reciprocity; and from sociology come notions of the
importance of group norms. Additionally, in work with
Dickens and Perry, he has shown that near-rational de-
cision rules may explain the “money illusion” of wage
setting.

These are just a few of the many ways in which Ak-
erlof has posited that people’s behaviors differ from that
of the standard rational actor model. A richer under-
standing of human behavior, grounded in experimental
evidence rather than faith in rationality, can solve many
of the puzzles of economics.

BIBLIOGRAPHY. George Akerlof, “The Market for ‘Lemons:’
Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism,” Quarterly
Journal of Economics (August, 1970); George Akerlof,
William T. Dickens and George L. Perry, “The Macroeconom-
ics of Low Inflation,” Brookings Papers on Economic Activity
(1996); George Akerlof and Janet Yellen, “The Fair Wage-Ef-
fort Hypothesis and Unemployment,” Quarterly Journal of
Economics (May, 1990); George Akerlof, “Behavioral Macro-
economics and Macroeconomic Behavior,” Nobel Prize Lec-
ture, www.nobel.se.

KEvVIN R FOSTER, PH.D.
CiTy COLLEGE OF NEW YORK

Alger, Horatio Jr. (1832-99)

HORATIO ALGER GAINED FAME as a writer of chil-
dren’s fiction during the late 19th century. His “rags-to-
riches” tales of young orphans and scrappy street kids
who managed to triumph over their humble beginnings
struck a chord with generations of young Americans. A
highly prolific author, he produced well over one hun-
dred novels and numerous short stories, that remained
in print well into the 20th century.

Alger was born in Massachusetts. His father was a
Unitarian minister who was paid a meager salary, and
the family lived in relative poverty. Alger entered the
freshman class of Harvard College at the age of 16 and
graduated in 1852. He experimented with work as a
freelance writer before entering Harvard Divinity School,
eventually taking a position in a parish in Brewster,
Massachusetts. His career in the church was cut short
when parishioners accused him of engaging in improper
behavior with young boys in his charge. To avoid scan-
dal, Alger agreed to resign from the ministry and left
Brewster, eventually settling in New York City, where he
began to work full time as a writer.
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His first literary attempts were not notable, but
when Alger sent a series of stories entitled, “Ragged
Dick, or, The Streets of New York,” to a magazine
aimed at young people, he found his calling. He was
hired as a regular contributor, and the stories were
eventually collected and published in book form. This
work contained many elements that would recur in
later Alger novels. The protagonist was a poor boy who
lived on the streets of New York, polishing boots. The
novel recounts many of Ragged Dick’s adventures in
the city, including incidents where he saves a child from
drowning and catches a thief. The boy’s honesty and
strength of character impress a wealthy man, who takes
Dick into his charge. By the end of the story, the hero
has acquired an education and is starting a new job as a
clerk, destined for great things.

Although Alger’s critics charged that his stories were
highly formulaic, young readers did not tire of reading
about the rise of poor boys to success, the kind of suc-
cess envisioned by eager young capitalists. Novels with
titles like Strive and Succeed (1872), Risen from the
Ranks (1874), and Julius, the Street Boy (1874) were
snapped up by the public. It is estimated that over 250
million copies of his works have been sold around the
world. In addition to his fiction, he wrote biographies of
important historical figures who could also serve as in-
spiration for young boys. In Alger’s hands, the life of
President James GARFIELD became From Canal Boy to
President (1881).

Alger’s work is often cited as a celebration of the
possibilities of capitalism. He chose the modern city as
the setting for his tales, and followed young newsboys
and peddlers as they rose to achieve the “American
Dream.” It is worth noting, however, that Alger’s heroes
succeed not only due to their own perseverance but also
because of the kindness of a wealthy benefactor. Many
of the novels feature chance meetings that change the
lives of the characters forever. Nevertheless, Alger’s
name has entered the popular lexicon as typifying the
values of individualism and self-reliance. More than a
century after his death, Alger is still cited as an influence
and is honored by the Horatio Alger Association, a
scholarship program.
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Algeria

THE MODERN ALGERIAN STATE came into being in
1962, but this is not to say that Algeria did not have a
significant economic history before that date. In the pe-
riod between the 8th and the 19th centuries, Algeria had
been a part of different Islamic states and empires, some
of which (such as the Almoravid and Almohad empires)
had been centered on the Maghreb.

Considerable trade existed across the Mediter-
ranean and Islamic worlds at this time, while high lev-
els of education, literacy and scientific development
were actively promoted by the state. Between 1830 and
1962 Algeria was a French colony, incorporated into
metropolitan FRANCE in a manner unique in the French
Empire. The legacy of French imperialism, especially in
the political and economic spheres, is still evident
today. In the post-independence period the leading re-
sistor of the French, the FLN (Front de Libération Na-
tionale), instituted a one-party state with the task of
restructuring an economy that had been designed for
the benefit of the colonial power, rather than the Al-
gerian people.

The FLN’s program of bureaucratic state capitalism
and technocratic modernization was strongly influ-
enced by French models (although its political ideology,
which combined Marxism with nationalism and Is-
lamism, was distinctly Algerian). Early leaders such as
Ben Bella, Boumedienne and Chadli achieved some eco-
nomic growth, but economic development was almost
secondary to the tasks of nation-building and forging a
viable political consensus. From the late 1970s there
was a concurrent growth in political pluralism and the
private economic sector, under the auspices of the one-
party state.

Economic liberalization has been arguably more
successful than its political counterpart (which suffered
greatly during the Algerian civil war of 1992-98),
though an increasing acceptance of neo-liberal economic
principles and an integration into world markets have
done little to conceal the structural flaws of the Algerian
economy. These include massive unemployment (and
concomitant social unrest), an over-reliance on oil
(which made up 96 percent of exports in 2000) and the
limited profits Algerians themselves make from oil pro-
duction which is part-contracted to foreign corpora-
tions, the vulnerability of the economy to exogenous
shocks (such as the 1986 oil price collapse), low levels of
competition and diversification, large debts owed to
western banks, and the stifling effects of the one-party
state and its military backers.

It remains unclear whether Algeria’s recent inte-
gration into international networks such as the INTER-
NATIONAL MONETARY FUND (IMF) and the EUROPEAN
UNION (EU) will have long-term gains for an economy
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that has not fully realized an independent identity since
the French withdrawal.
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alienation

THE CONCEPT OF ALIENATION is generally em-
ployed to describe feelings of isolation and powerless-
ness, and is common to many teleological theories of
societies, rooted as it is in the idea that in the past peo-
ple lived in harmony, which was then broken causing
people to feel like foreigners in the world. In the future,
according to the theories, this alienation would be over-
come and humanity would again live in harmony.

The most famous theorist of alienation related to
capitalism was Karl MARX, who developed the concept
particularly in his early writings. Marx specifically fo-
cused on the experience of alienation in modern bour-
geois society and he developed his understanding of the
process through his critique of Georg W.F. HEGEL. Ac-
cording to Hegel, people create a culture by means of
their actions, which were the expression of the Spirit.
Such culture eventually becomes an entity alien from the
people who produce it. Giving a materialist base to
Hegel’s mystical conception, Marx insists that it is
human labor which creates culture and history: “Pre-
cisely because Hegel starts from the predicates of uni-
versal determination instead of from the real subject,
and because there must be a bearer of this determina-
tion, the mystical idea becomes this bearer.” What Hegel
calls the Spirit is, according to Marx, a human product.
Thus, the history of mankind is marked by a paradox:
man increasingly controls nature yet he becomes alien-
ated from and dominated by forces of his own creation.

According to Marx, the labor process is an objecti-
fication of human powers. Yet workers are unable to
relate to their product as an expression of their own
essence and thus fail to recognize themselves in their
product. This lack of recognition is the basis for alien-
ation. The specific form of LABOR characteristic of bour-
geois society, wage labor, corresponds to the most
profound form of alienation. Since wage workers sell

their labor power to earn a living, and the capitalist
owns the labor process, the product of the workers’
labor is in a very real sense alien to the worker as it be-
comes property of the capitalist and not of its maker.
The workers’ alienation worsens during the regime of
industrial capitalism where workers are attached to a
machine and are themselves a mere unit along an as-
sembly line, performing a meaningless task which is
only part of a larger process.

Marx describes the concept of alienation as four-
fold: workers are alienated from work, from the objects
they make, from their fellow workers, and from their
potential for creative production. This is because labor
is a commodity that can be bought and sold under capi-
talist economic relations. Employers also control the
means of production and the cooperation between
workers is destroyed as is their creativity in the name of
a higher and more effective production.

In Marx’s later writings, the concept of alienation is
subsumed under the idea of “fetishism of commodities.”
In Capital, Marx argues that social relations between
human beings becomes relations between things:

In order, therefore, to find an analogy, we must have
recourse to the mist-enveloped regions of the reli-
gious world. In that world the productions of the
human brain appear as independent beings endowed
with life, and entering into relation both with one an-
other and the human race. So it is in the world of
commodities with the products of men’s hands. This
I call the fetishism which attaches itself to the prod-
ucts of labor, so soon as they are produced as com-
modities, and which is therefore inseparable from the
production of commodities. This fetishism of com-
modities has its origin, as the foregoing analysis has
already shown, in the peculiar social character of the
labor that produces them.

Marx’s prescription to overcome alienation is of
course the transformation of the economic system
from capitalist to socialist. In socialist economies,
work and products are no longer commodities and the
rigid distinction between mental and physical work
breaks down thus allowing the full development of
every worker’s potential.
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Allais, Maurice (1911-)

WINNER OF THE 1988 Nobel Prize in Economics,
Maurice Allais is perhaps best known for the Allais
Paradox and his important contributions in the fields of
economics and physics. Born in Paris, FRANCE, to a
working class family, Allais intended to study history,
but at the insistence of a mathematics teacher, entered a
special mathematics class to prepare for the Ecole Poly-
téchnique. Allais himself reports that he was “generally
first in my year in almost all subjects,” and in 1933, he
graduated first in his class.

After a year of military service and two years at the
Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Mines in Paris, Allais be-
came the head of the Nantes Mines and Quarries Ser-
vice. With the outbreak of WORLD WAR 11 in 1939, Allais
was sent to the Italian front and given command of a
heavy artillery battery near Briancon. Following the
French surrender on June 25, 1940, Allais returned to
his position in Nantes, which was then in the German
occupation zone, and remained there until he became di-
rector of the Bureau of Mines Documentation and Sta-
tistics in Paris in 1943.

During this tumultuous period, Allais wrote the first
of his major works, In Quest of an Economic Disci-
pline, Part 1, Pure Economics, published in 1943. He

Maurice Allais, best-known for the Allais Paradox, has
emerged as a sharp critic of globalization.

turned to economics as a means to prepare for the after-
math of the war with the intent of solving what he re-
garded as the fundamental problem of any economy:
“How to promote the greatest feasible economic effi-
ciency while ensuring a distribution of income that
would be generally acceptable.” The book focused on
the proofs of two fundamental propositions regarding
efficiency. First, any state of EQUILIBRIUM of a market
economy is efficient in the sense that no one can become
better off without someone else becoming worse off.
Second, any state of maximum efficiency can be
achieved through the redistribution of initial resources
and a system of equilibrium prices.

In 1947, Allais published Economy and Interest,
which focused on efficiency in an intertemporal set-
ting. He found that accounting for future generations
altered his analysis considerably, and concluded that a
policy of compulsory saving for old age is perfectly
compatible with economic efficiency. In two papers
published in 1954 and 19535, Allais developed the foun-
dations of his general theory of monetary dynamics.
He tested the model with empirical data and concluded
that the “observed reality is represented in an almost
perfect manner” by his theory. He called the empirical
verifications of his work on monetary policy “the most
extraordinary ones that have ever been found in the
Social Sciences.”

Today, Allais is best known for the Allais Paradox,
which demonstrated that standard expected utility the-
ory does not apply to many empirically realistic deci-
sions under risk and uncertainty. Given the paradox,
some economists have concluded that individuals are
irrational in that they are unable to calculate the prob-
abilities necessary to conform to expected utility the-
ory. Allais himself, however, believed that this result
was a paradox in appearance only and represented in-
stead “the preference for security in the neighborhood
of certainty.”

Throughout his life, Allais was concerned with
political and economic policies. He believed that “a
man of science cannot fail to take an interest in the
fundamental problems of his time.” In the 1950s and
1960s, he participated in many of the international
conferences aimed at establishing the EUROPEAN UNION
(EU). In recent years, Allais has continued his interest
in public policy, emerging as a sharp critic of global-
ization. The publisher of his 1999 book, Globaliza-
tion: The Destruction of Growth and Employment,
described the work as “the passionate battle of a man
of science against globalization.” In the book, Allais
argues for free trade within the European Community,
but a system of quotas designed to ensure that an av-
erage of about 80 percent of the goods consumed
within Europe Community are produced by member
countries.
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Allianz

ALLIANZ VERSICHERUNGS was founded in Berlin,
GERMANY, in 1890. Now headquartered in Munich, it
is one of the leading global service providers in insur-
ance, banking, and asset management. Allianz has ap-
proximately 182,000 employees worldwide, and
customers in more than 70 countries, significantly ex-
panding its international market presence in the 1990s
and early 21st century. Examples of key international
acquisitions include Cornhill Insurance (UK) in 1986;
the Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company (U.S.) in 1991;
the ELVIA Group (Switzerland) in 1995; Assurances
Générales de France in 1997; and Pimco (U.S.) in
2000. Allianz first moved into the banking industry
with the acquisition of Dresdner Bank (Germany) in
2001.

In 2002, premiums in property and casualty insur-
ance amounted to €43.3 billion (9.8 billion from Ger-
many), with a claims ratio of 78.2 percent. Total
revenue in life and health insurance amounted to €40.1
billion (12.6 billion from Germany). In both insurance
markets, Allianz is the market leader in Germany, and is
one of the strongest firms in Europe.

In banking and asset management, Allianz faced a
difficult year in 2002. The banking sector (essentially
Dresdner Bank) had a loss of €1.4 billion, and Turn-
around 2003 was launched (a program aimed at re-
structuring the banking sector to cut costs and improve
efficiency, as well as minimizing the impact of “impaired
loans”). In asset management, given falling stock prices
and the depreciation of the dollar, Allianz made an (ex-
pected) loss of €405 million, but currently manages ap-
proximately €1 billion, and is one of the five leading
asset managers in the world.

Given its decentralized organization and strong
local presence, Allianz believes it is well placed to meet
the needs of regional and national markets. Ranked as
the 18th largest company in the world in 2002, Allianz’s
strategic objective is to further strengthen its global posi-
tions in INSURANCE and asset management, as the world
recovers from loss of investor confidence in the early
21st century.
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Altria (Philip Morris)

PHILIP MORRIS COMPANIES, INC., or Altria, is a
multinational corporation, producing and distributing
consumer products worldwide. It divides its products and
services into four categories: tobacco, food, beer, and fi-
nancial. With over 200 manufacturing facilities in 50
countries, Philip Morris ranks as the largest producer and
marketer of consumer packaged goods in the world. The
Philip Morris “family” consists of PM USA, Philip Morris
International Inc., and the Philip Morris Capital Corpora-
tion. As of April 25, 2002, shareholders approved a name
change of the parent corporation to Altria Group, Inc.

Philip Morris was founded by Philip Morris, Es-
quire, in London during the mid-19th century. What
began as a self-proprietorship in London became a
leviathan of an organization. In 2001, the company re-
ported approximately $80 billion in underlying net rev-
enues. Altria owns 83.9 percent of the outstanding
shares of Kraft Foods Inc. and holds 36 percent of the
economic interest in the newly created SABMiller, the re-
sult of a 2002 merger between Miller Brewing Company
and South African Breweries.

Tobacco is the company’s primary revenue maker;
the cigarette division controls 51 percent of the U.S.
market and ranks as the largest tobacco company in the
country. The company produces the best-selling brand
Marlboro. Four out of every 10 cigarettes sold is a Marl-
boro, granting the company more market share than the
next seven largest brands combined. Likewise, in the in-
ternational cigarette market, Marlboro is the top-selling
brand and has been since 1972.

In 1988, Philip Morris acquired Kraft at a price of
$12.9 billion—the largest non-oil acquisition in the his-
tory of the United States. The largest branded food com-
pany in North America, Kraft brands include: Kool-Aid,
Maxwell House, Cool Whip, Jell-O, 20 or so brands of
cereal, Oreo, Ritz, Chips Ahoy, Planters, Grey Poupon,
Miracle Whip, DiGiorno, and many more.

As shown by the company’s vast holdings throughout
the world, Philip Morris or Altria is one of the world’s
largest and most powerful corporations. Through billion-
dollar acquisitions and continual restructuring, it has re-
mained the dominant player in the market and outlasted
many of its competitors.
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American Civil War

EVEN BEFORE THE United States came into being, the
economic interests, and hence to some degree the political
interests, of the northern and the southern states had
begun to diverge. The South developed on the basis of
large plantations run by a few families; the North tended
to have smaller farms and began to focus more on manu-
facturing, fishing, and foreign trade. Although all colonies
permitted SLAVERY at one time or another, the system was
much more critical to the maintenance of the South’s large
plantation system.

After the AMERICAN REVOLUTION, slavery had been
largely banned in the North, which became more fo-
cused on trade and industry. The South continued to
concentrate on agriculture. After the introduction of the
cotton gin by Eli WHITNEY, the South turned primarily to
a single crop, cotton.

Thus, at the eve of the Civil War (1861-65), in the
1850s, the degree of the urbanization and the level of
the industrial labor force in the South was less than half
of that of the North, and even the more industrial south-
ern states were producing at less than half the per-capita
rates of northern states.

As a consequence of these differences there were fre-
quent political clashes between North and South cen-
tered on economic policy. Thus, a perennial source of
conflict was federal tariff policy. The northern states reg-
ularly pushed for high tariffs on manufactured products
in order to protect their industries from foreign compe-
tition. While this was perceived to be beneficial to the
economic interests of the North, it raised the prices of
many goods that the South consumed, and was thus in
direct opposition to the interests of the South.

Events leading up to the war. Although the sectional dif-
ferences between the North and South pre-date the Rev-
olution, the debate leading to the Civil War was framed
in 1820 with the admission of Missouri to the union. By
1820, there were 11 free and 11 slave states. Northern-
ers, concerned over the expansion of slavery northward,
sought to admit Missouri only if it outlawed slavery.
Southerners opposed a precedent that allowed the fed-
eral government to dictate to states whether or not they
could have slaves. If slavery could not expand, it would

eventually become a minority interest that could be
ended by the majority. The Missouri Compromise per-
mitted Missouri to enter as a slave state while Maine
was admitted as a free state, thus keeping the balance. It
also forbade slavery in any other state that was formed
on the northern portions of the Louisiana Purchase.

The Compromise held for the next 30 years. How-
ever, following the MEXICAN-AMERICAN WAR, ceded lands
sought entry as free states with no slave state to coun-
terbalance it. The Compromise of 1850, among other
things, permitted California to be admitted as a free
state, but gave Southerners more powerful fugitive slave
laws to capture runaway slaves. It also introduced the
idea of “popular sovereignty,” which permitted the resi-
dents of each territory to decide for themselves whether
to be admitted as slave or free.

While the purpose of the Compromise was to quiet
the debate, it swelled the abolitionist movement in the
North. No longer did Northerners merely have to toler-
ate slavery; now they were forced to assist in arresting
their runaway slave neighbors and returning them to
slavery.

In 1854, the Kansas-Nebraska Act permitted those
territories to decide for themselves whether to be admit-
ted as slave or free. The “debate” soon turned into a
bloody war as abolitionists and slaveholders, primarily
from Missouri, used violence, intimidation, and murder
to take control of the territory.

Southerners, who were already on the defensive
now that they were outnumbered in Congress, relied on
the Supreme Court to assert their demands for expand-
ing slavery. In 1857, the U.S. Supreme Court further in-
flamed the sectional dispute by issuing its opinion in
Dred Scott v. Sanford. It held in part that the Missouri
Compromise was unconstitutional and that slave own-
ers could take their slaves wherever they liked.

In 1859, John Brown attacked the federal arsenal at
Harper’s Ferry, Virginia. His hope was to foment a slave
rebellion that would spread throughout the South. He
captured the arsenal but failed to spark the uprising he
had hoped for. He was quickly captured and hanged,
but the Southern fear of slave revolt had been resur-
rected and Southerners now saw Northern abolitionists
as a potential cause of such an insurrection.

With the election of the Republican Abraham LIN-
COLN in 1860, Southerners decided the federal govern-
ment had become too hostile to their interests. After the
election, but before Lincoln’s inauguration, 11 southern
states seceded from the Union and formed the Confed-
erate States of America.

Economic significance of slavery. The institution of
slavery was an outgrowth of economic and socio-cul-
tural differences, with an obvious moral dimension to it
as well. It had been argued that slavery was doomed as



American Civil War 23

a form of economic organization; had compromise be-
tween the northern and the southern states succeeded a
bit longer, then slavery would have naturally perished.

Recent research indicates that the rate of return on in-
vesting in slaves in the ante-bellum South was close to 10
percent—well above the return that was available to
southern planters in other ventures, such as railroads.
And indeed, a higher return than most textile mills were
able to achieve in New England in the 1840s and 1850s.
Further, indications are that slavery was becoming even
more profitable leading up to the Civil War. In an amoral,
objective view, if one uses market prices for slaves as a
proxy for what returns were expected to be obtainable
from exploiting slave labor, then there is a clear upward
trend in the profitability of slavery, subsequent to the
widespread introduction of the cotton gin around the turn
of the century.

Charting the course of slavery absent the Civil War
is clearly speculative. The answer, perhaps, follows upon
one primary supposition: Would slavery have been per-
mitted to expand beyond the South, in particular might
it have expanded to the west and northwest? Given that
the North seemed to be gaining more political power
and that most unsettled western lands were not useful
for cotton farming, it seems unlikely. Further, the fact
that Britain, the main market for southern cotton, was
developing a strong anti-slavery movement and was
finding alternatives to cotton for its clothing industry;
means that Britain likely would have begun to exert eco-
nomic pressure to end slavery.

Brief summary of the war. The war began when South
Carolina troops fired on federal troops who refused to
surrender Fort Sumter in Charleston Harbor. Northern-
ers were outraged by this act and rallied around the war
cause. Both sides thought the war would be over in a
matter of weeks or months. Volunteers signed up for 90-
day enlistments.

Northerners emphasized that they had a larger pop-
ulation and industrial base, and hence, more arms and
the capacity to manufacture arms. Southerners had a su-
perior officer corps and potential allies in Europe.

Federal troops marched from Washington, D.C.,
into Virginia where they engaged the Confederates in
the Battle of Bull Run/Manassas. Confederate troops
routed the Union soldiers who fled back to Washington.
For the next three years, a series of Union generals
would attempt to invade Virginia with the hope of cap-
turing the Confederate capital of Richmond. Each time,
they would be outmaneuvered, out-generaled, and ulti-
mately defeated by the Army of Northern Virginia, com-
manded by General Robert E. Lee.

The Southerners attempted twice to take the war to
the North. The first attempt was an invasion of Mary-
land in the fall of 1862. On September 17th, the armies

met at the battle of Antietam/Sharpsburg. After a day
of bloody fighting, the Confederates withdrew to Vir-
ginia. Lincoln seized on the Confederate’s withdrawal
as the opportunity to announce the Emancipation
Proclamation, which declared all slaves in rebel terri-
tory to be free.

The following year, the Confederates made another
attempt to move northward as they entered Pennsylva-
nia. The two armies clashed for three days in July, in and
around the town of Gettysburg. In a final charge on July
3rd, the Confederate Army was decimated in what be-
came known as Pickett’s Charge (General George Pick-
ett led the charge). Despite the loss, Lee successfully
retreated back to Virginia and retained his forces. The
stalemate in the eastern theater continued.

The only real Union progress came in the west. Gen-
erals Ulysses GRANT and William Tecumseh Sherman
captured Tennessee and had begun moving down the
Mississippi River. On July 4, 1863, Union troops broke
the siege of Vicksburg, giving them full control of the
river. These western generals defied military convention
by ignoring their own supply lines. Their armies moved
hard and fast, capturing whatever food and supplies
they needed from the enemy.

In March 1864, Lincoln put Grant in charge of all
Union armies. As with all the other generals who tried to
march on Richmond, Grant was outmaneuvered and
suffered heavy losses. However, unlike previous generals
who retreated after a loss, Grant continued to send in
more reinforcements, relying on the fact that the North
had far greater reserves than the South and could afford
to sustain much heavier losses.

At the same time, Grant had Sherman push in from
the west, eventually capturing and burning Atlanta and
beginning his well-known march to the sea. The purpose
of this move was not only to demoralize the South, but
also to cut the Confederacy in half, which it did. Sher-
man also wanted to ensure that the war experience
would be so horrible that the South would never rise in
arms again. Consequently, Sherman destroyed almost
anything that could be of value to the Confederacy. The
Confederate Army, and Southern people generally, were
cut off from all food and supplies.

Despite massive casualties, Grant’s relentless assault
resulted in the capture of Richmond within a year.
Within days, Lee surrendered his army, effectively end-
ing the war on April 9, 1865.

Economic and war policies in the North. The Union rec-
ognized its clear naval advantage over the Confederacy, as
well as the South’s complete dependence on foreign trade
for most of its necessities. Consequently, it employed a
naval blockade on all trade to or from the Confederacy.
At first, the blockade was unable to prevent the bulk of
merchant vessels, known as blockade runners, from en-
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gaging in trade. Over the course of the war, however, the
blockade became more effective in starving the South of
weapons, ammunition, food, and other necessities.

In the final years of the war, the Union embarked on
a scorched-earth policy further designed to break the
Confederate economy. Northern armies confiscated or
destroyed farm animals, crops, and anything else of
value to the South.

The Union also introduced a military draft for the
first time. Prior to this, the federal government had al-
ways depended on volunteers. But as a protracted war
became evident, the government could not keep up en-
listments, even with generous bounties. In order to help
raise needed funds, draftees were permitted to hire a re-
placement or pay the government $300—causing con-
siderable resentment among those who could not buy
their way out.

With tariff revenues down because the war prevented
much trade, the government also instituted a tax on in-
comes as a temporary war measure.

Finally, the emancipation of slaves had strategic sig-
nificance as well. When Lincoln declared the slaves free in
1863, it made the war about more than saving the Union.
While this provoked mixed feelings among Northerners,
it convinced the British, many of whom had strong anti-
slavery sentiments, to forgo allying themselves with the
Confederacy.

Economic and war policies in the South. The South had
a more difficult strategy. Because of its lack of a manu-
facturing base, it relied on Europe. The Confederacy
hoped that it could draw Britain into the conflict as an
ally. Britain was heavily dependant on the South’s cot-
ton, and could have viewed the war as an opportunity to
regain influence in America. However, once the Union
successfully made slavery the main issue of the War,
Britain decided to stay out of it.

Later, the Confederacy hoped to drag out the war,
making it costly enough on the North that a friendlier
president would be elected who would grant them
peaceful separation. However, a string of Union victo-
ries helped Lincoln’s re-election in 1864 and the Con-
federacy surrendered a few months later.

The cost of the Civil War. The total costs of the Civil
War to the U.S. economy are immeasurable. Even a
rough estimate would require that one determine how
the economy might have developed without the enor-
mous amount of destruction, in terms of both physical
capital as well as human lives. There were well over 1
million military casualties, including over a half-million
lost lives. Given a total population of a little over 31
million according to the 1860 census, war casualties
amounted to over 3.5 percent of the entire population. If
one attempts to estimate the lost lifetime earnings of

these casualties, and adds to them the military expendi-
tures, and the value of the property destroyed in the
course of the conflict, one estimate of the total direct
costs of the war is $3.4 billion for the North and $3.3
billion for the South—together more than the total an-
nual production of the U.S. economy preceding the war.
In fact, a much higher figure than what it would have
cost to purchase all slaves into freedom at the prevailing
prices just before the War.

Of course, these are only monetary losses to the
economy, and these figures cannot capture the total
costs to American society, which would have to include
costs in terms of the immense suffering. By the same
token, however, it is not possible to measure accurately
what American society has gained through the liberation
of the nearly four million slaves. Not only is their mere
freedom invaluable, but one also cannot even begin to
estimate the contributions to American society and the
American economy made by African-Americans, despite
organized and inadvertent setbacks that reverberate to
this day.
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American Electric Power

RANKED AS THE 36TH LARGEST company in the
world by Fortune magazine in 2002, American Electric
Power (AEP) is the largest electricity generator in the
UNITED STATES.

The company is marked indelibly by its geographic lo-
cation, which provides both its most important strength
and deepest future worry: It is in the middle of the Ohio
coal-mining region, which provides cheap but high-sul-
phur, high-ash coal. At the beginning of the 1990s, as
deregulation began, approximately 90 percent of its power
was generated in coal-fired plants; by the end of the decade
coal still made up a three-quarter share.

The specter of environmental regulation hangs dark-
ly. When the Clean Air Act introduced sulphur-dioxide
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tradable permits in 19935, the utility was allocated suffi-
cient allowances to burn coal of up to approximately 2
percent to 2.5 percent sulphur. Any amount of sulphur
in the coal over that level means that AEP must either in-
crease its cleanup efforts or buy permits. Although some
of its subsidiaries get low-sulphur western coal, its
Columbus Southern and Ohio Power operations use
eastern coal that averages 3 percent.

Changing to low-sulphur coal is complicated by
local political pressure to continue mining employment
in Midwest fields. New efforts to curtail emission of
nitrogen-oxide, regulate haze, or even tax carbon out-
put will continue to obscure the company’s financial
future.

As the company expands to overseas markets, its
exposure to foreign regulation also grows. From this
multinational standpoint, AEP admitted that govern-
ment regulations on greenhouse gases were inevitable.
However, AEP has some confidence in its ability to
dance with regulators, since it was one of the few U.S.
utilities to survive NEW DEAL regulations (the Public Util-
ity Holding Company Act, PUHCA, in 1935) virtually
unscathed.
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American International Group

AN INSURANCE COMPANY that began in Shanghai,
CHINA—American International Group (AIG)—was
founded by Cornelius Vander Starr in 1919 as American
Asiatic Underwriters, which later became affiliated with
American International Underwriters (AIU). Starr later
expanded his business with the founding of the Asia Life
Insurance Company. He moved forward with this enter-
prise despite the fact that there were no available statis-
tics on Chinese life expectancy.

In 1931, Starr formed the International Assurance
Company as a partnership with British and Chinese in-
vestors. In 1932, American International Underwriters
expanded into Central America. By the end of the
1930s, impending war forced Starr to close his Shang-
hai office and move his headquarters to New York
City. Though WORLD WAR 11 interfered with ATU’s Euro-
pean and Asian interests, the company continued to
rapidly expand into Central America during the early
1940s.

After the war, the Shanghai office reopened, but
communist domination of mainland China shut down
the Shanghai office once again, in 1950. AIU’s post-war
entry into West GERMANY and JAPAN proved more last-
ing, with U.S. occupation troops serving as primary cus-
tomers. In 1948, Starr reorganized the International
Assurance Company as the American International As-
surance Company, and became involved in MALAYSIA,
THAILAND, and SINGAPORE. He then formed the American
International Reinsurance (AIRCO) and American In-
ternational Underwriters Overseas Companies, and the
American International Underwriters Association.

In 1952, AIRCO acquired Globe and Rutgers Insur-
ance, along with American Home Assurance. American
International interests continued to grow during the
1950s and 1960s, with expansion into the Caribbean,
the Middle East, and some African nations. The com-
munist takeover in CUBA represented a serious loss, as
private enterprise in the small country was nationalized.
However, the New Hampshire Insurance Company,
Commerce and Industry Insurance Company, and the
National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh
were added during this period to American Interna-
tional’s portfolio.

During the 1970s, the American International
Credit Corporation and North American Managers Inc.
were formed as new divisions. NAM sold insurance to
foreign companies operating in the United States. AIG
Oil Rig Inc. was also formed at this time to sell insur-
ance to offshore drilling operations. AIG profits grew
rapidly during the 1970s, and by the end of the decade,
AIG had entered Eastern Europe, re-entered mainland
China, and increased its size tenfold.

During the 1980s, AIG expanded further into
health-care services and real estate. Profits declined in
1984, but improved in 1985. 1988 was also a difficult
year, because AIG lost an arbitration case that cost the
company more than $100 million. In the late 1980s,
AIG consolidated many of its operations, but contin-
ued to expand in other areas, including divisions that
lease commercial jet airliners, and that provide finan-
cial services.

In 1999, AIG merged with Sun America and ac-
quired licenses to operate in Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, and
Sri Lanka. In 2003, AIG operated in more than 130
countries, with more than 80,000 employees, and re-
ported $67.5 billion in sales, making it the 25th largest
company in the world. With hundreds of billions of dol-
lars in assets, AIG is as massive as it is innovative and
complex; it is one of the most remarkable business en-
terprises of modern times.
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American Revolution

THROUGHOUT MUCH of the 17th and 18th cen-
turies, the UNITED KINGDOM and FRANCE struggled for
domination of North America. Britain took control of
most of the east coast, while France controlled CANADA
and the Mississippi Valley. By the mid-18th century
British colonists moving westward began encroaching
on territories claimed by France. Both powers tried to
strengthen their positions and harass the other. Even-
tually this touched off what became known in America
as the French and Indian War, otherwise also known
as the Seven Years’ War, 1756-63. When the war end-
ed, Britain retained undisputed control as far west as
the Mississippi river. France gave up all claims on the
continent.

Until that time, Britain had strongly encouraged col-
onization by allowing the colonists certain liberties (par-
ticularly religious freedom) not available in Britain.
Britain also left the colonists virtually untaxed, and
failed to enforce effectively many of the tariffs in place.
Prior to 1767 it cost Britain £9,000 annually in order to
collect £2,000 in customs duties from the colonies. The
mass colonization of British subjects who took advan-
tage of these incentives helped Britain to take control
of the continent. With control over the continent se-
cured, however, Britain hoped to recoup the costs of
the war and make the colonies profitable. A series of
laws from Parliament created a rift between Britain
and its colonies.

The growing rift. Thus, the Proclamation of 1763
banned further expansion westward. The Crown hoped
to reserve that land for Native Americans and to make
them loyal subjects of the empire. Colonists, however,
viewed this ban as a dangerous limitation on the expan-
sion of their growth.

The Currency Act of 1764 limited the issuance of
paper money through colonial governments. This lim-
ited colonial power to shape fiscal policy. It also made
trade more difficult given a shortage of specie (gold and
silver) in the colonies.

The Sugar Act of 1764 imposed taxes on sugar and
molasses not imported from the West Indies, raising
prices and limiting supplies of sugar in the colonies.

This was supported by increased enforcement against
smuggling.

In 1765, the Stamp Act introduced taxes on legal
documents, newspapers, and virtually all other printed
materials. This was the first direct tax levied by Britain
on the colonists. Since these duties were to be collected
by the local colonial governments and then transferred
to England, the effect was to pit colonial governments
against their own citizens who resented this form of
“taxation without representation.” Britain further in-
flamed the issue by passing the Quartering Act, requir-
ing the colonies to house and feed British soldiers, sent
to enforce the laws.

While there had been displeasure over the earlier
taxes, the Stamp Act caused the first true resistance. The
Sons of Liberty organized in Boston to fight the tax and
collectors were threatened or beaten to prevent collec-
tion. Colonial leaders throughout the continent urged
resistance. Parliament quickly repealed the Stamp Act
(having been largely ineffectual for not having been en-
forced), but reasserted its prerogative by passing the De-
claratory Act, establishing the right of the Crown to
impose direct taxes on the colonists without their con-
sent.

In 1767, Parliament passed the Townsend Acts,
which introduced customs duties on tea, glass, and
paper. Though they were not direct taxes, the colonists
responded with boycotts on imports and violence
against tax collectors. Britain repealed these duties, leav-
ing only a small tax on tea in order to assert the princi-
ple of its right to impose such taxes. It also sent British
troops to Boston to stop the acts of violence and resist-
ance to British laws.

Opposition to British occupation led to frequent
riots, and eventually the Boston Massacre, in which
British troops shot at an unarmed albeit threatening
mob, shooting six colonists in 1770. In 1773 the Sons of
Liberty boarded a ship that had been waiting to unload
its fares and dumped British tea into Boston Harbor. In
response to the “Boston Tea Party,” Britain closed the
port of Boston until the colonists paid for the destroyed
property.

In the wake of this rupture, the First Continental
Congress met in Philadelphia in 1774, passing resolu-
tions that, in effect, demanded nullification of all British
policies taken toward the colonies since the end of the
French and Indian War. Britain refused to recognize the
Congress and even disbanded a number of Colonial Leg-
islatures that had been hostile to British policies.

The American sentiment. Many have asked, on the eve
of the Revolution, why a relatively prosperous and free
people would risk armed conflict with the world’s undis-
puted superpower over a few taxes. Indeed, American
colonists of the 1770s may very well have enjoyed the
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highest per capita income levels of anyone in the world
at the time, and were surely among the least taxed peo-
ple in Europe and America.

In fact, most people did not oppose the Crown. On
the eve of independence, one of its most powerful advo-
cates, John ADAMS, estimated that only one-third of the
country supported the patriot cause, with another third
supporting the Crown, and the rest remaining neutral,
hoping only to avoid harm.

The great concern among those supporting the pa-
triot cause was precedent. Colonists had seen how
Britain had treated other colonies, culling their wealth
for the benefit of the mother country, and drafting their
men for fighting in seemingly continuous wars with the
other European powers. By accepting the principle of di-
rect taxation without representation, the American
colonies would begin down this road. They would be-
come subservient to Britain, never full partners.

Brief chronology of the Revolution. Most historians con-
sider the real beginning of the war to be the battles of Lex-
ington and Concord. Boston patriots had stored a large
stash of arms and ammunition in Concord, and in April
1775, the military governor directed 700 British troops to
destroy the cache. Patriots were tipped off and assembled
to block the British. At Lexington, the troops met about
70 armed Patriots and demanded they disperse. No one is
sure who fired first, but the British shot 18 militiamen. The
remainder scattered. The British continued on to Concord
where they met further resistance. By this time, local farm-
ers had turned out and began shooting at the British, who
then retreated back to Boston. By the time they had re-
turned, 250 British had been killed or wounded.

The Second Continental Congress convened a
month later and declared war. George WASHINGTON was
appointed commander of the Continental Army. Al-
though Congress attempted to resolve the matter diplo-
matically, Britain refused to negotiate while violence
continued. A year later, in July 1776, Congress declared
the colonies to be “free and independent states.”

At the time Washington took command, the British
troops were concentrated in Boston, with American
troops in the surrounding hills. The British had captured
the nearby hills at great cost in the Battle of Bunker Hill.
The two sides had reached a standoff. Washington
needed artillery to take on the British effectively.

Fortunately for Washington, a small contingent of
patriots under Ethan Allen and Benedict Arnold had
captured Fort Ticonderoga in northern New York. Even
more impressively, these men dragged one hundred can-
nons through the wilderness to Boston. When the Amer-
icans put the cannon in place, the British retreated to
Canada without a shot fired.

The British next decided to take New York as a base
of operations. Washington’s Army took up the defenses

Modern day re-enactments celebrate the Revolution and its
unleashing of American economic ascent.

of New York, but his militia were quickly scattered by
the professional soldiers employed by the British. It was
a humiliating defeat from which Washington was lucky
to retreat with his army mostly intact. By the winter of
1776, the Continental Army had retreated through New
Jersey to Philadelphia. Continental soldiers were demor-
alized and planned to leave when their enlistments ended
at the end of the year. A desperate Washington planned a
surprise Christmas Day attack on the British and their
Hessian mercenary soldiers in Trenton and Princeton,
New Jersey. The resulting victory increased morale and
saved the Army from disbanding.

The British, however, pressed on, capturing Phila-
delphia. Nevertheless, a subsequent American victory at
Saratoga impressed the French sufficiently so that they
began to provide support to the American cause. The
French were still smarting from their losses to the British
a decade earlier, and saw an opportunity to regain influ-
ence over the continent by providing covert aid. By
1778, France made its support public and went to war
against Britain.

That same year, Washington’s victory at Monmouth,
New Jersey forced the British to retreat to New York
City. The British sent peace commissioners, promising
to end all taxation, but the Americans refused to end
hostilities unless the British were to recognize their in-
dependence.

In 1780, the British attempted to reclaim control of
the southern colonies by capturing Charleston. They
met with initial success, capturing thousands of Ameri-
can troops. However, American counter-attacks pushed
the British northward into Virginia. Finally, in 1781, the
British forces became trapped at Yorktown, Virginia,
surrounded by French and American troops and cut off
from the sea by the French Navy. General Cornwallis
surrendered his army, effectively ending hostilities. The
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following year, peace negotiations began in Paris, which
lead to agreements that were ratified in 1783.

The financing of the Revolution. With the battle cry “no
taxation without representation” and the colonies being
a disparate lot, levying taxes in order to finance the war
effort was neither technically nor politically possible. In-
stead, the American government used four methods to fi-
nance the war: printing money, borrowing money,
promising lands, and confiscating property, including
reneging (at least temporarily) on some obligations.

The Continental Congress issued approximately
$226 million in paper money, with the states issuing
roughly another $200 million. When, in 1780, Congress
devalued its currency at the rate of $40 of paper money
to $1 of specie, it still continued to print more virtually
worthless Continental dollars, giving rise to the expres-
sion “not worth a Continental.” Price limits set by Con-
gress caused people to refuse to sell or produce goods,
leading to even greater shortages.

To support its worthless paper money and to con-
tinue the cause, Congress sought loans from abroad.
France provided several loans and grants. Merchants in
the NETHERLANDS also provided loans. John ADAMS and
Benjamin FRANKLIN spent most of their time in Europe ei-
ther seeking loans or trying to defer repayment of past
loans. Such loans were very risky since the lender would
incur the wrath of Britain, the loans would not be repaid
if the Americans lost, and might not be repaid for some
time even if the Americans won. In the end, foreign loans
paid for only about eight percent of the war’s expenses.

Without anything of value to pay its troops, Con-
gress kept an army in the field with a series of promises.
Many soldiers enlisted with promises of hundreds of
acres of western land after the war. Toward the end of
the war, officers and men were promised generous pen-
sions for those who stayed with the army until the end.

Finally, Congress confiscated lands and other prop-
erty from Tories (British loyalists) who had fled the
country. All debts to British merchants prior to the war
were not paid, as well as debts incurred with others dur-
ing the war were deferred. Although private debts and
confiscated property was to be repaid as part of the
peace treaty, much of it was never recovered.

Despite all these measures, the Americans were regu-
larly at the point of desperation. Just before the Battle of
Trenton, Washington had to promise a $10 bounty, paid
in sterling, to keep many men from leaving when their en-
listments ended. This money came from the personal for-
tune of Robert Morris, a Philadelphia merchant and
financier, who became the head of the Continental Con-
gress’ finance committee. Morris used his personal credit
on numerous occasions to help bail out the cause. His
contacts and good reputation in the Netherlands were
also critical to receiving loans from neutral merchants.

The Continental Army almost never had sufficient
food or clothing, let alone arms and ammunition. On sev-
eral occasions, Washington had to put down mutinies of
soldiers who had faced too many deprivations.

Economic consequences of the Revolution. The colonies
had been net benefactors of the Crown, even just prior
to the Revolution. Consequently, early U.S. governments
had to impose much higher taxes and became much
more restrictive than the Crown had ever been. Indeed,
the monetary situation had become precarious. Financ-
ing the war by printing money had lead to a severe de-
preciation of the Continental dollar, ultimately to below
one percent of its face value. Moreover, outflows of
specie (gold) to finance the war had lead to a strong de-
flation (decrease in prices) that increased the burden on
all who owed money.

New England farmers, being heavily indebted, re-
volted in Shay’s rebellion. The rebellion gave added im-
petus to create a stronger national government, which
ultimately led to the drafting of a new Constitution of the
United States. The new Constitution, which allowed for
direct taxation of imports, finally gave Congress the abil-
ity to begin regular and reliable repayment on its debts.

American trade remained limited in part because
continuing wars between Britain and France prevented
unimpaired trade, even of neutral merchant vessels. De-
spite obstacles, however, over the next few decades, U.S.
merchant vessels expanded trade all over the world, tak-
ing a major role in world business.

With the stability created by the new Constitution
and westward expansion possible, these trade patterns
laid the foundation of significant economic growth and,
ultimately, the economic ascent of the United States.
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American Stock Exchange

THE AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE (Amex) is the
second largest stock exchange in the UNITED STATES, the
first being the NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE). The
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Amex is often defined in terms of its relationship with,
and distinction from, the N'YSE.

The Amex was originally called the New York Curb
Market (or simply, the Curb). The term originated from
the fact that the brokers once conducted their auctions
in the open air. Yet, in fact, the NYSE (then called the
New York Stock and Exchange Board) also originated
as an outdoor marketplace. However, the NYSE quickly
moved inside in 1792 after formalizing their organiza-
tion with the Buttonwood Agreement. The Amex traces
its roots to the curbstone brokers who did not sign that
agreement and who chose to remain outside to trade,
among themselves, stocks that were not traded on the
formal exchange. The practice of convening outside the
New York Stock Exchange to trade securities alongside
the curbs of Wall Street remained intact for more than a
century. Commenting on this long tradition of a lack of
a central marketplace, Wall Street historian Charles
Geisst credits the New York Curb Market as being the
forerunner of not just the Amex, but also the over-the-
counter market.

At first, the Curb and the NYSE competed for busi-
ness. Gradually, however, the two exchanges reached an
informal arrangement whereby the Curb established a
niche that did not directly encroach the NYSE’s terri-
tory. The Curb traded in securities that tended to be
smaller and less established than those traded on the
NYSE. The listing requirements for Curb stocks were
less stringent as well.

Besides dealing with a different type of clientele, the
curbstone brokers historically had a less aristocratic cul-
ture than that which prevailed at the private club-like at-
mosphere pervading the NYSE. Fewer members hailed
from prestigious families; in fact, many were immigrants
or children of immigrants who had come to the United
States with little money. In addition to this socioeco-
nomic difference, the curbstone broker group was more
religiously diverse than the mostly Protestant NYSE.
The Curb attracted a significant number of Jews and
Catholics, some of whom were able to rise to leadership
positions there.

Due to the above reasons, a certain bias existed that
the Curb was second in status to the NYSE. In the
1920s, Curb president Edward R. McCormick was de-
termined to elevate the reputation of the institution. In
1921, upon his urging, the Curb finally moved indoors
(more than a century after the NYSE). The move from
the street curbs to formal offices was a symbol of the
Curb’s newfound respectability.

At the same time, the Board members of the Curb,
inspired by McCormick’s leadership, tightened stan-
dards for member firm conduct. They also enforced
stricter listing standards. While these reforms were suc-
cessful in building the Curb’s image, the exchange re-
mained predominantly a place where smaller stocks

could be traded until they gained sufficient stature to ad-
vance to the more illustrious NYSE. As financial jour-
nalist Martin Mayer described it, the Curb functioned as
a “seasoning exchange,” which “took the stock of cor-
porations not large enough or national enough to qual-
ify for listing on the New York Stock Exchange.”

This pattern of firms listed on the Curb eventually
migrating to the NYSE diminished in the 1950s. This
time period, at least in the early years of the decade, may
be perceived as a Golden Age for the Curb.

Confident in President Dwight EISENHOWER’s ad-
ministration, American investors displayed heightened
interest in new industries, seeking unusual growth op-
portunities. This was a boom for the Curb due to its
specialization in trading securities of mid-size compa-
nies. Many of its listed firms now excited investor at-
tention because they seemed to be on the verge of major
success, propelled by technological advancements in
such fields as computers and television. During this
time, the Curb changed its name to the American Stock
Exchange, another effort to give the institution a more
solid and more national image. The newly amended
constitution of the American Stock Exchange, in 1953,
declared that “the purposes of this Association shall be
to provide a securities marketplace where high stan-
dards of honor and integrity shall prevail to promote
and maintain just and equitable principles of trade and
business.”

While the 1950s began as a time of hope and ex-
pansion for the Amex, the decade ended in crisis, as the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC) exposed
the illegal dealings of brokers Jerry Re and James
Patrick Gilligan. Bringing more disgrace to the Amex,
Edward T. McCormick, its president, was implicated in
this scandal and was forced to resign in 1961.

In the wake of the scandal, the Amex underwent a
series of reforms, led by Ralph Saul, Edwin Posher,
David Jacobs, among others. The exchange also under-
went modernization, as the Amex adapted new techno-
logical innovations to its trading procedures. This
paralleled a similar movement at the NYSE, which was
forced to prioritize computerization after the famous
“back office crisis” of the late 1960s, when the NYSE
became mired in paperwork resulting from increased
trading volume.

In the late 1960s and 1970s, Amex and NYSE offi-
cials often discussed the possibility of merging the two
exchanges. A merger, however, never took place because
it was clear to Amex officials that it would not be a
merger of equals, but rather, would be the submerging
of the junior Amex into the more senior NYSE.

In 1998, a combination did occur, but it was not be-
tween Amex and the NYSE. Rather, the parent company
of the NASDAQ purchased Amex and combined their
markets. Amex, though, continues to operate separately.
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Andorra

A TINY COUNTRY LOCATED in the Pyrenées moun-
tains between FRANCE and SPAIN, Andorra was origi-
nally created by Charlemagne in the 8th century to
serve as a buffer between Christian Europe and Muslim
Spain.

The traditional economy was based on subsistence
agriculture, especially sheep-raising. In the 20th century,
many Andorran farmers switched to growing tobacco
which proved to be more profitable. In the 1990s, the
economy of Andorra greatly benefited from a customs-
union agreement with the EUROPEAN UNION (EU) that
permitted it to sell duty-free items that it combined with
minimal sales taxes. Because of the appeal of shopping
(prices are as much as 40 percent lower than in neigh-
boring countries) and natural scenery, the primary basis
of Andorra’s economy is tourism, accounting for 80 per-
cent of employment and GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT
(GDP). Andorra also has had a strong banking sector.
Investors have been attracted by its strict privacy laws,
but these practices have come under criticism from for-
eign agencies seeking to crack down on under-regulated
tax havens.

The country is so small (468 square miles) that econ-
omist Simon KUZNETS once held it up as an example of
why scholars should not use nation states as the primary
units of economic research.
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Angell, Sir Norman (1872-1967)

RALPH NORMAN ANGELL LANE, journalist and
pacifist, used the pen-name Norman Angell. Author of
the most widely read anti-war manifesto of the early
20th century, Angell became the leading spokesman of
the “New Pacifist” movement and was awarded the
Nobel Peace Prize in 1933.

Born in Holbeach in northeastern England to a
prosperous commercial family and educated in FRANCE
and SWITZERLAND as well as his native country, Angell
spent nine years working in a variety of menial occupa-
tions in the UNITED STATES before drifting into journal-
ism. Returning to Europe in 1898, he settled in Paris and
rose to become editor of the continental edition of the
London Daily Mail. From this vantage point he ob-
served the dramatic escalation of international tensions
between GERMANY and its neighbors and the growth of a
seemingly uncontrollable arms race.

In 1909, Angell published an analysis of these de-
velopments, Europe’s Optical Tllusion, that after revi-
sion was reissued the following year under the title, The
Great Illusion.

The central argument of The Great Illusion was an
inversion of the Marxist proposition that the root causes
of war lay in competition between rival capitalist groups
seeking to enrich themselves by monopolizing foreign
markets and natural resources. Angell sought to show
that, to the contrary, modern warfare had become so ex-
pensive and economically disruptive that, even if suc-
cessful, the costs of a war of conquest would vastly
exceed the expected benefits. In a rapidly integrating
and interdependent world economy, territorial expan-
sion could offer no tangible or lasting commercial ad-
vantage to the victors.

War was therefore futile and obsolete, as was the pos-
session of colonies and the creation of exclusive trading
blocs. Upon the broadest possible recognition of these
truths depended the only possibility of averting a conflict
that threatened to wreck the continent of Europe. Angell’s
ideas were far from original, having been anticipated in
substance by the French essayist Jacques Novikow and
the Polish industrialist Ivan S. Bloch, among others.
Nonetheless, The Great Illusion enjoyed an immense
success, selling two million copies in 25 languages in the
years before the WORLD WAR 1. An extensive network of
clubs and societies dedicated to the spread of its doc-
trines sprang up throughout Europe and North America,
and Angell himself, abandoning journalism, embarked
upon a new career as a peace activist.

The rise of “New Pacifism” or “Norman Angel-
lism” met with mixed reactions from established pacifist
organizations. Some decried his appeal to material self-
interest rather than morality as the principal reason for
opposing war, condemning in particular his acceptance
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of the legitimacy of military establishments as a safe-
guard against aggression. Many others interpreted his
work to mean that armed conflict, being unprofitable,
had become economically impossible as opposed to self-
defeating, a misapprehension which Angell would spend
much of his life attempting to dispel.

A more serious criticism leveled against his work,
however, was that The Great Illusion spoke only to
those liberal Western elites who shared Angell’s assump-
tions about the desirability of preserving modern indus-
trial society in its existing form, and ignored the very
different priorities of extremists on both the Left and
Right who posed the chief threat to peace.

After the Great War (that Angell regarded as a vindi-
cation of his warnings), he joined the British Labor Party,
serving as Member of Parliament for North Bradford in
the short-lived MacDonald administration of 1929-31.
Although he quickly became disillusioned both with pol-
itics and with the Labor party, a knighthood in 1931
maintained him in the public eye, as did the award of the
Nobel Prize two years later. During the 1930s, Angell
campaigned energetically in support of the League of Na-
tions, advocating the creation of a more effective system
of collective security to check fascist expansionism. This
stance further alienated him from traditional pacifists,
while the outbreak of the WORLD WAR 1II seemed to con-
tradict his faith in the ability of rational self-interest to
counteract the forces militating in favor of armed con-
flict. Nevertheless, Angell remained active in publication
and pacifist activism almost to the end of his long life, by
which time he had produced no fewer than 42 books and
an immense volume of lesser writings on various aspects
of international affairs.
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annual report

ALL PUBLICLY TRADED COMPANIES, holdings,
mutual funds, public services, agencies, ministries, and
many private and public institutions have to publish
every year an annual report. In most cases, the annual
report is an institutional portrait, a means of commu-

nication, a synthesis of activities during the past 12
months, explaining in words, numbers and figures the
reasons behind the successes and failures of an organi-
zation or a company.

In order to be listed on a stock exchange, publicly
traded companies have to include in their annual reports
some specific elements: statistics and detailed financial
results according to specific rules edited by the govern-
ment, national trade commission, or commerce depart-
ment. This data includes sales, revenues, profits (or
losses in parentheses), earnings per share, cash flow,
capital spending, and balance sheet with assets. The
company has to explain where their stores (branches or
laboratories) are located, if new acquisitions were made
(or branches sold). The annual report has to state as well
the company’s dividend policy. There also has to be the
report of an independent auditor that confirms the com-
pany’s financial statements are accurate.

For a stock shareholder, an annual report will ex-
plain why the company he or she owns has grown or
not, succeeded or failed. It is therefore a way to check if
the company is well managed or not. For example, if
members of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS get bonuses even
during bad years, it will be indicated in the annual re-
port and a shareholder could possibly react or even
complain about that situation at the annual meeting,
that is usually held a few weeks after the annual report’s
release.

The message from the president, chair or CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER (CEOQ) is a key element, almost a telltale
story, in every annual report. In fact, these opening lines
are sometimes written by communication consultants or
marketing specialists, because they have to reassure and
even improve confidence for the stockholders (and the
public in general). This is the place where vague terms
such as “challenging year,” and “difficult environment”
are used in place of “bad results and problems” to de-
scribe the less-favorable economic context. Other, fre-
quent excuses for bad performance include unfavorable
currency conversion, weak demand, and an unstable
economic context. Optimism and confidence in the fu-
ture are unavoidable mottoes in the conclusion. This
means: “Please, stay with us!”

An annual report is an important part of a com-
pany’s image. It has to be well-written, elegant, appeal-
ing, impressing; it must inspire confidence, honesty,
wealth, prosperity. Employees and shareholders, as well
as members of the Board, have to look proud of their in-
stitution. The annual report not only includes informa-
tion about the company’s aims, balance sheet, financial
data; it features graphs, sometimes color photographs of
products, employees, members of the board of directors
and executive officers.

In the first pages of pharmaceutical manufacturer
MERCK’s annual report, we can see clear, regular graphs
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of the continuously rising sales, earnings, and dividend
payments over 10 years. Coca-Cola Enterprises’ annual
reports have become collectibles through the years be-
cause they feature classic photographs of Coke logos,
marketing products, and publicity. Berkshire Hathaway’s
annual report always includes a sage sermon from the
famous billionaire Warren Buffet. Luxurious annual re-
ports are not always done by the biggest or most flam-
boyant companies. AOLs annual reports (prior to its
merger with Time Warner) in 2000 and 2001 were plain
documents on thin paper, without any photographs or
embellishments.

As an annual report must explain what the com-
pany does, their brands, projects, goals, and guidance,
this information is especially useful when the company
does business dealing with scientific research, or any un-
common field difficult to explain to the general public.

If the company is traded on a stock market, its an-
nual report has to indicate many specific elements such
as where it is traded (name of the stock exchanges and
respective stock symbols), the number of shares out-
standing, and what were the highest and lowest levels of
the shares for each quarter in the last two years. It also
has to state the age and compensation for every member
of the board of directors, including their amount of stock
options earned for the company’s shares during the year.

For many stockholders, the annual report is the
source to check if the company is profitable, if its value
improves, if its shares deliver a higher dividend com-
pared to recent years. Then, according to these results,
the shareholder will or will not reconsider holding the
stock and might abandon it, either to cash out the capi-
tal gains that were made or to reinvest the remaining in-
vested amount in another stock.

Usually, an annual report can be obtained for free
from most companies; it is more and more possible to
find them on the internet and on the company’s own
web site. In order to receive a copy of a company’s an-
nual report, one has just to own one share; therefore,
the shareholder is considered as a co-owner of the com-
pany and is thus entitled to get legitimate information
about his or her company’s directors. An annual report
that is delayed, postponed, or re-stated automatically
raises suspicion among shareholders, the media, and
the public.
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anti-globalization

ANTI-GLOBALIZATION IS A TERM that refers to a
grassroots movement in opposition to the concentration
of economic and political power in transnational corpo-
rations and supranational institutions, such as the WORLD
TRADE ORGANIZATION (WTO) and the INTERNATIONAL
MONETARY FUND (IMF). These institutions are seen as
usurping some of the democratic decision-making powers
of ordinary citizens in more developed nations, and tak-
ing actions that lower the quality of life in all parts of the
world, but particularly in the less developed nations. It
would be simplistic to argue that the anti-globalization
movement is against the idea of a global economy. Many
of those involved in the movement promote closer eco-
nomic, political, and cultural ties between self-employed
artisans, collectives, and non-governmental organizations
across the globe. Some have worked for the development
of global grassroots markets for crafts, open pollination
seeds, and other goods. Thus, rather than broadly oppos-
ing global economic relationships, the movement is
against what its participants and supporters perceive as a
drift away from a more democratic economy.

The anti-globalization movement is comprised of a
diverse collection of organizations and individuals. The
movement is not guided by a coherent theoretical frame-
work or paradigm, nor is there general agreement on
strategies for either democratizing the globalization
process or reversing the trend toward the concentration
of political and economic power in transnational corpo-
rations and multilateral organizations. It is, instead, a
populist movement united as much by what it opposes
as by what it hopes to build. This is the reason it is pos-
sible for anarchists, environmentalists, socialists, and a
wide range of other marginalized political groups to co-
operate, despite significant differences in their underly-
ing philosophies.

In some very fundamental sense, the anti-globaliza-
tion movement is anti-capitalist. WTO, the IMF, and
transnational corporations are, in many ways, comple-
mentary institutions. The transnational corporations are
mostly industrial capitalist firms, dependent on wage la-
borers, or non-industrial firms with close relationships to
such industrial capitalist firms. It is the drive by such firms
to lower costs and to find new markets that drives the
globalization process that the anti-globalization move-
ment opposes. And WTO and the IMF help to break
down institutional barriers to such growth.

Transnational expansion. Capitalist firms expand geo-
graphically for a wide range of reasons. For example,
such firms may build facilities in a foreign country in
order to tap into low-cost inputs. The exploitation of
labor in poor countries has been of particular concern
to anti-globalization activists because it is understood



anti-globalization 33

that these firms may use existing authoritarian political
arrangements as a tool for guaranteeing cheap and com-
pliant labor. In many countries workers are not allowed
to organize into independent labor unions. Further, they
risk physical harm for speaking out against unfair labor
practices, and may be forced to work under feudal bond-
age conditions. Thus, what may be in the labor-cost-
minimizing interests of the transnational firm may not be
consistent with widely supported ideals of human rights
and equity. Labor unions based in the UNITED STATES, and
other more industrialized nations, have complained about
these problems, in part, because firms often shift existing
production and wage-labor jobs out of higher-cost areas
to lower-cost areas. This trend is not simply a transna-
tional issue. In the United Sates, thousands of jobs were
shifted from the higher-cost northern states to lower-cost
southern states. Now the southern states are losing jobs to
the so-called Third World countries.

In addition to reducing labor costs, other reasons
for the transnational firms to expand overseas opera-
tions include:

1. accessing subsidies or other special benefits provided
by a foreign government

2. improving access to the market in a specific foreign
country or related trading bloc partner countries

3. reducing foreign exchange rate risks
4. reducing total tax costs

5. reducing risk of disruption to operations due to coun-
try specific political risks, including labor disputes.

The globalization of the production process (creating a
“factory” that is geographically de-centered) weakens
the power of labor to organize itself, and the power of
sovereign states to police production practices, including
those relating to the health and safety of the workers,
strengthening transnational management’s control over
the globalized production processes.

Transnational corporations have, to some extent,
tried to shield themselves from criticism by investing in-
directly in foreign companies. These firms generally
have the option of either building their own facilities,
that are operated as integral parts of the parent com-
pany, or entering into joint ventures or subcontracts
with external firms, although often these subcontractors
are nothing more than loosely affiliated subsidiaries of
the parent company. Joint-venture agreements with ex-
ternal firms can include developing relationships with
state-owned enterprises, as is often the case with foreign
direct investment in China. Using subcontractors often
shields the parent company from accusations of abuse of
workers or other offenses related to the behavior of the
subcontractor.

However, it is becoming increasingly difficult for
transnationals to shield themselves in this way. The anti-
globalization movement has targeted certain transna-
tional firms, such as Nike, by exposing the links between
parent transnationals and subcontractors who engage in
unfair labor practices and pay wages that are considered
to be barely above subsistence. The negative publicity
can be harmful to the targeted company. This has
pushed many firms to alter their business practices.

Cultural imperialism. The anti-globalization movement
also includes critics of cultural imperialism, which fol-
lows globalization. By cultural imperialism they mean
that the United States, in particular, but also other West-
ern nations are imposing their cultural icons, language,
and way of life upon other peoples, leading to erosion in
the cultural diversity on the planet. These critics tend to
look at the cultural impact of globalization in only one
direction: the way the transnational corporation brings
“Western” culture into the environment where its for-
eign facilities are located.

However, when transnational firms expand to new
environments, the choice of location influences the fu-
ture culture of the transnational. Ex-pat, or foreign-
based managers will be changed by their experiences in
the country where facilities are located. The culture of
the company will be influenced by the interaction of
management with officials and others in the countries
where such facilities are located. Foreign managers and
workers will bring their own ideas into the corpora-
tion. Indeed, this is a powerful intangible benefit to
transnational corporations (and potentially to their
home countries). These effects are likely to be all the
stronger if the transnational acquires an existing firm
in another country. Cross-border mergers and acquisi-
tions are becoming more frequent. This is another out-
come of the speed-up of globalization: creating more
cultural diversity expands the range of ideas possible
within the firm, making it more likely the firm can
compete effectively in a global market. Research by the
American Management Association found a strong
correlation between diversity (different demographic
characteristics) of top management at corporations
and corporate performance (as measured by profitabil-
ity, productivity, and shareholder value creation). The
study of 1,000 firms provides support for the concept
that cultural diversity among top management can im-
prove corporate results and give genuinely multina-
tional firms an edge in competition with more culturally
homogeneous firms. If this is, indeed, the case then the
anti-globalization view of the transnational corpora-
tion as a carrier of Western hegemonic culture may
cease to be relevant.

Some of the other arguments against globalization
have included arguments that transnationals:
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1. typically wield greater political power than the gov-
ernments of the countries where they locate facilities,
reducing the degree to which such governments can
act independently of the wishes of the transnational

2. use their extraordinary economic and political power
to super-exploit local environmental resources and
the labor of local people, resulting in environmental
destruction and a decline in the quality of life for the
local population

3. come to dominate the local economies where they
locate facilities, resulting in greater vulnerability of
the local economy to shifts in transnational invest-
ment strategies.

The ability of transnationals to pull out their investment
(or, alternatively, to expand such investments) can have
a decisive impact on policy decisions by foreign political
leaders. It is clearly in the interest of transnationals to
wield as much influence as possible on the policies of
governments in nations and localities where they build
facilities or carry out operations. Such influence satisfies
both the desire to maximize the net present value of cor-
porate investments and the desire of corporate managers
to wield greater social and political power for status ac-
quisition or other personal gain.

The hegemony of transnationals over many national
governments is facilitated, and perhaps dramatically ex-
panded, by international trade agreements, such as
WTO, which severely constrain national sovereignty
and guarantee a more favorable environment for trade
and foreign direct investment. It is, in fact, the rapid ex-
pansion of the scope and reach of these international
agreements that has sparked both an explosion in inter-
national trade and economic relationships, as well as in
the anti-globalization movement. This is the reason the
anti-globalization coalition has organized demonstra-
tions targeted at cities where the WTO negotiations or
meetings were held in an effort to slow down, if not
stop, the process of extending these agreements into new
areas of local and national sovereignty.

The grassroots opposition to globalization is a
David against Goliath battle and the anti-globalization
activists are forced to rely primarily upon street demon-
strations and rhetoric. They argue that globalization is
having severe negative consequences in both the more
industrialized and less industrialized world, from dam-
age to the environment to lost jobs in the northern hemi-
sphere, and substandard wages and working conditions
in the southern hemisphere.

The globalization debate. However, supporters of glob-
alization counter with the argument that the increased
integration of national economies through investment
activities of transnational corporations and the increased

flow of global portfolio investments to domestic firms is
a key catalyst for more rapid economic growth in the
less industrialized world, as well as in the more devel-
oped economies. Indeed, it is argued that globalization
improves global equity because, in an open economic
environment, more investment will flow to the less in-
dustrialized economies (due to diminishing returns to in-
vestment) sparking rapid rates of economic growth. And
the accelerated growth in less industrialized economies
creates expanded markets for the output of the more in-
dustrialized nations. Everyone is better off, the argu-
ment goes, if global trading, manufacturing, and
financial relationships expand.

The problem with the above argument is that the evi-
dence does not support it. Growth in the less-industrialized
world has been rather spotty and largely concentrated in a
few countries. The supposed wonderful opportunities for
high rates of return in the poorest countries are either non-
existent or largely unexploited, despite increasingly favor-
able rules for foreign direct investment in many of these
countries. Some of the supporters of globalization have
given up and thrown in the towel on the idea that open
economies are sufficient to generate the necessary growth
in less developed nations. They have come to recognize
that more developed nations may, indeed, have advantages
that are reproduced over time.

Richer countries have better infrastructure (roads,
airports, seaports, telecommunications, etc.), more edu-
cated and healthy citizens, and a generally more favor-
able living environment than the poorer countries,
attracting the lion’s share of foreign direct investment,
particularly the most sophisticated forms of such invest-
ment (and the talents of many of the best educated citi-
zens born in the less industrialized world—the brain
drain). Is Intel likely to build its new manufacturing
plant in Mali or in Malaysia? Perhaps labor would be
cheaper in Mali, but Malaysia already has the necessary
infrastructure to support Intel’s plant. On the other
hand, it would be incorrect to assume that more ad-
vanced existing infrastructure is the determinant of lo-
cation choices for new investments. These decisions,
even when predominantly based on a net present value
decision, are functions of a wide range of economic, po-
litical, cultural, and environmental factors.

Other supporters of globalization (including Jeffrey
Sachs, arguably the leading intellectual voice in favor of
globalization) have argued that the evidence in favor of
more rapid growth rates in the poorer countries (“con-
vergence”) is much stronger than has been recognized.
They argue that the less industrialized economies with
poor growth records are those with the greatest impedi-
ments to open trade. In other words, globalization works
when it is allowed to work.

The anti-globalization movement is critical, both im-
plicitly and explicitly, of the tendency of social analysts,
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whether neoliberals, Marxian theorists, or institutional-
ists, to focus so much attention on government as the
sole subject of the economic growth story. Nevertheless,
the anti-globalization movement is particularly hostile to
the neoliberal/neoclassical point of view that capitalist
firms are, in the best of all possible worlds, benign forces
for economic growth and development. The anti-global-
ization leaders argue that transnational firms, financial
and industrial, grow in political, economic, and cultural
influence and power every day. And they also argue that
supranational (multilateral) institutions, like the IMF
and WTO, play an increasing role in directing public pol-
icy, both through direct interventions and through “jaw
boning” at the expense of democracy. The ability of local
governments to act independently is seriously con-
strained within this environment. Thus, many partici-
pants in the anti-globalization movement believe that
their struggle is ultimately a pro-democracy movement.
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antitrust

COMBATING BUSINESS MONOPOLIES and unfair
commercial practices, antitrust laws are designed to re-
strict business activities that constitute a threat to free-
market competition. Antitrust laws prohibit price fixing,
outlaw mergers that will interfere with competition, and
prohibit companies from using their economic power to
create or maintain a monopoly. While the UNITED STATES
was the first country to pioneer such laws, many coun-
tries have followed suit in adopting similar laws.

The years after the AMERICAN CIVIL WAR saw a dra-
matic increase in competition among businesses due in
large part to geographic expansion of business markets
and to technological innovations that boosted produc-
tivity. In order to successfully compete, American busi-
ness leaders, such as John D. ROCKEFELLER, began to
create larger firms by combining smaller firms. At first,
these larger businesses were in the form of CARTELSs, but

as the years went on the businesses became more fully
integrated, and by the 1880s were taking the forms of
trusts, holding companies, and outright mergers. The ef-
fect of these trusts was to increase prices and limit pro-
duction. By the late 1880s, public outcry against the
abuses by these trusts led to the passage of the Sherman
Antitrust Act in 1890.

Sherman Antitrust Act. Named for Senator John Sher-
man, an expert on the regulation of commerce, the
Sherman Antitrust Act has two sections. Section 1 states:
“Every contract, combination in the form of trust or
otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or com-
merce among the several States, or with foreign na-
tions, is hereby declared to be illegal.” Section 2 states:
“Every person who shall monopolize, or attempt to
monopolize . . . any part of the trade or commerce
among the several States, or with foreign nations, shall
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor.” The act is enforced
by the Department of Justice through litigation in fed-
eral court. Companies found in violation of the act can
be enjoined from continuing illegal practices. And if the
court determines that violations warrant it, the courts
can even dissolve the company. Violations are punish-
able by fines and imprisonment. The act also provides
for private parties injured by violations to seek civil
remedies, which can be upwards of triple the amount of
damages done to them.

The first case in which the U.S. Supreme Court inter-
preted the Sherman Antitrust Act was United States v.
E.C. Knight Co. (1895). This case stemmed from the E.C.
Knight Company gaining control of the American Sugar
Refining Company and thus enjoying a virtual monopoly
of sugar refining in America. In its decision, the Court
ruled against the government, finding that manufacturing
was a local activity not subject to regulation of interstate
commerce. Given the Court’s restrictive reading of anti-
trust law, there was very little enforcement of the Sherman
Antitrust Act in the decade or so after its passage.

As the turn of the century approached, the Supreme
Court began to apply the act in a variety of contexts—
first with regard to railroad cartels and then to a rash of
new mergers. This increase in application culminated
with the 1911 Supreme Court’s decisions in Standard
Oil Co. v. United States and United States v. American
Tobacco Co. In both these decisions, the Court found
that the Sherman Antitrust Act was violated and or-
dered the dissolution of the companies. However, these
decisions did not establish the proper general standard
to be applied. Rather, the court was divided over apply-
ing Justice Rufus W. Peckham’s versus Justice Edward
D. White’s reasoning. Justice Peckham’s reasoning,
which rejected any defense of “reasonableness,” con-
demned “per se” any agreement that directly and imme-
diately restricted competition and therefore trade in
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interstate or foreign commerce. While Justice White’s
reasoning, which was the standard applied in the Stan-
dard Oil and American Tobacco opinions, called for ap-
plying a “rule of reason.” Under the “rule of reason”
analysis only unreasonable restraint of trade is a viola-
tion of the Sherman Act.

The application of the “rule of reason” approach to
the Sherman Act allowed companies far more latitude in
their behavior and revitalized political debate over an-
titrust law. During the 1912 presidential race between
Theodore ROOSEVELT, William Howard TAFT, and
Woodrow WILSON the “rule of reason” approach was a
major issue. After Wilson’s election, efforts were made
to strengthen the Sherman Act, which in 1914 resulted
in the passage of the Clayton Antitrust Act and the Fed-
eral Trade Commission Act.

Clayton Antitrust Act. Named after its sponsor, Al-
abama congressman Henry De Lamar Clayton, the
Clayton Antitrust Act was specifically designed to ad-
dress the competitive dangers arising from price dis-
crimination, tying and exclusive-dealing contracts,
mergers, and interlocking boards of directors, where the
effect may be to substantially lessen competition or tend
to create a MONOPOLY in any line of commerce. The act
also forbade intercorporate stock holdings allowing one
company to gain control over another and affirmed the
right of unions to boycott, picket, and strike.

The provisions of the act specifically dealing with
labor issues limited the use of federal injunctions in
labor disputes and excluded unions from the restrictions
of antitrust regulations. The act permitted individual
suits for damages from discrimination or exclusive sell-
ing or leasing; and made corporation directors or offi-
cers responsible for infractions of antitrust laws. In
1936, the Robinson-Pateman Act strengthened Section 2
of the Clayton Antitrust Act. Both the Department of
Justice and the Federal Trade Commission enforce the
Clayton Act.

Federal Trade Commission Act. The Federal Trade
Commission Act of 1914 created the Federal Trade
Commission (FTC), whose basic objective is to promote
free and fair trade competition in the American econ-
omy. The FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION was given power
to investigate suspected violations of law, hear evidence,
and issue cease-and-desist orders when illegal activities
have been proven. Under the Clayton Antitrust Act the
FTC also hears appeals. Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act declares that “unfair methods of com-
petition in commerce are hereby declared unlawful.” A
1938 amendment extended the prohibition to include
“unfair or deceptive acts or practices in commerce,”
whether or not in competition. Only the FTC can en-
force Section 5 of the Act.

The FTC also provides guidance to business and in-
dustry on what is allowable under the law; and gathers
and makes available to Congress, the president, and the
public information on economic and business condi-
tions. The FTC consists of five commissioners, one of
whom serves as Chair, appointed for seven-year terms
by the president, with the advice and consent of the U.S.
Senate. No more than three commissioners may be
members of the same political party.

As America’s economy prospered in the years after
the passage of the Clayton Antitrust and the Federal
Trade Commission Acts, and through the 1920s, Amer-
icans were less concerned with anti-competitive behav-
ior, and, in fact, had begun to accept the Progressive
Era’s increased level of economic concentration. With
the stock market crash of 1929, though, American con-
fidence in business and in the health of the American
markets collapsed. Initially, the government’s reaction
was to expand business cooperative efforts under the
National Industrial Recovery Act, however the Supreme
Court in Schechter Poultry Corporation v. United States
(1935) ruled this act to be unconstitutional.

Due in part to an economic downturn in 1937 and
concerns regarding the growth of European cartels, as
well as to recent economic scholarship arguing that con-
centrated markets were a contributing factor in trou-
bling economic performance, the late 1930s began to see
a significant increase in federal antitrust activity. These
increased efforts did not reduce the levels of economic
concentration that occurred in the early 20th century,
but they did establish a bipartisan commitment to a
greater level of antitrust activity than had been seen in
the years before the NEW DEAL.

Rule of reason reversal. In 1945, the Supreme Court in
United States v. Aluminum Company of America reversed
its stance regarding the “rule of reason” analysis and
found that the size and structure of a corporation were
sufficient grounds for antitrust action. In his landmark
opinion, Justice Billings Learned Hand found that evi-
dence of greed or lust for power was inessential; mo-
nopolies were unlawful, even if they resulted from
otherwise unobjectionable business practices.

As Hand wrote, “Congress did not condone ‘good
trusts’ and condemn ‘bad ones;’ it forbade all.” While
the ruling established that both dominant market power,
and its acquisition or maintenance through wrongful
conduct, were distinguishable from competition on the
merits, both were needed to establish a monopoly under
the Sherman Antitrust Act, the decision limited the
range of conduct deemed to be mere skill, foresight, and
industry. Through this decision, the Court established a
two-element test that would be followed for years to
come, but otherwise left the concept of monopolization
open to question.
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After its decision in United States v. Aluminum Com-
pany of America, the Supreme Court greatly increased its
application of per se rules to condemn certain collective
agreements, such as price-fixing and output limitation,
as well as to condemn vertical restrictions, such as resale
price maintenance restrictions and manufacturer im-
posed restrictions on dealers’ geographic territories and
customers. The Court also established a “partial” per se
test that condemned most tying arrangements that con-
ditioned the purchase of a desired good on the simulta-
neous purchase of a second, different good. Though
sympathetic toward dealing agreements that required a
purchaser to deal exclusively in a particular manufac-
turer’s brand, the Court declared that such agreements
were illegal whenever they threatened to “foreclose” a
substantial share of market sales.

Partly because the Clayton Antitrust Act’s anticom-
petitive merger clause only applied to stock and not
market acquisitions, as well as only to horizontal merg-
ers and not vertical or conglomerate mergers, the
Supreme Court’s merger decisions in the years after the
New Deal were in favor of large acquisitions. This,
along with concerns regarding renewed economic con-
centration, led to the Celler-Kefauver Act of 1950.

This act strengthened the Clayton Antitrust Act,
specifically Section 7, by prohibiting one company from
securing either stocks or physical assets of another firm
when the acquisition would reduce competition. The Act
also extended coverage of antitrust laws to all forms of
mergers whenever the effect would substantially lessen
competition and tend to create a monopoly. By the
1960s, the Supreme Court had reversed its approach to
mergers and was even ruling against mergers that might
lead to cost savings and lower consumer prices.

In the mid 1970s, due to, among other things, a de-
cline in support for government regulation, new eco-
nomic analysis that argued for the efficiency-enhancing
potential of horizontal and vertical agreements, and in-
creased foreign imports that were heightening the com-
petitiveness of American markets, the Supreme Court’s
approach to antitrust enforcement began to evolve. In
Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc. (1977), the
Supreme Court overturned its per se condemnation of
nonprice vertical restrictions on dealers and found that
such restraints often generated greater increases and
benefits than competition among brands. The Court
also began to reapply the “rule of reason” approach to
the evaluation of horizontal agreements and to look to
whether gains in efficiency offset the specific anti-com-
petitive behavior in question.

Less restriction. The Supreme Court’s approach to
mergers also began to become less restrictive. In United
States v. General Dynamics Corp. (1974), the Supreme
Court determined that a deeper economic assessment of

the likely competitive impact of an acquisition was
needed before a merger could be declared illegal. In the
years since, the Justice Department has revised its
merger guidelines to emphasize the possible economic
benefits a merger might have and has established much
higher thresholds for antitrust challenges to mergers
than were previously required. One example of the
changing approach to mergers is the telecommunica-
tions industry.

In 1984 the government determined that the Amer-
ican Telephone & Telegraph Company (AT&T) was in
violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act and broke the
company up into several smaller, regional telecommuni-
cation companies (“baby bells”). In the years since many
of these “baby bells” have merged back together with
the government’s approval.

The approach to monopolization issues has contin-
ued to remain unsettled. In Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen
Highlands Skiing Corp. (1985) the Supreme Court held
that in the absence of any plausible efficiency justifica-
tion a dominant firm could not severely hamper a
smaller competitor by discontinuing a long-established
cooperative marketing arrangement. With the govern-
ment’s 1982 dismissal of its longstanding suit against the
International Business Machines (IBM) and the 1984 di-
vestiture of AT&T, the federal government did not initi-
ate any major monopolization cases for many years.
This changed in 1998 when the Justice Department,
along with 20 state attorney generals, filed an antitrust
suit against the MICROSOFT Corporation.

The Microsoft suit. The Microsoft suit alleged that Mi-
crosoft had used monopoly power to restrict competi-
tion and maintain its strong market position. Microsoft
countered by insisting that its policies had benefited con-
sumers. Initially focused on the contention that Mi-
crosoft had improperly attempted to gain control of the
internet browser market to the disadvantage of
Netscape, the case grew to include broader allegations
of anti-competitive behavior on the part of Microsoft. In
2000, United States District Court Judge Thomas P.
Jackson determined that Microsoft “enjoys monopoly
power” and that “some innovations that would truly
benefit consumers never occur for the sole reason that
they do not coincide with Microsoft’s self-interest.” In
his final ruling Judge Jackson decreed that Microsoft
should be split into two companies. Microsoft appealed
the decision, and in 2001 a federal appeals court over-
turned the breakup order but agreed that Microsoft had
abused its monopoly power.

Several full or partial exemptions are permitted
under the provisions of antitrust law, including agricul-
ture marketing cooperatives, export associations, labor
unions, and major league baseball. In 1970, Curt Flood
with the backing of the Major League Players Associa-
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tion sued Major League Baseball, challenging the re-
serve clause, which gave the St. Louis Cardinals the
right to trade him without his permission. Flood lost his
case, but his suit paved the way for the abolishment of
the reserve clause and the institution of free agency.
Other than baseball, no professional sports league is ex-
empt from antitrust law. In the early 1980s, Al Davis
owner of the Oakland Raiders wanted to move the
football team to Los Angeles, but was blocked from
doing so by league owners. Davis sued the National
Football League on antitrust grounds and won, thus
paving the way for numerous moves of sports teams
from city to city.

International antitrust laws. Internationally, it was not
until after WORLD WAR 1 that other countries began to
embrace antitrust regulation. In 1948, Britain created a
Monopolies and Restrictive Practices Commission and
in 1956 it passed a Restrictive Trade Practices Act.
Other countries to pass antitrust regulations since 1945
include AUSTRIA, DENMARK, FRANCE, GERMANY, IRELAND,
and SWEDEN. After the collapse of communism, both
POLAND and RUSSIA passed similar regulations. However,
for much of the second half of the century japaN did not
have any antitrust regulations. Only after the mid-
1990s financial crisis in Asia did Japan adopt some an-
titrust reforms.

With the spread of globalization there has been a
significant lowering of international trade barriers and
with it an increase in corporate mergers. Debate con-
tinues over the level of need and effectiveness of an-
titrust protection, with some arguing that businesses
can best respond to their customer’s needs if left alone
and others arguing that vigilant application of antitrust
law is essential to protect competition. In the years to
come, antitrust law and theory will continue to evolve
and adapt to the changing economic and global trends
of the 21st century.
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AOL Time Warner

RANKED NUMBER 37 in 2002 on the Fortune maga-
zine Global 500 list of the largest companies in the
world, AOL Time Warner is the leading entertainment
company in the world. The company is the result of sev-
eral layers of mergers, and its holdings extend through-
out the entertainment industry.

The earliest components of AOL Time Warner,
Warner Bros. (a motion picture company founded 1918),
and Time Inc. (publisher of Time magazine, incorporated
in 1923), stuck to their respective fields through the 1980s:
Time Inc. diversifying only into print holdings, while
Warner Bros. expanded mainly into film companies. The
two companies merged and became Warner Communi-
cations in 1986, the same year that America Online, an
internet service provider began operations. Warner Com-
munications merged in 1996 with Turner Broadcasting
System, a company of cable television networks (such as
CNN and TBS) owned by Ted Turner. America Online,
meanwhile, became the dominant internet provider and
continued to acquire internet companies, most notably the
web browser company Netscape in 1999. In 2001, Amer-
ica Online (which had grown to 27 million customers)
merged with Warner Communications, and the new com-
pany was titled AOL Time Warner.

AOL Time Warner’s operations extend across the
entertainment industry. All told, AOL Time Warner
holdings include (in addition to those listed above) book
publishing companies (most notably Little, Brown and
Company and Warner Books), over 35 magazines (in-
cluding Sports Illustrated and Entertainment Weekly),
several film studios (New Line Cinema among them),
over a dozen cable television networks (including HBO,
BET, and the myriad of Turner networks), several music
labels (including Atlantic and Electra), DC Comics, and
several sports teams. The conglomerate also owns a
number of television network affiliates, a large cable tel-
evision company, and its own television network.

One impetus for the merger from AOLs point of
view was to provide potential programming for its in-
ternet service; of particular interest was AOLs ability to
stream Time Warner properties over its high-speed
(broadband) internet service in the future. As is, the vast
holdings of AOL Time Warner allow for marketing to
apply synergy (a product being marketed simultaneously
on several media) on a vast scale. For instance, any fu-
ture movie in the Batman franchise could be cross pro-
moted with a corresponding DC comic, a show on the
Cartoon Network, a book adaptation published by Lit-
tle, Brown & Company, a soundtrack released on At-
lantic Records, and a film rebroadcast on HBO,
promoted in Time Warner Cable advertisements. All
products in such a scheme would be produced by AOL
Time Warner-owned companies.
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AOL Time Warner has not, however, performed ac-
cording to financial expectations, and the company
posted a $5 billion deficit for 2002. AOL Time Warner
stocks have similarly dropped by a significant amount.
Industry analysts argue that AODs stock prior to the
merger was severely overvalued, and indeed AOL has
been accused of artificially inflating its value as early as
1996 by spreading out member acquisition costs over
several years rather than when the expenses actually oc-
curred. As of 2003, AOL’s accounting practices are
under investigation by the SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COM-
MISSION (SEC). These financial uncertainties led to AOL
Time Warner chairman Steve Case (who was AOL
chairman before the merger) to resign in 2002.

AOL Time Warner’s economic strategy as of 2003 is
based around increased cross-promotion on their inter-
net service. Time magazine is advertising on AOL, as are
Warner movies and the pay cable HBO service; this
cross-selling is expected to benefit from AOL’s domi-
nance of the internet market. However, the original
grand synergistic plans envisioned by the merger of
AOL and Time Warner still elude the company, and
some observers wonder whether convergence is ever
possible. Indeed, the company ended up in 2003 drop-
ping the AOL part of its name, thus reverting to one of
its original names, Time Warner.
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Aquila

HEADQUARTERED IN Kansas City, Missouri, Aquila,
Inc., owns electricity and natural gas distribution sys-
tems in the UNITED STATES, CANADA, UNITED KINGDOM,
and AUSTRALIA. Aquila also owns and operates power
plants in the United States.

The company began in 1917 as Green Light and
Power Company. For the next half century, the re-
named Missouri Public Service (MPS) operated as a
state-regulated public utility distributing gas and power
in the state.

In 1985, Aquila (then UtiliCorp United) purchased
Peoples Natural Gas, a gas distribution company with
operations in five states. PSI, a small wholesale natural
gas marketing company within Peoples, was renamed
Aquila Energy. Aquila’s profitable gas trading in the
short-term “spot” market led to the creation of risk-
management products to serve the long-term market.
Aquila was following the lead of ENRON and other com-
panies anxious to diversify away from regulated rates of
return, and into lucrative new areas.

Aquila added electricity to its portfolio in the mid-
1990s, making a market between regulated utilities and
volatile energy markets. Aquila soon became, in indus-
try parlance, a “total gas and power risk merchant and
energy solution provider.” UtiliCorp changed its name
to the better known Aquila in 2002.

In the late 1990s Aquila began building power
plants in response to rising electricity prices. Aquila’s
leveraged “merchant” plants were not backed by long-
term purchase contracts but short-term power prices.

When power prices began to fall in mid-2001,
Aquila was hurt in three ways. First, trading margins
were squeezed by reduced volatility. Second, the cash
flow and capital value of merchant power plants plum-
meted. Third, the company’s credit worthiness fell below
the grade needed to support its trading books.

Bad investments were also part of the overall prob-
lem. Aquila, like other high-flying energy marketers,
structured deals that accelerated revenue that was then
invested as VENTURE CAPITAL. As Aquila’s telecommuni-
cations investments soured, the company was left with
its energy contract obligations but less cash flow to
cover them.

Aquila embarked on asset sales and closed its U.S.
and European trading operations in 2002. The market
value of Aquila, which peaked at $4.3 billion in May
2001, had fallen 95 percent to under $300 million as of
first quarter 2003. With much learned, Aquila has re-
turned to its roots as a gas and electric utility.
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Arab nationalism

A SOCIO-HISTORIC FRAMEWORK to define a col-
lective identity, Arab nationalism enunciates a shared
ethos and imagines a pan-ethnic moral, intellectual, cul-
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tural and political unity among the 22 Arab countries.
Gamal Abdel Nasser, one of its principal exponents saw
it as a “dawn after a terribly long night,” a “genuine
spiritual unity,” and “a solidarity emanating from the
heart.” It was designed to repulse imperialist aggression
but also to “shun extremism” from the political or reli-
gious left and the right.

Scholars differentiate between four overlapping la-
bels: Arabism, Arab nationalism, Arab unity, and Arab
world. The first refers to a unique cultural personality
born of Arab language, memory, and imagination and
privileged by Islamic and pre-Islamic Arab values, sym-
bols, and ideals; the second refers to a group solidarity,
national solidarity, and regional solidarity; the third
refers to a timeless affinity expressed through corporate
forms and concrete manifestations of solidarity aimed at
region-wide interest aggregation and interest maximiza-
tion “within,” to use Ahmed Ben Bella’s words, “a uni-
fied framework of unified tendencies;” and the fourth
refers to a self-contained universe of discourse and ac-
tion complete with its own cosmology, ontology, and
epistemology, on the one hand, and its own architecture,
language, literature, myth, poetry, food, dress, music,
and more, on the other.

All four concepts are underpinned by a common be-
lief that as a culturally homogeneous people, Arabs
could realize their potential only by turning themselves
into a single political entity. And such a transformation
could be achieved through self-conscious adoption of
Arab-Islamic values, symbols, heroes, texts, and norms
which furnish a framework to conceptualize both Arab
unity and Arab nationalism, and by making Arabs
aware of their own creative capacities and the spiritual
and intellectual essence of their own existence.

Social, political, and intellectual antecedents. In a large
measure, Arab nationalism was a product of the age of
COLONIALISM. However, the rise of Arab nationalism was
not just a label for struggles against Ottomans, Euro-
peans, or the Zionists; it resulted from the convergence
of many socio-historic factors and efforts of numerous
institutions, movements, and intellectuals working for
cultural, social, political, and ideological revival of the
“Arab soul.”

It was actually a unique blend of nationalism, anti-
imperialism, SOCIALISM, modernism, and international-
ism. Rooted in multifarious responses to colonization
and foreign domination, social backwardness, and eco-
nomic stagnation; and further motivated by need for
modernization, internal reform, strategic depth and in-
ternational esteem, Arab nationalism was accentuated
by convergence of religious and cultural revivalists, on
the one hand, and by Israeli occupation of Arab lands,
on the other. It arose and was widely accepted as an ide-
ology of self-empowerment with the promise of rejuve-

nating the Arab mind, heart, and soul. In sum, it re-
sulted from the convergence of efforts aimed at over-
throwing colonialism, resisting imperialism, and seeking
religious reform, modernization, self-empowerment, in-
tellectual renaissance, and material development.

In the final analysis, it was an ideology of a region
and not of a single nation-state. The history of Arab na-
tionalism is a history of building regional unity and then
seeking inter-regional cooperation; the non-aligned
movement being a monumental example of that spirit of
reaching out to other groups and peoples. Ali Mazrui
has perceptively pointed out: “European Nationalism
generally has had a pervasive influence on much of the
Third World, including the Arab world. . . . It was not
the Arabs, however, but the Jews who rejected the idea
of Arabs and Jews living together in a united Palestine.”

Arab wa Ajam. On one of its many contours, Arab na-
tionalism seeks to recover and restore the original “pu-
rity” of Arab identity, culture, and religion along with
the authenticity of its freedom and independence. To
that end, the concept of Arab wa Ajam, Arab and non-
Arab, is applied to sift and separate un-Islamic ideas, be-
liefs, values and practices from the genuinely Islamic
ideas, beliefs, values, and practices. The historical fact
that Prophet Muhammad was an Arab, that Islam was
revealed first to Arabs, and that the Qu’ran was revealed
in the Arabic language, created a high degree of co-ex-
tensiveness, indistinguishability and inseparability, be-
tween Islam and Arabism. And thus recovery of pristine
and unadulterated Islam became synonymous with
shedding of all Ajami, non-Arab, ideas and influences.
Thus the religious purists became inadvertent allies of
Arabism.

While religious theorists were seeking to separate
Arab thought and belief from non-Arab thought and
belief, the political thinkers and theorists were seeking
to unify, first, Muslim and Christian Arabs, and, then,
through the non-aligned movement, Arabs with other
newly independent nations. As, inspired by Elijah
Muhammad, many African-Americans saw Islam as
one more, albeit historic, dimension of black national-
ism, Arab nationalists saw it as a key dimension of
Arab nationalism, identity and ideology. It is in this
context, that a number of Christian Arabs, ranging
from Michel Aflak to Edward Said to Clovis Muksoud,
have talked of being “Muslim by culture.”

Understandably, Arab unity was the main theme
around which the Arab nationalist narrative was organ-
ized. But, for sure, that was not the only theme. Other
themes included de-colonization, liberation, independ-
ence, freedom, equality, and individual and collective
dignity. In sum, this ideological edifice was built on the
five pillars of unity, democracy, socialism, industrializa-
tion, and progress.
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Each of these public values and goals, it was argued,
necessitates specific groundwork. Unity presupposes
mutual understanding, respect and trust, as democracy
presupposes elimination of FEUDALISM and sectarianism.
It was obvious to the exponents that democracy will not
succeed, as long as voters are controlled by landlords or
are themselves motivated by tribal, religious, or regional
considerations. The task of Arab nationalism was to
help the Arab nation overcome these impediments.

Since the material conditions in the Middle East
were significantly different than Europe, the task of
building a real and consequential socialist movement
also had to be different. Here, the term “socialism” was
used to invoke socially sanctioned conceptions and
norms of social justice in the Arab-Islamic context.
However, it required transforming ideological affinities
from tribes and communities to classes and institutions
and movements. This had the inherent difficulty of call-
ing for an overall Arab unity and then asking the Arab
masses to struggle against some of those with whom
they had just been asked to form a fraternal bond.

Progress was perceived in both material and intel-
lectual terms. Promoted as a positive and a forward-
looking approach to life, this public value was to
inculcate a spirit of self-reliance based on a rational out-
look on life and a scientific approach to socio-economic
problems. Industrialization was to be the engine of this
progress but not at the cost of Arab identity, so one had
to strive for industrialization without westernization.

Nasserism. The more prominent among those who had
articulated and popularized the cause of Arab national-
ism included Sharif Husayn (1859-1931), Zaki al-Arsuzi
(1899-1968), Abd al-Rahman Shahbandar (1879-1940),
Michel Aflak (1910-89), Salah al-Din al-Baytar
(1912-80), and Gamal Abdel Nasser (1918-70).

For many, Nasserism, named after Nasser, one of
the foremost theoreticians and practitioners of Arab na-
tionalism, was simply another name for Arab national-
ism. Nasser, described by one biographer as “a man of
ice and fire,” believed that EGYPT’s historical destiny was
defined by three concentric circles: Arab, African, and
Islamic. “There is no doubt,” Nasser had emphasized,
“that the Arab circle is the most important and the most
closely connected with us.” The fourth circle of NON-
ALIGNMENT and THIRD WORLD INTERNATIONALISM was to
emerge in Nasser’s thought and Egypt’s foreign policy at
a later date.

In his speech on “Rise of Arab Nationalism” in the
Indian Parliament on August 14, 1958, Jawaharlal
Nehru, the prime minister of INDIA, and one of the most
astute participant-observers of 20th-century national
liberation movements, expressed his support for Arab
nationalism by arguing that it represents “the urge of
the people” who are “trying to push out this foreign

domination.” Complimenting Nasser for his able lead-
ership and for having become “the most prominent
symbol of Arab nationalism,” Nehru observed that
Arab nationalism had become a “dominant force” in
the region and must be treated with respect and dignity
by Europeans.

Though Nasser had paid lofty tributes to Shukry
Al-Kuwatly and called him “the first protagonist and
herald of Arab nationalism after the Great Egyptian
Revolution,” it is he, Nasser, who became the most
widely known leader, symbol, and spokesperson of this
cause. In reflecting on the meaning and significance of
Arab unity, Nasser told the Egyptian National Assem-
bly on February 5, 1958: “The Arab unity goes back to
time immemorial. For this unity existed from the very
beginning of the Arab nation’s existence, grew on the
same soil, lived through the same events, and moved
toward the achievement of the same aims, so when our
nation was able to lay down the base of its existence in
the area, and to affirm them, it was certain that unity
was rapidly approaching.”

It was only though Nasser and his colleagues among
the Free Officers (an organization formed to defeat neo-
colonialism, end feudalism, liquidate monopolies, insti-
tute strong defense, establish social justice, and
introduce democracy) that the various streams of Ara-
bism became the mighty river of Arab nationalism.

Nasser argued that this unity was built upon many
layers of history: first it was achieved through the “force
of arms at the time when arms were the means by which
humanity in its infancy made itself understood,” then it
was confirmed by holy prophecies; third, it was rein-
forced by the “power of faith” under the banner of
Islam, and fourth, it was further cemented by “the inter-
action of various elements in a singly Arab nation.”

For Nasser the true nature of Arab nationalism was
clearly demonstrated “when the Christianity of the Arab
Orient joined the ranks of Islam to battle the Crusaders
until victory.” While Arab nationalism became the dom-
inant ideology of the region, Nasserism became its dom-
inant form during the second half of the 20th century.
For Nasser the primary unit of thought was region and
not an individual country. He saw Middle Eastern coun-
tries as so many ingredients for the unified Arab nation
and his goals were internal unity, reform, revival, em-
powerment, and prosperity.

Arab nationalism and Islam. Arab nationalism had a
complex, intricate, mutually enhancing, and mutually
delimiting relationship with Islam. Interestingly, Christ-
ian Arabs played a prominent role in articulating Islam
as the defining essence of the high Arab culture and a
factor common to all Arabs. Michel Aflak, a Christian
Arab, believed that once the Arab Christians “were
awakened to their true identity, Islam would become for
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them ‘a national culture’ and an expression of their liv-
ing heritage.”

Though at one level, Arab nationalism was an at-
tempt to link Islamic culture with pre-Islamic Arab her-
itage, ranging from Mesopotamia to Babylon and
Nineveh, and from legal codes of Hammurabi to the po-
etic vision of the Saba Mualaqat (the seven great poets),
and though many scholars have discussed the dialectical
link between Islamic reform—a cultural revolution of
sorts to rid Islam of various distortions and contamina-
tions—and Arab nationalism, yet the movement for
pan-Arabism was not a movement for pan-Islamism.
Actually, the two became rival movements in the Middle
East. In the 1960s, Egypt and SAUDI ARABIA were com-
peting for the leadership of the Arab world, first
through the civil war in Yemen, and later through the
rival ideologies of pan-Arabism and pan-Islamism.

In fact, the popularity of pan-Islamism in the Mus-
lim world during the 1980s and 1990s, accelerated by
the Islamic revolution in IRAN and the war against Soviet
invasion and occupation of AFGHANISTAN, had coincided
with the decline if not demise of Arab nationalism in the
Middle East. Arab nationalists see Islam as a culture,
more than as a religion, and thus feel intellectually and
morally consistent in asserting their profound admira-
tion and even celebration of Islam while professing a
secular creed.

One task for Arab nationalist was to renegotiate po-
litical geography by shifting centers of hope and inspira-
tion from foreign lands to the heart of Arabia. Al-Husri
has suggested that in being a project of unifying all—
Muslim and Christian—Arabs, the exponents of Arab
nationalism, had to steer Muslims away from the Ot-
tomans and Christians and their European power.

Arab nationalism and capitalism. Despite the general-
ized focus of many Arab states on economic develop-
ment through heavy investment in the public sector and
despite the avowed sympathy of Arab nationalists for
different varieties of non-Marxian socialism (including
Michel Aflak’s Arab socialism, and Habib Bourghiba’s
constitutional socialism) and non-capitalist paths to de-
velopment, Arab states always remained open to capi-
talism, and followed capitalist principles in banking,
TRADE, investment, MARKETING, and management. An
important consequence, flowing from both Arab na-
tionalism and non-alignment, was the public attitude to-
ward foreign aid. Though it is impossible to generalize
the economic and fiscal policies of 22 Arab countries,
which exhibited significant differences among them-
selves, the public attitude toward foreign aid, particu-
larly from previous colonizers, such as the UNITED
KINGDOM and FRANCE, as well as other capitalist coun-
tries such as the UNITED STATES, was one of caution and
careful negotiation. Other significant policy implications

included land reforms, (subsequent enfranchisement of
peasants), preferential trade relations with Arab and
African countries, and knowledge and technology trans-
fer from the socialist bloc.

Critical evaluation. Arab nationalism has been criti-
cized from three perspectives: Western, Religious, and
Nationalist.

Some Western powers saw it as an attempt to re-
place the Ottoman Empire with a nascent Arab empire.
Responding to the western critics of Arab nationalism,
Nehru said: “It was said that some kind of an Arab em-
pire was being built up, which was dangerous. I do not
know about the future, but I see no empire, much less an
Arab empire.”

While Muslim religious leaders equated it with sec-
ularization of the Islamic creed, critical secular thinkers
saw it saddled with the under-development and incom-
petence of Arab ruling elites, a nascent bourgeoisie, and
a sprawling petty-bourgeoisie. In addition, it was seen as
handicapped by both internal and external factors in-
cluding tribalism, despotism, illiteracy, single-commod-
ity economies, emergence of rentier states, and crafty
manipulations of western oil companies and multina-
tional corporations.

Future prospects: Neo-Arabism. At the dawn of the 21st
century, PALESTINE has become the central focus of Arab
nationalism and has brought a sense of urgency and
global visibility to its cause, yet the future of Arab na-
tionalism remains uncertain. It remains uncertain in
terms of its direction, goals and strategies, and moral-
philosophical orientations. Those matters, it may be safe
to say, will be decided in part by the ability of the Arab
nations to respond to the long-standing challenges of
modernity and post-modernity, particularly challenges
in the areas of social reform, democracy, gender equal-
ity, rule of law, human rights, and social justice. Tt will
also depend on increased rates of literacy, knowledge ac-
quisition, technology transfer, infrastructural develop-
ment, conflict management and conflict resolution.
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arbitrage

THE PURCHASE AND immediate sale of an asset or a
commodity to reap a guaranteed instant profit from the
difference in their respective prices is known as arbi-
trage. People who engage in arbitrage are called arbi-
trageurs. The concept of arbitrage is very closely related
to the law of one price, which states that in competitive
markets identical assets or commodities should have the
same price. If prices are different, then there is an op-
portunity for arbitrage and arbitrageurs will trade,
equalizing the prices.

Consider the following example. Let us look at the
price of gold, usually measured as the price of a standard
quality of one ounce of gold. Assume that the price of
gold in New York is $250 per ounce and the price of the
same quality of gold in Los Angeles is $300 per ounce.
This implies that there exists a price differential and
someone can potentially gain profit by buying gold in
New York and selling it in Los Angeles. If the trans-
portation cost is $3 per ounce, each time you buy gold in
New York and sell in Los Angeles, you make a profit of
$47 per ounce. In this example there is no risk associated
with this trade as long as the prices do not change while
you are transporting gold. However, in some cases you
can even avoid this risk by signing a contract with some-
one in Los Angeles that you will sell gold in the future at
a specific price which is agreed upon today. Additionally
if you can delay payment when you buy gold from New
York, you will gain a guaranteed profit without taking
any risk at all. This is called pure risk-less arbitrage.

As more traders buy gold from New York, the in-
creased demand for gold will drive up gold prices in
New York. Similarly, an increase in supply will put a
downward pressure on gold prices in Los Angeles. Prices
in both markets will continue to move as long as the
price in New York is lower than the price in Los Angeles
by more than $3. The process will stop when the price
differential is only $3, as there is no opportunity for ar-
bitrage and thus no pressure on prices to move. Note
that in the real world opportunities like these do not
exist for long as arbitrageurs are constantly on the look-
out for them. In the above example, if you further as-
sume that there is no cost of undertaking this trade, and

there are no other trade barriers, then you should expect
the same price to prevail in both markets. This is the law
of one price: prices move in markets based on supply
and demand conditions until there is no opportunity for
arbitrage and one price prevails.

The law of one price and the concept of arbitrage
carry over to financial markets as well. If you look at
price of a share of stock of GENERAL MOTORS on the NEW
YORK STOCK EXCHANGE and London Stock Exchange,
you will see almost the same price in both markets be-
cause the share of stock is identical, and trading costs
are very low in financial markets. Because a substantial
price differential would result in arbitrage, so it will re-
sult in price equality. The law of one price and arbitrage
are very important in valuation of assets in finance.

However, in the real world, financial-asset prices
sometimes differ by more than the trading costs. Does
that mean that law of one price sometimes does not
apply to real life? Actually, it simply means that the un-
derlying assets could be different or the markets are not
competitive. In competitive markets, arriving informa-
tion is processed very quickly, and if markets are not
competitive, price differentials will prevail as traders
will not know about these differentials and, thus, will
not engage in arbitrage.

Interest rates on financial assets are also related to
arbitrage and the law of one price. For example con-
sider the bond market, where BONDS are debt securities
issued by a government or a corporation to finance bor-
rowing needs. When you buy a bond you are essentially
lending your money to the bond issuer, and you get
compensation through earned interest. If two bonds in
the economy are very similar in their characteristics,
such as risk, then you should expect almost the same in-
terest rate on both of them. The reason is that no com-
pany will pay a higher interest rate since it does not
want to increase its borrowing cost; likewise, it will not
pay a lower interest rate because the public will then
buy bonds from another company. If interest rate dif-
ferentials exist, then an entity can possibly borrow
where interest rates are low and lend where interest
rates are high. This is the concept of interest-rate arbi-
trage. Corporations use the concept of interest-rate ar-
bitrage to calculate how much interest they should pay
on bonds when they need to borrow money. They just
look at what the market is paying on a similar bond to
the one they plan to issue.

There are numerous applications of arbitrage in the
foreign-exchange market. Perhaps the most important
one is in determining currency exchange rates. An EX-
CHANGE RATE is the rate at which one country’s currency
can be traded for another country’s currency. Exchange
rates are very important since they directly impact the
exports and imports of a country and thus affect its
economy.
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Various theories have emerged in the literature for
exchange-rate determination in the foreign-exchange
market. However, the Purchasing Power Parity (PPP)
theory is used extensively to explain the determination
of exchange rate between two currencies. The absolute
version of the theory states that the exchange rate be-
tween two currencies is equal to the ratio of their re-
spective price levels. For example, if the price of one
bushel of wheat is $2 in the UNITED STATES and £1 in the
UNITED KINGDOM, then the exchange rate should be $2
for £1. In other words, according to law of one price, a
given commodity should have the same price across
countries so purchasing power is at parity. If that is not
the case, then traders can buy a commodity from a
country where it is cheap and sell in a country where it
is expensive and gain an instant profit. This commodity
arbitrage will result in equal commodity prices across
countries so purchasing power parity is established.

Of course this theory assumes no trade barriers, no
transportation cost, and only looks at commodities
and ignores capital flows. In real life, the relative ver-
sion of PPP is followed which states that changes in ex-
change rates are proportional to relative changes in
price levels in two nations. In the real world, PPP is
only valid over long periods of time and is more rele-
vant for individual traded goods, and does not work
well for non-traded goods.

Due to arbitrage you will not find differences in ex-
change rates across countries. Also arbitrageurs ensure
that if you know the exchange rate between two curren-
cies you can calculate the third one. For example, let us
say that the Japanese YEN price of a U.S. DOLLAR is ¥100
and the yen price of the UK pound is ¥200. It follows
from the law of one price that the cross rate, which is
the dollar price of one pound, is $2. This is due to trian-
gular arbitrage, the concept of arbitrage extended to
three commodities or assets. In today’s world of com-
puters and high speed of information flow, arbitrage op-
portunities exist only for very brief time periods.

Modern FINANCE theory has spent a considerable
amount of time studying the relationship between inter-
est rates and returns on stocks. The Nobel Prize in Eco-
nomics for 1991 was awarded to Harry MARKOWITZ,
Merton MILLER and William SHARPE for development of
a theory that relates interest rates to stock returns. They
developed the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM),
which is still widely used by academia and practitioners
on Wall Street. CAPM, like most other modern finance
theories, relies on the concept of arbitrage. CAPM as-
sumes absence of arbitrage profits to arrive at the for-
mulae for predicting stock prices.

Sometimes, without even knowing it, people use the
law of one price in their daily lives. Suppose you want to
know, what is the value of your house? An easy way is
to find out what a similar house on your street was sold

for recently. You are basically using law of one price
here. Arbitrage is a very simple process but its applica-
tions in real life are endless.
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Argentina

COMPRISING MORE THAN a million square miles in
South America, Argentina is a vast country with a rela-
tively small population of 37 million, a third of which
concentrates in the Buenos Aires metropolitan area. Ar-
gentina’s territory provides great geographic diversity in-
cluding high peaks in the Andes along the western border
with CHILE, flat expanses of fertile soil in the central Pam-
pas, high arid plateaus bordering Bolivia to the north-
west, marshlands and tropical forests in the northeastern
border with Paraguay and BRAZIL, and the remote and
scarcely populated regions of Patagonia to the south. The
rich agricultural lands of the central plains, source of vast
amounts of grains and cattle, have been determinant in
shaping of the nation’s economic and political institu-
tions since the early Spanish settlement.

Under Spanish colonial rule, the territory that cur-
rently includes Argentina was a neglected province,
part of the Virreinato del Peru and administered from
Lima. The territory did not have precious metals, and
generally lacked concentrations of indigenous people
readily available as labor. Northwestern regions adja-
cent to Potosi enjoyed some prosperity as suppliers of
beasts of burden for the silver mines, food for the min-
ers, and a few manufactures. The port of Buenos Aires
began to acquire salience with the establishment of the
Virreinato del Rio de la Plata in 1776. It acted prima-
rily as a center for the smuggling of manufactures from
PORTUGAL and Britain, and the export of hides and
dried meat to slave plantations in the West Indies and
the southern UNITED STATES.

In 1806, and again in 1807, British troops at-
tempted to take Buenos Aires from the Spanish, but
were defeated by local militias with little support from
Spain. Napoleon’s occupation of Spain (1808-13) pro-
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vided the local elites an opportunity to declare auton-
omy from the Spanish government in 1810, leading to
full independence on July 9, 1816. The territory split
into rival factions with diverse visions of nationhood,
but a liberal constitution was finally adopted in 1853,
which, having undergone significant amendments
through the years, is still in force today.

On a course of economic LIBERALISM, Argentina expe-
rienced rapid export expansion during the second half of
the 1800s. Technological innovations significantly cut the
costs of transportation of grains and meat to European
markets. The economic boom was primarily financed by
British investment in railways connecting Buenos Aires
with the Pampas, and the labor provided by massive im-
migration from Europe, primarily Spaniards and Italians,
but also Welsh, Germans, Eastern European Jews, and
Syrian-Lebanese.

By the early 1900s, the export bonanza had placed
Argentina among the richest nations in GROSS DOMESTIC
PRODUCT (GDP) per capita. However, this wealth had
weak foundations as it was highly dependent on agri-
cultural exports to Britain and supported by large in-
come inequalities among the population and between
regions. Immigrants were accused of bringing with
them socialist and anarchist ideologies, contrary to the
interests of the ruling oligarchy. The demands of syndi-
calist labor unions placed strains on the established
order, and were generally met with repression, persecu-
tion, and deportation of its leaders. The middle class,
represented by the Unién Civica Radical (UCR), also
pressed for reforms. A new electoral law in 1912 guar-
anteed universal male suffrage and the secret ballot, re-
sulting in the 1916 election of the UCR leader, Hipdlito
Yrigoyen, to the presidency.

The disruption of world trade caused by World War
I opened opportunities for the manufacture of import
substitutes. The vulnerability of the country to events
beyond its borders also awoke nationalist sentiments
and a desire for greater self-reliance. The inter-war years
did not bring the expected return to normalcy. Britain
never fully recovered its dominant position in world af-
fairs and the UCR dominated domestic politics to the
dismay of conservative opposition parties. The onset of
the Great DEPRESSION provided an opportunity for the
old oligarchy to return to power through a coup d’etat
in 1930. The Depression had catastrophic effects on the
Argentine economy, but it served to reinforce fledging
industrial development and strengthen nationalist re-
solve and political ambitions in the military.

The country lacked political stability until the elec-
tion to the presidency of Colonel Juan D. Per6n in 1946.
His pro-labor stance during a brief tenure at the Ministry
of Labor a few years earlier had won him the support of
labor unions. Armed with a significant reserve of foreign
exchange accumulated through World War II, and enjoy-

ing high commodity prices in the post-war years, Perén
set out to implement a state-centered policy of import
substitution, industrialization, and nationalization of key
sectors of the economy such as the railways and oil pro-
duction. He also enacted legislation favorable to labor
unions and industrialist development, often at the ex-
pense of landed elites and the agricultural sector.

A military coup in 1955 sent Perén into exile in
Spain, and the military establishment banned him from
politics for nearly two decades. Civilian governments
were replaced by military administrations at a dizzying
rate until Per6n was allowed to return to politics, win-
ning elections in 1973. Per6n’s untimely death in 1974
led to the escalation of political violence between leftist
urban guerrillas and paramilitary forces, resulting in a
military coup in 1976.

The military junta that followed (1976-83) engaged
in the brutal repression of leftist groups resulting in the
disappearance of 9,000 to 30,000 people. Countless
others were tortured or fled into exile. The military also
implemented economic liberalization policies with dis-
astrous consequences including the ballooning of the
foreign debt from $8 billion to $50 billion in the seven
years they were in power. By 1982, the junta faced eco-
nomic collapse and was devoid of political support.
Seeking instant popularity through a burst of national-
ism it embarked on a military adventure in the Islas
Malvinas (Falkland Islands), trying to enact their claim
of the British-ruled islands in the south Atlantic. After a
quick conflict, the Argentine junta’s incompetence was
confirmed on the battlefield, and the military had no
choice but to return the nation to democratic rule.

In 1983, Ratl Alfonsin, candidate of the UCR, be-
came president. His administration struggled with the
enormous burden of the foreign debt during what has
come to be known as the “lost decade” in Latin Amer-
ica. In 1989, toward the end of his administration, re-
newed bouts of hyperinflation forced an early transfer of
power to president-elect Carlos S. Menem of Perdn’s
Partido Justicialista.

Menem implemented a staunchly neo-liberal pro-
gram of economic reforms that included rapid trade and
capital account liberalization, and the widespread privati-
zation of state enterprises. Menem’s success in eliminating
inflation and accelerated rates of growth caused his pop-
ularity to soar, resulting in his re-election in 1995. Privati-
zation and the curtailment of the role of the state in the
economy resulted in the rapid concentration of wealth,
the erosion of the middle class and the weakening of labor
unions. Another important accomplishment of his admin-
istration was the creation of Mercosur, a regional customs
union, by Argentina, Brazil, Uruguay and Paraguay.

The cornerstone of the economic model was the
Convertibility Plan; essentially monetary policy based
on a fixed exchange rate of the Argentine peso to the
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U.S. dollar. Its viability relied on heavy inflows of for-
eign capital, but the Mexican peso crisis of 1995 and the
ASIAN FINANCIAL CRISIS of 1997 caused international cap-
ital flows to emerging markets to dry up. The peso also
became severely overvalued with respect to the currency
of Argentina’s top trade partners, particularly after the
devaluation of the Brazilian real in 1999 and the decline
in value of the euro in 2000. The possibility of a balance
of payments crisis emerged and the INTERNATIONAL
MONETARY FUND demanded the implementation of aus-
terity measures. In 1998, the economy entered a reces-
sion that would last until 2002. Menem’s second term,
started in euphoria, closed in disappointment as the un-
employment rate reached 15 percent in 2000, up from 7
percent in 1989.

Fernando de la Riia, Menem’s successor, was un-
able to re-establish growth. In December 2001, food
riots turned into massive protests demanding his resig-
nation. After de la Rua’s resignation and a political
compromise in Congress, Eduardo Duhalde emerged
as president in January, 2002. He immediately declared
an end to the fixed exchange rate and the largest de-
fault of sovereign debt in history. By late 2002, more
than a decade of reforms to the Argentine economy
had resulted in unemployment at 19 percent, popula-
tion below the poverty line at 54 percent, a decline in
GDP of 12 percent, and a public foreign debt of $160
billion. It should come as no surprise that Argentines
have lost faith both in statist and neoliberal models. In
the midst of social, political, and economic crisis, civil
society has been strengthened in neighborhood assem-
blies, workers’ takeover of shut-down factories, and
organizations of the unemployed.
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Armenia

THE SECOND MOST densely populated of the former
Soviet Republics, Armenia is landlocked between the
Black and Caspian Seas, with the capital at Yerevan.

The first Armenian state was founded in 190 B.C.E.,
and for a time, Armenia was the strongest state in the
Roman East. In 301 C.E., it became the first nation to
adopt Christianity. It was incorporated into RUSSIA in
1828, and the SOVIET UNION in 1920.

Armenian citizens voted overwhelmingly for inde-
pendence in 1991, at the dissolution of the Soviet Union,
and held their first presidential election that year. Arme-
nia has had periods of political instability since then,
struggling with the transformation from a communist
country to a stable, Western-style parliamentary democ-
racy. Armenia has registered steady economic growth
since 1995.

As a member of the UNITED NATIONS, INTERNATIONAL
MONETARY FUND, WORLD BANK, and other international
institutions, Armenia had a population of 3.3 million
people in 2001 and a GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) of
$11.2 billion.
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Arrow, Kenneth J. (1921-)

AWARDED THE 1972 Nobel Prize in Economics (with
John R. Hicks), Kenneth Arrow was cited by the Nobel
Committee for “pioneering contributions to general eco-
nomic equilibrium theory and welfare theory.”

Arrow made significant contributions to the devel-
opment of more refined analytical techniques in eco-
nomics, and helped introduce the economics of
uncertainty and monetary economics. He also made a
major contribution in the field of public choice, propos-
ing the concept of the social welfare function.

Born and raised a true New Yorker, Arrow obtained
his B.S. in social science from the City College of New
York, and his M.A. in mathematics and Ph.D. in eco-
nomics from Columbia University.

Arrow’s graduate study was interrupted by WORLD
WAR 11, when he served as a weather officer in the U.S.
Army Air Corps, rising to the rank of captain. Returning
to Columbia after the war, Arrow also conducted re-
search at the Cowles Commission for Research in Eco-
nomics at the University of Chicago. The years at
Cowles (1946-49) were important for the young econo-
mist. Arrow writes in his Nobel autobiography: “The
brilliant intellectual atmosphere of the Cowles Commis-
sion, with eager young econometricians and mathemat-
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ically inclined economists under the guidance of Tjalling
KOOPMANS and Jacob Marschak, was a basic formative
influence for me, as was also the summers of 1948 and
subsequent years at the RAND Corporation in the
heady days of emerging game theory and mathematical
programming. My work on social choice and on Pareto
efficiency dated from this period.”

Arrow is probably best known for his book Social
Choice and Individual Values (1951), based on his Ph.D.
dissertation, in which he proved his famous “Impossi-
bility Theorem.” As described by author David R. Hen-
derson, Arrow showed that under certain assumptions
about peoples’ preferences between options, it is impos-
sible to find a voting rule under which one person
emerges as the most preferred. Arrow went on to show
that a competitive economy in equilibrium is efficient
and that any efficient allocation could be reached by
having the government use lump-sum taxes to redistrib-
ute, and then letting the markets work.

Arrow’s research led to the economic proposition
that the government should not control prices to redis-
tribute income, but rather if it must redistribute at all,
do so directly.

Another example of Arrow’s contribution includes
being one of the first economists to deal with the exis-
tence of a learning curve in production. In simple terms,
Arrow showed that as producers increase output of a
product, they gain experience and become more effi-
cient. “The role of experience in increasing productivity
has not gone unobserved, though the relation has yet to
be absorbed into the main corpus of economic theory,”
Arrow wrote in a 1962 article. Some economists argue
that even today, Arrow’s insight into the learning curve
has not been fully integrated into mainstream economic
analysis.

Arrow has taught at several universities in the
United States and Europe and in early 2003, he was
Joan Kenney Professor of Economics and Operations at
Stanford University. His professional affiliations include
the U.S. National Academy of Sciences, the American
Academy of Arts and Sciences, the American Philosoph-
ical Society, the British Academy, and the Finnish Acad-
emy of Sciences. Arrow has received 16 honorary
degrees from American and European universities, and
has served as president of Econometric Society, the
American and the International Economic Associations,
and the Western Economic Association.

In addition to Social Choice and Individual Values,
Arrows other important works include General Com-
petitive Analysis (with F. Han, 1971) and the Collected
Papers of Kenneth |J. Arrow (1984).
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Arthur, Chester A. (1829-86)

THE 21ST PRESIDENT of the UNITED STATES, Chester
Alan Arthur was born in Fairfield, Vermont. When he
was five, his family moved to upstate New York. Arthur
graduated from Union College in 1848, then studied law
and joined a New York City law firm.

Arthur’s strongly held anti-slavery views motivated
him to join the new Republican Party. In 1857, he be-
came a judge advocate in the state militia and was called
to active duty during the AMERICAN CIVIL WAR. After
leaving the Army in 1863, Arthur resumed his legal
practice as well as his involvement in local politics.

In 1871, President Ulysses GRANT appointed Arthur
collector of customs for the Port of New York. This was
considered a plum position because of the many patron-
age jobs it controlled, and Arthur satisfied the patronage
demands of the city’s political machine, hiring many
more people than were needed for the work. In response
to demands by reformers, President Rutherford HAYES
removed Arthur in 1878.

In 1880, the Republican Convention deadlocked in
a fight between reformer and machine politicians,
known as Stalwarts. Eventually, they settled on moder-
ate reformer James GARFIELD for president and nomi-
nated Arthur as vice president to satisfy the Stalwarts.
Although Arthur’s political boss ordered him to reject
the nomination, Arthur accepted.

Given Garfield’s youth and vigor, reformers saw the
vice presidency as a relatively harmless place for a ma-
chine politician like Arthur. They were horrified the fol-
lowing summer when Garfield was assassinated.

Despite his background, President Arthur became a
powerful advocate of political reform. Garfield’s death
resulted in a public outcry for civil service reform, and in
1883, Arthur signed the Pendleton Act into law, banning
political kickbacks from public employees. The Act also
began to protect many government jobs from political
litmus tests and established a bipartisan Civil Service
Commission to administer it.

Arthur championed attempts to reduce the amount
of federal funds wasted on patronage and pork-barrel
(special-interest) spending. He attempted to reduce tar-
iffs to prevent large surpluses of money that the govern-
ment wasted, though this met with limited success. He
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was more successful in moving surplus away from pa-
tronage and toward paying off debt. He reduced the na-
tional debt from $2.1 billion in 1881 to just over $1.8
billion when he left office in 18835.

Many applauded Arthur’s reforms, but it also made
him many enemies in the political establishment. In
1884, he lost his party’s nomination, and also failed in
an attempt to be nominated for a New York senate seat.
He died two years later.
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Asian developmental state

ASIAN DEVELOPMENTAL STATES emerged during
the Cold War in JAPAN, SOUTH KOREA, TAIWAN, and SIN-
GAPORE as a controversial hybrid of Soviet Union-style
central planning and American free market capitalism.
Governments promoted industries judged to be “strate-
gic” in enhancing overall economic growth, while non-
strategic sectors were left to market forces.

The industries chosen for promotion reflected the
developmental states’ nationalist orientation to eco-
nomic activity. In contrast to neo-classical economists’
internationalist ideas of comparative advantage and mu-
tual gains from trade across national boundaries, devel-
opmental states viewed trade as a national struggle with
clear winners and losers. Producers of technologically
sophisticated products became rich while countries that
concentrated on light manufactures and commodities re-
mained poor. Developmental states, therefore, raised
their country’s standard of living by promoting indus-
tries with high paying jobs such as automobiles, com-
puters, shipbuilding, and petrochemicals.

Government pilot institutions emerged to plan and
coordinate the systematic development of these indus-
tries. The Japanese Ministry of International Trade and
Industry (MITI), for example, drafted the Petrochemical
Nurturing Plan in 1955 and provided initial capital in-
vestment through the government’s Japan Development
Bank. MITT also assisted the industry with technology
import licenses, tax exemptions, and facilities con-
structed at government expense. Once the industry was
underway, MITT organized the petrochemical companies

into an “administrative guidance cartel” to facilitate
government coordination. During Japan’s rapid eco-
nomic growth in the 1950s and 1960s, MITT also played
a pivotal role in the growth of the automobile, com-
puter, and steel industries.

Close business-government relations clearly favored
large business conglomerates over smaller firms. Japan-
ese keiretsu and Korean chaebol, for example, were
large corporate groups uniting manufacturers, suppliers,
and distributors. These groups developed a symbiotic re-
lationship with their governments. Governments needed
trustworthy companies to carry out development plans
and the firms were happy to receive government subsi-
dies and windfall profits from these new businesses.

The Korean government’s cooperation with the gi-
gantic Hyundai Group to promote shipbuilding in the
1970s and 1980s is a good example. The government
subsidized Hyundai with lucrative contracts for ships,
infrastructure at Hyundai facilities, and financial guar-
antees to foreign investors and Hyundai’s first cus-
tomers. With this support from the government, Hyundai
grew into one of the world’s largest shipbuilders by the
late 1980s.

Government subsidy of new industries required a
redistribution of resources within society. Big companies
and their urban employees generally prospered. Farm-
ers, small businesses, and laborers were less fortunate.
To maintain political stability, Asian developmental
states developed authoritarian political systems domi-
nated by a single party like the Liberal Democratic Party
in Japan, the Kuomintang in Taiwan, and the People’s
Action Party in Singapore. These regimes suppressed in-
dependent labor unions to keep wages low for the sake
of international competitiveness. Governments often
tempered this repression with paternalistic policies as-
sisting workers with housing, healthcare, and recre-
ational facilities.

With their systematic intervention in markets, close
relations with big business, and authoritarian politics,
developmental states have drawn substantial criticism.
Some economists believe that developmental states” im-
portance in promoting economic development has been
exaggerated. Growth rates, they argue, might have been
even higher if entrepreneurs had devoted all of their re-
sources to innovation rather than soliciting political fa-
vors. The soNY Corporation spent months in the 1950s
lobbying government officials for a permit to license
American semiconductor technology. In the early 1960s,
motorcycle manufacturer Honda Soichiro had to over-
come stiff government resistance to his company’s diver-
sification into passenger automobiles.

International trading partners have criticized the de-
velopmental states’ predatory “neo-mercantilist” pro-
motion of exports and “crony capitalist” exclusion of
outsiders from their domestic markets. These accusa-
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tions peaked in the late 1980s and early 1990s as Japan-
ese automobiles, semiconductors, and consumer elec-
tronics became popular in American markets. American
firms complained that the Japanese developmental
state’s policies gave Japanese companies an unfair com-
petitive advantage. After protracted negotiations and
threats of U.S. government retaliation, the Japanese
deregulated several of their industries.

Finally, critics suggest that Asian developmental
states owe much of their success to favorable Cold War
international conditions. The United States gave its Cold
War allies unusually open access to American military
assistance, capital, technology, and markets. After the
Cold War ended in 1989, Americans demanded recipro-
cal access to Asian markets. Developmental states also
faced growing pressure for political reform as interna-
tional opinion sided with local democratic movements
seeking an end to authoritarian repression. Neverthe-
less, governments in Thailand, VIETNAM, CHINA and else-
where continue to follow the developmental state model
to promote economic growth.

The developmental states in Japan, Korea, Taiwan,
and Singapore took advantage of Cold War opportuni-
ties and pursued policies contributing to rapid economic
development. This development came at the price of po-
litical repression at home and strained relations abroad.
Although controversial, the Asian developmental state
remains an important form of capitalism.
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Asian Financial Crisis

FINANCIAL CRISES REFER TO currency crises (also
called balance of payments crises) during which a coun-
try’s CENTRAL BANK loses international reserves and is
eventually forced to allow the depreciation of the do-
mestic currency. Countries with pegged (managed) EX-
CHANGE RATE regimes are particularly prone to currency
crises. While first-generation (canonical) currency crises
models support the view that deteriorating country fun-
damentals are at the core of such crises, second-generation

(self-fulfilling) currency crises models suggest that cur-
rency crises may occur despite strong fundamentals.
Self-fulfilling currency crises may take place because of
the possibility of multiple equilibria, which means that,
despite strong fundamentals, currency crisis may be one
of the possible outcomes.

Since THAILAND, INDONESIA, and South KOREA expe-
rienced currency crises in August, October, and Novem-
ber, 1997, respectively, researchers have been discussing
the causes of the Asian Financial Crisis. Although there
is disagreement as to the causes of this crisis, some char-
acteristics of capital inflows into Asian countries have
remained undisputed. Following the fall in world inter-
est rates in 1989, Asian countries attracted large capital
inflows because of their high and solid GROSS DOMESTIC
PRODUCT (GDP) growth rate. By the mid-1990s, the cap-
ital inflows as a percentage of the GDP were almost in
the mid-teens in some Asian countries, whereas the same
ratio was less than 1 percent in G8 countries. As capital
flows increased through the mid-1990s, countries such
as Thailand and South Korea had total external
debt/GDP ratios of almost 200 percent.

As to the reason for the Asian currency crisis, the
basic first-generation currency crisis model explains the
cause of currency crises based on the coexistence of a
pegged exchange rate regime and expansionary fiscal
and monetary policies. However, before the financial
crisis struck, Asian countries successfully stabilized in-
flation by maintaining fiscal and monetary discipline
under pegged exchange rate regimes. Therefore, re-
searchers working with first-generation currency crisis
models have used a different set of fundamentals to dis-
cuss the cause of the Asian Financial Crisis. Increasing
foreign liabilities of the commercial banking system,
maturity mismatches, and asset price bubbles are as-
sumed to have made the financial systems in some
Asian countries vulnerable to capital inflows of sub-
stantial magnitudes.

Some economists argue that financial liberalization
precedes banking and currency crises. As financial liber-
alization allows a country to enjoy the inflow of foreign
investors, the outflow may be substantial and speedy,
which leads to a boom-bust cycle. This particular point
has been made with respect to the Asian crisis. Financial
liberalization may have led to the maturity mismatch be-
tween assets and liabilities of the banking system be-
cause of over-lending and excessive risk, especially in
short-term external debt. International investors may
have become wary and expected financial problems in
the future. Therefore, based on the first-generation cur-
rency crisis model, systemic banking problems lay at the
roots of the substantial devaluation of the Thai baht,
Korean won, and Indonesian rupiah in 1997.

Researchers who focus on the self-fulfilling nature
of the Asian Financial Crisis argue that markets’ reac-
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tion to news demonstrates the possibility of currency cri-
sis despite strong fundamentals. Some argue that the
largest daily swings in financial markets in Asia during
the crisis period cannot be explained by any apparently
relevant economic or political news. Empirical studies
indicate that news releases that contribute to significant
movements in financial markets are releases that are
about agreements with the international community,
and about announcements by credit-rating agencies.
Some also suggest that news releases about monetary
and fiscal policies do not affect financial markets in a
predictable fashion.

In some instances, tight policies may contribute to
financial market rallies or lead to a slowdown in fi-
nancial markets. There is also evidence that investors
react more strongly to bad news than to good news.
Generally speaking, investors’ reactions to information
have been used to argue that bad news in crisis
episodes may increase uncertainty, which may lead to
herding behavior.

In addition to first- and second-generation currency
crisis models, some researchers suggest the possibility
that a country may experience a currency crisis, even
though the crisis cannot be explained based on either
currency crisis model. There is empirical evidence that
CONTAGION, regional spread of currency crises, may
occur through trade linkage among countries.
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Assicurazioni Generali

THE LARGEST ITALIAN INSURER was established at
the beginning of the 19th century in the city of Trieste,
which was then a natural outlet to the sea for the inter-

national commerce of the Austro-Hungarian Empire.
Because of its unique position, the city enjoyed a re-
markable economic growth. Several local businessmen
felt the need for the creation of an insurance company
and on December 26th, 1831, they established Assicu-
razioni Generali.

The company’s initial capital was quite a large sum
for the period (2 million florins), revealing the com-
pany’s ambitious programs. A few months after its foun-
dation, Generali began to spread within the Hapsburg
Empire and branches were established in Vienna, Bu-
dapest, and Prague. In July, 1832, the important Venet-
ian branch was founded by Samuele della Vida to
develop the insurance sector in the many states of the
fragmented Italian peninsula. The Venetian office has
played a particularly important part in the development
of the insurance company and, tellingly, its symbol is
also the symbol of the city of Venice: a winged lion pro-
tecting a copy of the Gospel. Generali soon expanded in
other European countries such as FRANCE, GERMANY and
SWITZERLAND. It then stretched into the Balkans and
Eastern Europe and reached separate continents such as
Africa and Latin America.

The end of WORLD WAR I and the new political scene
created several problems for the group. The Hapsburg
Empire dissolved and Trieste was absorbed into the Ital-
ian Kingdom, thus losing its privileged position. Yet
Generali confronted this difficult period with a program
of structural reforms designed to consolidate and ex-
pand its organization in ITALY. New companies were set
up, and the group acquired significant stakes in existing
insurance companies. In the 1920s and 1930s, the Gen-
erali Group played a crucial role in the development of
the Ttalian economy through investments in the indus-
trial and agricultural sectors.

The Generali Group was faced with another crisis
at the end of the WORLD WAaR II and the outbreak of the
Cold War. The establishment of the Iron Curtain meant
the loss of 14 insurance companies operating in eastern
European countries. However, the Generali did not re-
linquish its worldwide presence and successfully fo-
cused on the development of important markets in the
following decades outside Europe in Latin America,
Asia, and Africa. In 2002, Generali ranked as the 50th
largest company in the world with sales of more than
$52 billion.
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Astor, John Jacob (1763-1848)

BORN IN WALDOREF, GERMANY, a butcher’s son,
John Jacob Astor arrived in Baltimore by way of Lon-
don at the end of the AMERICAN REVOLUTION. Nearly
penniless, his assets included $50, seven flutes from his
brother’s musical instrument shop, experience in trade,
and determination.

By 1786, he was able to open his own fur shop in
New York City. In 1790, he married Sarah Todd, gain-
ing entrée into New York’s old line Dutch society. His
wife was highly knowledgeable about furs too, and the
marriage was either a successful partnership in all re-
spects or a stormy affair, depending on the source. Astor
wasted no time, developing a fleet of clipper ships to
capitalize on the demand for China tea. Soon he was a
leader in the China trade, shipping furs out, bringing tea
in. But tea, while lucrative, was not his path to fame. His
fortune came from the fur trade.

After the Lewis and Clark expedition revealed the
potential of newly acquired territory, he sent out expe-
ditions of his own to explore the fur country. In 1808,
he capitalized the American Fur Company at $500,000,
a very sizeable amount in that time. He planned to com-
pete with the British Hudson’s Bay Company in the
American northwest. He later established the Pacific Fur
Companies and the Southwest Fur Company, establish-
ing trading posts everywhere the trappers might congre-
gate. One major failure was Astoria, Oregon, that Astor
established in 1811 with the aim of penetrating the Far
East market. The WAR OF 1812 intervened, and the naval
blockade was a factor in Astor’s decision to sell the post
to the British.

For Astor, the fur trade was worldwide. It was a
business that brought beaver, otter, muskrat, and mink
furs from the native or company trapper to the trader to
the exporter to the maker of hats for fashion conscious
women and men—and, in return, it gave the natives and
other trappers muskets, blankets, tools, and utensils.
The trade had a long history, from the early French
couriers du bois and their colonial British rivals. In the
early years of the UNITED STATES government-supported
factories carried on the trade. From the presidency of
George WASHINGTON, the trade had received federal sub-
sidies because it was thought to be in the national inter-
est to compete with the British companies in CANADA.
Astor challenged the government system by establishing
a new style of fur company.

Astor’s fur companies were modern with a division
of labor, specialists, and vertical integration. Astor ran
the business from his headquarters in New York City,
but the actual trading took place on Mackinac Island,
out where the business was, in present-day Michigan.
There, Astor’s men bought furs, packed boats, and sent
them to the East Coast for further distribution to the

world markets. Astor also sent his employees through-
out the trapping regions, going where the business was.
From log cabins, they supplied the fur traders with the
goods they needed. Credit was available as well.

Astor sent his men out to where the trappers were,
traded fairly and in quality goods of the sort the Native
Americans wanted, with low prices. He gave them the
muskets and kettles they wanted, not the plows and
other sometimes inferior and overpriced goods the
government tried to trade. Astor also traded in liquor,
albeit reluctantly. He understood that drunken trap-
pers were worthless to his business, but he recognized
that the British were dealing in liquor and he had to
match the competition. Astor also established a merit
system and paid his managers good salaries and shares
of the profits. And he took his trade worldwide, refus-
ing to sell when and where the price didn’t suit him.
The government factories had fixed-salary employees
and no market control, selling at auction each year re-
gardless of price.

By 1808, Astor was the leading exporter in the
United States, and his edge grew after the War of 1812.
By the 1820s he had 750 men in his employ, and con-
nections to untold numbers of fur sources. Annual har-
vests reached $500,000. Government efforts to ban
private companies complicated his life, but eventually
his ability to profit while the government was losing
money consistently killed that effort.

But the trade began to wane in the 1820s and 1830s
as fashion changed, pelts became scarce, and silk and
cheap cloth took market share. Astor held a monopoly
on the fur trade until he retired in 1834, turning his at-
tention to New York real estate and making himself the
first millionaire in the United States.

By 1810, Astor had a fortune of at least $2 million.
Shrewdly, he bought lots in desolate north Manhattan,
calculating that the city would eventually grow and
make his investments valuable. He also did his part to
fund the War of 1812; typically, when he bought $2 mil-
lion worth of government bonds; he paid 88 cents on the
dollar. Other than the Manhattan properties, he also in-
vested in the Park Theater, the Mohawk and Hudson
Railroad, and the Astor House Hotel.

Astor became America’s first world-class entrepre-
neur and, at his death, its richest man. He could be ruth-
less, he could be tight with a dollar, but he understood
how to organize a business, how to deal with his em-
ployees and his customers. His empire was worldwide
due to his skills and, to an extent to his knack for getting
out of a venture at the top, as when he sold his fleet of
China clipper ships just before Chinese tea faded in the
face of competition from India and Japan. He also an-
ticipated the end of the fur trade, selling his interests be-
fore the fur business fell to increased scarcity, fashion
shifts, and the boom in ready-made, cheap clothing.
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At his death Astor left a fortune variously estimated
at $10-20 million. Astor did leave $400,000 in his will
for the establishment of a library in New York City. The
Astor Library opened in 1849.

A measurement of the magnitude of Astor’s wealth is
that $20 million from the 1840s equates to late-20th cen-
tury fortunes in the billions. One estimate is that his mod-
ern day net worth would be $78 billion, ranking him
behind only John D. ROCKEFELLER, Andrew CARNEGIE, and
Cornelius VANDERBILT. Bill GATES of Microsoft ranked just
behind Astor in 1999.

Rising from the penniless immigrant to by far the
richest man of his time, John Jacob Astor epitomized
rags-to-riches American dream, and he was one of the
prototypes for the rise of big business in America.
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AT&T

ALEXANDER GRAHAM BELL, Gardiner Hubbard,
and Thomas Sanders founded the Bell Telephone Com-
pany, later known as the American Telephone and Tele-
graph Corporation, in 1877. Bell was the telephone
inventor, Hubbard and Sanders were the men who fi-
nanced his work. The first telephone exchange was
opened in New Haven, Connecticut, in 1878; within

s 2
In more than 100 years of business ATGT has gone through
multiple competitive phases, from monopoly to breakup.

three years, telephone exchanges existed in most major
cities in the UNITED STATES.

The American Telephone and Telegraph Company
was created with the charter to provide long-distance
telephone service. The first lines were built between
New York and Chicago and were completed in 1892.
AT&T’s long distance telephone system was extended
from coast to coast when San Francisco was added in
1915.1In 1927, AT&T inaugurated commercial transat-
lantic telephone service to London using two-way radio.
Radiotelephone service to Hawaii began in 1931 and to
Tokyo in 1934. In 1956, service to Europe moved to the
first transatlantic submarine telephone cable. Transpa-
cific cable service began in 1964. AT&T opened its first
microwave relay system between the cities of New York
and Boston in 1948. In 1962, AT&T placed the first
commercial communications satellite in orbit, offering
an additional alternative especially suited to interna-
tional communications.

During its life, AT&T Bell Laboratories has been
the home of more than 22,000 patents and seven Nobel-
Prize winners. Its most significant, single invention is
probably the transistor, which replaced large, less effi-
cient vacuum tubes. Other inventions include gas and
semiconductor lasers, the UNIX operating system, the C
computer programming language, the touch-tone tele-
phone, the first artificial larynx, and the first fax ma-
chine. Bell scientists A.A. Penzias and R.W. Wilson
discovered the universe’s “background radiation” posited
by cosmologists who favored the Big Bang theory of cre-
ation and were awarded a Nobel Prize in Physics in
1978 for their discovery.

During its life, AT&T has gone through multiple
MONOPOLY and competitive phases. Before 1894, Bell
Telephone’s patents protected it from competition. After
Bell’s patents expired in 1894 many telephone compa-
nies began to provide telephone service particularly in
the rural areas and Bell’s profits dropped drastically. The
number of telephones exploded from approximately
266,000 in 1893 to 6.1 million in 1907, and about half
of all new telephone installations were controlled by
Bell’s competitors.

In 1907, AT&T’s president wrote in the annual re-
port that the telephone, by the nature of its technology,
would operate most efficiently as a monopoly. While
independent companies provided the first service avail-
able to many customers, the multiple telephone sys-
tems were not interconnected until after the 1913
Kingsbury Commitment. As a result of the agreement,
the government of each local community would allow
only one telephone company to operate and this local
company would be connected to the Bell long-distance
system. Since Bell was the largest single company, it
was in the best position to lobby the state utility com-
missions and was generally chosen over its competitors
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to provide local phone service. Bell soon became a mo-
nopoly again.

The U.S. government, in 1974 filed the antitrust suit
that finally led to a competitive market in long distance.
In 1982, AT&T agreed to sell those parts (the local ex-
changes) where the natural monopoly argument was still
considered valid from those parts (long distance, manu-
facturing, research and development), where competi-
tion was thought appropriate. Divestiture took place in
1984. Many new long distance companies soon entered
the market and long distance rates dropped 30 percent
over the next five years. Local phone service, still a mo-
nopoly, went up 50 percent in price during the same pe-
riod.

Since its breakup, AT&T has been restructured nu-
merous times. On September 20, 1995, AT&T an-
nounced that it would split into three separate publicly
traded companies: a systems and equipment company
(Lucent Technologies,) a computer company (NCR) and
a communications services company (AT&T). It was the
largest voluntary break-up in the history of American
business. In October, 2000, AT& T announced another
restructuring. AT&T would be split into three compa-
nies: AT&T Wireless, AT&T Broadband, and AT&T.
On December 9, 2001, AT&T and the cable-operator
Comcast reached agreement to combine AT&T Broad-
band with Comcast in a new company to be known as
AT&T Comcast.

Fortune magazine ranked AT&T as the world’s
40th largest company in 2002 with revenues of $59
billion.
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audit

A SYSTEMATIC PROCESS, an audit involves the ex-
amination of accounting information by a third party
other than the preparer or user, and the verification of
data to determine the reliability and accuracy of ac-
counting statements and reports. Audits are used to
evaluate all kinds of information and data, and can be
divided into three main categories.

An audit can be a compliance audit, which is per-
formed to determine whether certain activities of an en-
tity conform to specified rules, conditions, or regulations.

An audit can also be an operational audit, wherein the ef-
ficiency and effectiveness of specified operating objec-
tives can be assessed. For instance, the functionality and
reliability of information systems are often audited, as
are elections and various lottery functions. Additionally,
the annual Academy Award voting process is audited by
a top accounting firm.

Nonetheless, the financial statement audit is by far
the most common and valued form of audit. This audit
procedure involves obtaining and evaluating evidence
about an entity’s financial statements, which are based
on assertions made by the entity’s management. The
overall goal of the auditor in a financial statement
audit is to increase the usefulness of the compiled ac-
counting information to interested users such as credi-
tors, investors, labor unions, investment bankers, and
government.

The final product of an audit is the auditor’s re-
port. The audit report consists of an entity’s financial
statements and any applicable disclosures. It is a means
of communicating the overall conclusions about the
audited financial statements in a way that users can
understand.

The audit opinion, which is included in the auditor’s
report, is the backbone of the report because it tells the
user of an entity’s financial statements whether or not
they were presented fairly according to GENERALLY AC-
CEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (GAAP). When the fi-
nancial statements are judged to be in conformity with
GAAP, the auditor issues an unqualified opinion. Other
opinions may be issued by the auditor if the financial
statements contain a material departure from GAAP, or
if the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient evidence re-
garding one or more management assertions, and there-
fore cannot reasonably issue an unqualified opinion.
Bear in mind that an audit opinion applies to the finan-
cial statements as a whole. The other opinions that can
be issued are:

1. Qualified opinion. The auditor expresses certain
reservations concerning the scope of the audit or the
financial statements. Since the departure is not ex-
tremely material or significant, the auditor states
that except for effects of the matter to which the
qualification relates, the financial statements are in
conformity with GAAP.

2. Adverse opinion. The auditor states that the finan-
cial statements are not presented fairly due to a ma-
terial or significant departure from GAAP.

3. Disclaimer of opinion. Auditor does not give an opin-
ion on the presentation of the financial statements.

The quality of performance and general objectives to be
achieved in a financial-statement audit are identified by
a set of Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS),
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the most recognized set of auditing standards in the in-
dustry. In essence, GAAS is comprised of 10 standards
divided into three distinct categories that prescribe cer-
tain considerations for accepting and assigning an
audit, performing the actual fieldwork, and issuing the
audit report. Though GAAS are not statutory laws,
they were originally put in place by the American Insti-
tute for Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) as valid
standards of the profession, and thus they are used by
government agencies, industry peers, and courts of law
in evaluating the performance of financial statement
audits.

The execution of an audit is a complicated and var-
ied process. First, the auditor goes into an audit with a
preliminary audit strategy that involves assessing mate-
riality and risk, two important factors in the audit plan-
ning process. Materiality is the magnitude of an
omission or misstatement of accounting information
that makes it likely that the judgment of a person relying
on the information would have been different or other-
wise drastically influenced by the omission or misstate-
ment. The auditor may encounter various omissions or
misstatements that may or may not be material, depend-
ing upon the overall audit objective and strategy. Also,
the auditor looks at audit risk, which relates to the risk
that the auditor may unknowingly fail to properly mod-
ify an audit opinion in regard to financial statements
that are in fact materially misstated. Understanding the
nature of both of these components assists the auditor in
deciding upon the scope of the audit and the testing ap-
proach to be used.

Essentially, the overall methodology of an audit in-
volves identifying that which needs to be evidenced, for
example, the existence or occurrence of an assertion or
an account balance. The auditor collects relevant evi-
dence for that which he needs to express his judgment
on, and assesses the fairness of the data through the use
of various testing procedures. In applying a range of
tests, the auditor deals in probabilities through statisti-
cal sampling. Small sample units that represent larger
populations are observed in order to evaluate relevant
characteristics that the auditor needs to identify.

Auditing also involves less systematic means of ev-
idence collection such as inquiring, observing, and the
application of analytical procedures. The auditor may
observe and inquire about procedures for recording
transactions, or apply analytical procedures to com-
pare current year assertions to the prior year, often
helping him to pinpoint items that may need to be fur-
ther investigated.

It is important to remember that the auditing of fi-
nancial statements is an attest function, meaning that
after conducting an audit of the accounting system of a
business, the independent auditor issues an opinion on
the fairness of the presentation of the financial state-

ments and their conformity to GAAP. Essentially, an at-
testation is an evaluation of the quality of the information
presented under GAAP rules. An attest function differs
from the definitive substantiation of facts or truths be-
cause “attest” merely means to “bear witness” or, more
specifically, to attest to the reliability of an entity’s finan-
cial statements. The financial statement assertions of a
company are the responsibility of its management. The
auditor is merely expressing judgment—in a separate re-
port—on the basis of being a trained observer performing
a critical review of the data.

Auditing, in general, is about maintaining a healthy
skepticism. In spite of the excellent credentials of most au-
ditors, accounting scandals have put the audit profession
in the limelight, and not in the laudable sense. Since the
mid-1990s, there has been a parade of corporate wrong-
doings wherein questionable accounting approaches are
said to have led to bankruptcies and/or numerous finan-
cial statement restatements, in order to accurately quan-
tify previous earnings reports.

The accounting industry, as a whole, faces vast re-
structuring. However, the new wave of regulatory over-
sight may be unwelcome if the governance of the audit
sector shifts from the private realm to the bureaucratic
government sector.
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Australia

LYING BETWEEN THE Pacific and Indian Oceans in
the southern hemisphere, the continent of Australia is
one of the world’s largest and most isolated countries. A
member of the British Commonwealth of Nations, Aus-
tralia is a political federation with a central government
and six member states that enjoy limited sovereignty, as
well as two territories. Canberra is the capital.

The population of Australia is approximately 19.5
million, with approximately 90 percent white, seven
percent Asian, and the balance Aborigines and Torres
Strait Islanders. Approximately 85 percent of the popu-
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lation lives in urban areas. English is the official lan-
guage, though Aboriginal and other native languages are
also spoken. The coastal plains near the mainland capi-
tals in the east, southeast, and southwest are Australia’s
fastest growing areas—about four-fifths of Australians
live in these areas, which make up only about three per-
cent of the total land area.

The Aborigines were the first to live in Australia and
are believed to have migrated there about 40,000 years
ago. Until the 17th century the continent was relatively
unknown. In 1788, the first European settlement by
British convicts was established at Botany Bay. During
the 19th century, British colonies continued to be estab-
lished, and in 1901, the colonies united to form an inde-
pendent nation, and Australia became a member of a
commonwealth of the British Empire.

Taking advantage of its natural resources, Australia
quickly developed its agricultural and manufacturing in-
dustries, and was able to make a significant contribution
to Britain’s efforts in both WORLD WAR I and WORLD WAR
1. After World War I, Australia entered a long period of
political stability and built further upon the develop-
ment foundations established during the war. In the
early 1970s, the government attempted to institute plans
for increased social services, but these came into conflict
with Australia’s declining economic prosperity and state
rights. In the mid-1970s the government reinstated do-
mestic and foreign policies previously followed and laid
a foundation for land claims by Aboriginals. In the
1980s, the government attempted to promote labor-
management cooperation and had a foreign policy that
was emphatically pro-American. Mired in a recession,
the government, in the early 1990s, began the process of
changing Australia’s status from a commonwealth
headed by the British monarchy to a republic. Acknowl-
edging the proximity of huge potential markets in Asia,
the government continued its re-orientation toward
Asia. But in 1999, a referendum to change Australia’s
status to a republic was defeated.

MINING has long been a major factor in Australia’s
economic growth, and in certain instances is among the
world’s leading producers. Minerals mined include gold,
iron ore, diamonds, uranium, coal, titanium, nickel, and
aluminum. Wheat is the main crop, but other crops in-
clude oats, fruit, and sugarcane. Australia is also a leading
producer of wine and the leading producer and exporter
of wool. Australia raises both beef and dairy cattle.

Due to Australia’s large size and relatively small
population, transportation has historically been expen-
sive and has utilized a high proportion of the work
force. The road network radiates from the ports and
state capitals, and continues to be in need of upgrade.
There are both private rail systems and a government
owned system, however rail transport has declined due
to competition with road and air services. Australians

Australia’s Sydney Opera House has become an icon of the
country’s strong growth in tourism.

have become especially accustomed to flying, and an in-
clusive network of air service links the major cities as
well as remote areas.

Industry accounts for about one-quarter of Aus-
tralia’s GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP), services about
72 percent, and agriculture the rest. Central components
of the industrial sector are the manufacture of metals,
food, transportation equipment, textiles, and printed
materials. Australia’s tourism industry has experienced
strong growth, and has enabled each state to capitalize
on its own attractions.

Australia’s currency is the Australian dollar (AUD)
and it is freely traded on global currency markets. The
reserve bank of Australia manages the central banking
system, including the issuance of notes. Australia’s stock
exchange is well connected to the global network. Local,
state, and federal governments impose taxes.

Australia’s exports are valued at approximately
$68.8 billion annually and its imports at $70.2 billion;
partners include the UNITED STATES, JAPAN, SOUTH KOREA,
SINGAPORE, NEW ZEALAND, GERMANY, and the UNITED
KINGDOM. Under Australian tariff policy, Australian in-
dustries are protected and imports from certain Com-
monwealth countries are given preference.

Soon after the year 2000, Australia’s per capita
GDP was level with the major West European economies,
and a strong domestic economy enabled Australia to
be resilient in dealing with an international economic
downturn.
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Austria

THE REPUBLIC OF AUSTRIA borders SWITZERLAND
and LIECHTENSTEIN to the west, GERMANY to the north-
west, the CZECH REPUBLIC to the north, Slovakia to the
northeast, HUNGARY to the east, ITALY to the southwest,
and Slovenia to the south. Vienna is the capital.

Austria’s population in 2002 was approximately 8.1
million, with the majority being Austrian, though in-
creasingly immigrants, especially Croats, Hungarians,
and Turks are contributing to the ethnic mix. About 60
percent of the population lives in urban areas, with 20
percent living in the Vienna capital area. A high life ex-
pectancy offsets a declining birth rate in the German-
speaking nation.

At one time the center of power for the Austro-
Hungarian Empire, Austria was downsized into a small
republic after its defeat in WORLD WAR 1. Subsequently,
Austria experienced more than 25 years of economic
and social upheaval, annexation by Nazi Germany,
and subsequent occupation by the Allies. In 19535, the
State Treaty ended Austria’s occupation, recognized its
independence, and prohibited unification with Ger-
many. As a condition for the withdrawal of the SOVIET
UNION, a constitutional law declared Austria’s “perpet-
ual neutrality.”

Since 1955, Austria has developed into a stable na-
tion characterized by a vibrant cultural life and a spirit
of cooperation between its social and economic institu-
tions. In the 1990s, Austria began to struggle with grow-
ing resentment towards ethnic minorities and the
growing strength of the right-wing Freedom Party. Ger-
many’s unification and the subsequent takeover of
major industries and newspapers by German companies
have led to a questioning of Austria’s role in the united
Europe. In 1990, the government revoked several provi-
sions of the 1955 State Treaty regarding neutrality. In
1995, Austria joined the EUROPEAN UNION (EU), and in
1999 it entered the European Monetary Union, adopt-
ing the EURO currency.

Austria is an essential link between central, north-
ern, and western Europe, as well as Italy, Eastern Eu-
rope, and the Balkans. It has an intricate road system,
which it continues to develop. Being a mountainous and
landlocked country, Austria depends on rail passage for

a large share of its foreign trade. The rail network is
managed by the state owned OBB, or Austrian Federal
Railways, which operates as an independent commercial
enterprise.

Industry accounts for about 30 percent of Aus-
tria’s GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP), services com-
prise almost 70 percent, and agriculture plays a minor
role in the country’s economy. Components of the in-
dustrial sector include machinery, metals, food products,
and wood and paper products. Austria’s manufacture
industry is composed of a few large enterprises and
many small- and medium-sized production facilities.
Many of these smaller enterprises make traditional
Austrian products including wood, glass, and ceramic
handicrafts.

With its beautiful landscape, historic villages and
cities, and highly developed hospitality industry, Austria
is a major tourism destination. More than half of Aus-
tria’s annual tourists come from Germany, with the re-
mainder primarily from the NETHERLANDS, Italy, UNITED
KINGDOM, Switzerland, FRANCE, and the UNITED STATES.

The Ministry of Finance and the Austrian National
Bank determine Austrian monetary policy in conjunc-
tion with EU policy.

Austria’s exports in 2002 were approximately $70
billion annually and its imports $73 billion. Exports
included motor vehicles and parts, metal goods, tex-
tiles, chemicals, and iron and steel. Imports included
oil and oil products, foodstuffs, and machinery and
equipment. In the early 2000s, Austria’s membership
in the EU attracted foreign investors. However, slow-
ing growth in Germany, and globally, also affected
Austria’s growth. In order to compete with both the
EU and central Europe, economists suggest Austria
needs to emphasize its knowledge-based sectors of the
economy, while continuing to deregulate the service
sector and lower tax burdens.
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Austrian School

THE AUSTRIAN SCHOOL, also called the Vienna
School or Austrian School of Marginal Utility, describes
a school of economic thought whose main contribution
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relies on the development of the theory of marginal UTIL-
ITY, and the related price and distribution theory. In
comparison to classical (objective) ECONOMIC THEORY,
the theory of marginal utility defends a subjectively
based price, wage, and interest theory. Marginal utility
is defined as the last disposable unit of a good that ful-
fils the least urgent need. Through several generations of
economists, the Austrian School produced additional pi-
oneer theories, which became, to a large extent, part of
mainstream economics.

In the beginning the term “Austrian School” was
derisively used by German economists, following a his-
toric approach, to distinguish different schools of
thought; later on the Austrian School became the pre-
vailing economic school until WORLD WAR 1. At the same
time, Vienna was considered a center of theoretical eco-
nomics in Europe. In the early 2000s, the Austrian
School experienced a revival after having fallen into
oblivion in the aftermath of World War II.

With the publication of Principles of Economics in
1871, by Carl MENGER (1840-1921) came the founda-
tion of the Austrian School. Together with Leon WALRAS
and William Stanley JEVONS, Menger “spelled out the
subjective basis of economic value, and fully explained,
for the first time, the theory of marginal utility (the
greater the number of units of a good that an individual
possesses, the less he will value any given unit). In addi-
tion, Menger showed how money originates in a free
market when the most marketable commodity is de-
sired, not for consumption, but for use in trading with
other goods,” explains the Mises Institute.

Menger, a professor of economics at the University
of Innsbruck, Austria, was considered a classical liberal
and methodological individualist. Contrary to the Ger-
man Historical School understanding of economics as
the accumulation of data in service of the state, Menger
described economics as the science of individual choice
and human action based on deductive logic. He thus
prepared the ground for later writings against socialist
thought.

Menger’s students, Friedrich von Wieser (1851-1926)
and Eugen von BOHM-BAWERK (1851-1914) are the two
main representatives of the First Generation of the Aus-
trian School. Von Wieser formulated the most comprehen-
sive economic theory based on the principle of marginal
utility and influenced the older Swedish School, namely K.
Wicksell and E. Lindhal. He further contributed with the
landmark Social Economics (1914) and a revolutionary
interpretation of cost showing that “the value of produc-
tion factors does not only lie in the money spent, but on
the opportunities missed by not spending that money on
something else.” This concept was later referred to as op-
portunity COST. Bohm-Bawerk applied the marginal utility
principle to value, price, capital and interest theories. In his
History and Critique of Interest Theories, Bohm-Bawerk

showed that “the interest rate is not an artificial construct
but an inherent part of the market” reflecting the universal
fact of time preference (people tend to satisfy preferences
sooner rather than later).

In Positive Theory of Capital, Bohm-Bawerk demon-
strated that “the normal rate of business profit is the in-
terest rate. Capitalists save money, pay laborers, and
wait until the final product is sold to receive profit.” He
further wrote against the socialist doctrine of capital
and wages and interventionism. During the period when
Bohm-Bawerk served as finance minister (three times)
for the Habsburg monarchy, he fought for “balanced
budgets, sound money and the gold standard, free
trade, and the repeal of export subsidies and other mo-
nopoly privileges.”

The Second Generation of the Austrian School in-
cludes, in particular, Ludwig von MisEs (1881-1973) and
Joseph SCHUMPETER (1883-1950). Von Mises developed
the theory of marginal utility further, applying it to
money (The Theory of Money and Credit, 1912). In So-
cialism (1921) he predicted the end of sociaLism. While
the debate between the Austrian School and the social-
ists continued, and many academics thought the debate
resolved in favor of socialism, world socialism collapsed
in 1989.

In the 1920s and 1930s, von Mises wrote a series of
essays on the deductive method in economics, later
called the logic of action. It should be noted that in
1934, the Austrian philosopher Sir Karl Popper pub-
lished the first edition of his epochal book The Logic of
Scientific Discovery, which includes a pleading for de-
ductive methodology to be applied in science, and re-
lates scientific progress to trial and error processes. Von
Mises further worked, with his student Friedrich von
HAYEK, on the Austrian theory of the BUSINESS CYCLE, at
the same time warning of the danger of credit expansion
and predicting the coming currency crises. Mises
founded the Austrian Institute of Business Cycle Re-
search and put Hayek in charge of it. In 1974, Hayek
was awarded the Nobel Prize in Economics for this
work. Since life for economists was difficult in Austria
due to the economic crises and the Nazi regime, von
Mises came to the UNITED STATES where his book,
Human Action, appeared in 1949 and remains the eco-
nomic treatise that defines the school.

Schumpeter’s notoriety relates to his sensational
book, Theory of Economic Development, representing
the first analysis of capitalism’s inherent dynamism: The
ENTREPRENEUR becomes the crucial part of the economic
system, his or her innovations constantly revive the cap-
italist market system, naturally never in equilibrium.
Schumpeter is considered the economist of the 1990s,
since his theories contributed to a smoother transition
from socialism to capitalism in post-communist
economies. A Schumpeterian process does not start on
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its own. Framework conditions are necessary, including
a functioning financial sector, a certain level of educa-
tion and motivation of the population, as well as a cer-
tain pro-capitalist value system.

With von Mises, many other Austrian economists of
the so-called Third Generation including von Hayek
(1889-1992), Oskar Morgenstern (1902-76), Gottfried
von Haberler (1900- ) and Fritz Machlup (1902-83)
went to the United States and taught at universities such
as Princeton, Harvard, or Columbia. Von Hayek can be
considered as the central leader of conservative econo-
mists, and later became a prime opponent of Keynesian
economics, publishing books on exchange rates, capital
theory, and monetary reform. His popular book, Road
to Serfdom, helped revive the classical liberal movement
in America after the NEW DEAL and World War II. In his
writings, von Hayek particularly attacked mixed
economies, “the muddle of the middle,” defending at
the same time a spontaneous order, the rule of law, the
necessary cultural preconditions for a market economy,
and social minimum standards.

In 1982, Machlup summarized six main tenets of
the Austrian School encompassing methodological indi-
vidualism; methodological subjectivism; marginalism;
tastes and preferences; opportunity costs; and time
structure of consumption and production that entered
mainstream economics.

Israel M. Kirchner (1930-) together with Murray N.
ROTHBARD (1926— ) and James M. BUCHANAN (1919-)
belong to the Fourth (American) Generation of the Aus-
trian School. They define two tenets, namely markets as
process and radical uncertainty that distinguish the Aus-
trian School from mainstream thought. For this latter
generation, as well as the Fifth and Sixth Generations of
Austrian economists (including Rizzo, Lavoie, Garrison,
White, Block and Salerno as well as Selgin, Boettke, Hor-
witz and Prychitko) the ideas spelled out particularly by
Von Mises and Hayek became the framework for an al-
ternative paradigm in economic science and have thus re-
born the Austrian School as a distinct school of economic
thought, further developing capital-based macroeconom-
ics and trade cycle theory.
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autarky

A SITUATION WHERE A country does not TRADE with
other nations is referred to as an autarky. The immedi-
ate implication is that an autarkic country can consume
only what it produces.

Theoretically, exceptionally high transportation and
communication costs could make a country autarkic. In
practice, however, in at least the last few centuries these
costs have not been high enough to fully prevent a coun-
try from trading. Therefore, in practice a country can
become autarkic only as a result of extremely restrictive
trade policies.

A government may, for instance, simply enforce di-
rect restrictions to block trade. Alternatively, it may im-
pose trade barriers high enough to fully discourage trade
with outsiders. A country may become autarkic invol-
untarily as well, in the event all other countries, perhaps
motivated by political and diplomatic strains, decide to
stop trading with it.

Throughout history, and especially in recent years,
the concept of autarky has become mainly theoretical.
The last country that could have been characterized as
an approximate autarky was Albania, which adopted
an increasingly strict policy of self-reliance from 1945
until 1991, when it rejected its isolationist socialist
regime. Albania’s economic inward orientation re-
flected, essentially, its government’s political orientation
at that time.

Despite its practical irrelevance, the concept of au-
tarky is analytically very helpful. It is by comparing au-
tarky relative prices—that is, the relative prices
countries would face in the absence of trade—that one
can theoretically determine countries’ comparative ad-
vantages (a key concept in international trade), and the
resulting pattern of trade among them. The concept of
autarky is useful as well to highlight the gains from its
antipode, free trade. In fact, most international trade
textbooks rely heavily on the contrast between autarky
and free trade to draw attention to the effects of the lat-
ter. It can be used as a benchmark in sophisticated
analyses as well. A recent example is Philip Levy
(1997), who analyzes the impact of free trade areas on
the political support for liberalization at the multilat-
eral level.
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automobiles

THE KEY MANUFACTURING SECTOR for many na-
tions in the 20th century, the automobile has trans-
formed everyday life in most regions of the world, from
transportation and travel to social customs and domes-
tic life, even affecting national economic planning.
Nowhere have the automobile’s effects been more ap-
parent than in North America, where car ownership
consistently ranked as the highest in the world after
1900. Despite its mass popularity with consumers, how-
ever, the automobile has been blamed for some of the
scourges of the 20th century: suburban sprawl, air pol-
lution, and declining social cohesion.

From craft production to mass production. The modern
automobile—typically a four-wheeled vehicle powered
by a gasoline- or diesel-fueled, internal combustion en-
gine—dates to the last decades of the 19th century. Ger-
mans Gottleib Daimler and Karl Benz were two of the
first European inventors to conduct successful trial runs
of automobiles in 1885 and 1886. Within five years,
Benz earned the distinction of becoming the first auto-
mobile manufacturer in the world. In 1893, Charles and
Frank Duryea staged a pioneering automobile run in the
UNITED STATES in Springfield, Massachusetts. Two years
later, the first auto race in the Americas took place to
great public acclaim. The interest translated into strong
consumer demand for the new “horseless carriages,”
and the Duryeas became the first American automobile
manufacturers in 1897.

By the turn of the century more than 30 other com-
panies joined them in selling over 2,500 cars annually. In
1900, about 8,000 automobiles were registered in the
United States. Like their European counterparts, Ameri-
can models were expensive—essentially luxurious, mo-
torized carriages—and considered a plaything of the
rich.

In 1901, Ransom E. Olds produced the first cars
aimed at the lower-priced market, the Oldsmobile,
which retailed for about $650. Olds was joined in the
mid-priced market by Henry FORD, who founded the
FORD MOTOR COMPANY in 1903. The success of Ford’s
Model N, which sold for $700 in 1907, proved that au-
tomakers could succeed by selling to a broader range of
consumers. Ford sold over 8,000 Model Ns in 1907-8
and amassed a million-dollar profit. By WORLD WAR I,
the Ford Motor Company was the world’s largest auto-
mobile maker due to the success of the Model T, which
debuted in 1908-09. More than any other car of its era,
the Model T revolutionized the automobile industry and
transformed American society.

Ford’s first plant, on Mack Avenue in Detroit,
Michigan, was essentially an assembly site for compo-
nents produced elsewhere. Ford’s car bodies, for exam-

ple, were built by the Dodge Brothers before being sent
to the Mack Avenue assembly line. Ford streamlined
many of the operations on the assembly line and began
to produce many of the automobile components himself
in order to guarantee their delivery and keep production
flowing. It was not until Ford built his Highland Park,
Michigan, plant in 1909 that mass production of auto-
mobiles began in earnest. Under the system that came to
be known as “Fordism,” each task on the assembly line
was simplified and routinized, de-skilling each step and
lessening Ford’s dependence on more expensive, skilled
labor. Wherever machines could be used in place of
human labor, Ford made the technological investment.
His managers also experimented endlessly with the pace
of the production line, seeking the highest possible rate
of production without jeopardizing the quality of the
final product.

To contemporary observers, Ford’s Highland Park
plant seemed a technological and managerial marvel. To
those who worked there, though, the place was dehu-
manizing, the work monotonous, and the pace brutaliz-
ing. By 1913, the daily absentee rate at Highland Park
stood at 10 percent and the annual turnover rate reached
380 percent. Searching for solutions, Ford hit upon the
idea of a major wage increase, that he publicized as an un-
precedented “Five-Dollar Day” for Ford workers. Al-
though the widely praised Five-Dollar Day was actually
comprised of the same $2.34 base wage that had previ-
ously been in place, it contained a profit-sharing provision
that indeed brought some workers’ wages to the five-dol-
lar-a-day level. Other automobile manufacturers were
soon forced to match Ford’s wages, but Ford reaped most
of the publicity; his act seemed almost philanthropic and
he was even accused of “spoiling” his workers. The high
wages of the American automobile industry, however,
which remained its hallmark for generations, came at the
price for workers of ceding control of their labor on the
assembly line. The issue was revisited after World War II,
when Walter Reuther of the United Automobile Workers
(UAW) union attempted to gain a voice for labor in pro-
duction and management decisions, but latter-day
Fordism prevailed.

Although Ford was no philanthropist in raising his
workers’ wages, his announcement of the Five-Dollar
Day in January, 1914, brought thousands of workers
and their families into the consumer class for mass-pro-
duction items such as automobiles. In the 1920s, about
47 percent of Ford workers were car owners, a figure
that dwarfed the rate of car ownership for other un-
skilled, working-class groups in the United States and
seemed impossible to imagine in any other country.

Competition and the rise of General Motors. Between
1900 and 1910 the number of automobile registrations
jumped from about 8,000 to 469,000 in the United
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States. Despite the rapid and continuous growth in sales,
the industry itself was characterized by volatility and un-
certainty. At least three hundred of the five hundred au-
tomobile companies that set up shop between 1900 and
1908 in North America went out of business. The typical
fledgling automaker during this period was undercapital-
ized and under constant—and unreasonable—demands
for quick returns by its investors, most of who saw the
new industry as a speculative venture. After Olds and
Ford started drastically increasing production on their
assembly lines, most other auto makers were unable to
keep up the pace necessary to compete in the industry.
With capital requirements for larger factories, more tools
and machines, and—eventually—higher wages even for
unskilled workers, the barriers to entering the auto mar-
ket became prohibitive for all but the most determined—
and well-funded—prospective manufacturer.

A cartel of 32 manufacturers further attempted to
limit new entrants into the industry by enforcing the
Selden Patent, which appeared to retain the rights to all
gasoline-engine-powered automobiles, in the first
decade of the 20th century. By the time the Selden Patent
was voided by a court in 1911, largely on the efforts of
Henry Ford, the Association of Licensed Automobile
Manufacturers (ALAM) had driven or bought out sev-

By the late 1990s, the automobile added $100 billion annu-
ally in gross domestic product to the American economy.

eral smaller auto companies. The lead advocate of the
ALAM, William C. Durant, soon emerged as Ford’s
chief competitor in the industry as the founder of GEN-
ERAL MOTORS (GM), organized in 1908 after merging
several automobile lines.

Although GM shared the basics of Fordism in its
manufacturing, the company took a different approach
to marketing. In contrast to Ford, who relied on lower-
ing the price of the Model T in the 1920s to gain market
share, GM presented an entire line of automobiles
across the consumer market. The luxurious Cadillac,
aimed at the high-end market, was followed by the
Buick and Oldsmobile, also marketed to the established
professional class, the Pontiac, for the upwardly mobile
middle-class, and the Chevrolet, an economy car that
competed most directly for Ford buyers. Annual style
updates, usually mere cosmetic changes, also generated
consumer interest in GM’s new models each year. The
biggest contrast between Ford and GM, however, was
the installment-buying that GM offered through its Gen-
eral Motors Acceptance Corporation, which it estab-
lished as its consumer-credit arm in 1919. By 1921,
about half of American cars were purchased on install-
ment and GM succeeded Ford as the country’s largest
auto maker in 1930; Ford later battled with the Chrysler
Corporation for second place among American automo-
bile manufacturers.

Along with Chrysler, Ford and GM comprised the
“Big Three” American automakers. A few smaller, “in-
dependent” automakers continued to struggle along in
North America, but the Big Three’s market share was
not seriously challenged from the 1930s through the
1970s. GM had 43 percent of the American auto market
in 1936, with Chrysler holding 25 percent and Ford
holding 22 percent. The remaining 10 percent of the
market was held by a few independent companies—
Hudson, Packard, Studebaker, and Willys among
them—that would merge or disappear altogether by the
1960s.

Unionization in the American auto industry. Through
installment-buying and a generally prosperous economy,
most American automobile manufacturers enjoyed
steady sales and profits through the 1920s. In contrast,
the decade of the Great DEPRESSION brought an abrupt
downturn to the industry. GM stock went from a high
of $91 a share in 1929 to $13 per share in 1933. The in-
dustry was also rocked by the demands for union repre-
sentation in its plants, which gathered in force after
President Franklin D. ROOSEVELT’s administration imple-
mented such NEW DEAL measures as the National Recov-
ery Act of June 1933 and the Wagner Labor Relations
Act of 1935.

Seeking job security, higher wages, and improved
working conditions, many auto workers attempted to
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form independent labor unions to engage in collective
bargaining with the auto makers. Workers were met
with a brutal, and sometimes patently illegal, response
by almost every automaker. After trying to allay the
unionization impulse by forming company-controlled
employee relations programs (ERPs), the Big Three re-
sorted to intimidation—sometimes including physical
violence—legal maneuvering, and public-relations cam-
paigns throughout the 1930s. A strike wave that began
in 1934 culminated in a series of sit-down strikes in
GM plants throughout the Midwest in the winter of
1936-37, in which workers occupied GM property and
refused to move until their union gained recognition by
management.

Although the sit-down strikes were illegal, federal
and state governments refused to remove the strikers
and GM capitulated, becoming the first of the Big Three
to recognize the United Auto Workers (UAW) union as
the collective bargaining agent of its work force. With
the collective bargaining agreement between the Ford
Motor Company and the UAW of June, 1941, the
unionization of the Big Three was essentially complete.

In exchange for agreeing to a no-strike pledge
during WORLD WAR 1II, the UAW completed the union-
ization of the entire auto industry by the end of the
war. The postwar era in the auto industry focused,
then, not on the issues of the right to collective bar-
gaining, but rather on how far the process would go
in terms of wages, benefits, and working conditions.
The UAW attempted to modify the Ford arrangement
of higher wages in exchange for ceding managerial
control of the shop floor, which they had established
even before the union came into existence. Although
the union introduced the topic of managerial deci-
sion-making into collective bargaining throughout
the 1940s, it failed to make headway on the issue.
The legal climate, which had been more favorable to
labor’s agenda in the 1930s and during World War II,
had again turned against labor again with the passage
of the Taft-Hartley Act of 1947, which limited labor’s
ability to engage in general strikes and other collec-
tive actions.

It was the 1950 agreement between General Mo-
tors and the UAW, publicized as the “Treaty of De-
troit,” that formed the outlines of collective bargaining
for the next generation in the American automobile in-
dustry. In exchange for improved wages and benefits—
including cost-of-living adjustments, pensions, and
health care provisions—automakers retained all mana-
gerial prerogatives, including production and invest-
ment decisions. The framework of the Treaty of Detroit
allowed automakers to enjoy a measure of stability in
their work force and autoworkers to expand their
wage and benefits packages in succeeding years. Sup-
plemental unemployment benefits were added to col-

lective bargaining agreements between the UAW and
the Big Three in 1955 and early retirement provisions
came into effect in 1964.

The golden age of the automobile. The 1950s and
1960s were the golden age of the American automobile
industry as it shared in the nearly continuous economic
prosperity in North America. Foreign automakers, re-
covering from the devastation of World War II, had not
yet geared up major exporting efforts, and instead con-
centrated on rebuilding their domestic markets. Al-
though sales of the German Volkswagen Beetle were on
the rise, there was little foreign competition in North
America, particularly among the ranks of the most prof-
itable, full-sized luxury cars that dominated the market-
place. Despite the publicity over consumer advocate
Ralph Nader’s Unsafe at Any Speed in 1965, automak-
ers concentrated more on annual style updates on the
larger, more profitable models, instead of technological
and safety innovations or the introduction of smaller,
more efficient cars in the 1960s.

Not that most North American consumers wanted
smaller cars. One of the last of the independent au-
tomakers, Studebaker, tried to capture the small-car
market with its Lark in the early 1960s and was out of
business by 1965. Another independent, Nash Motors,
had somewhat better success with its Rambler line; it
managed to stave off bankruptcy by merging with some
of the other independents to form the American Motors
Corporation in 1959. The Big Three occasionally made
forays into the small-car market, but its most notable
effort, the Chevrolet Corvair, ended in an unqualified
disaster.

After Nader exposed crucial design flaws in the
car—with its rear-wheel drive and concentration of
weight in the rear part of the vehicle, the Corvair had an
increased chance of rolling over if a driver lost control
while turning—General Motors eased the car out of
production, even though it had corrected the problem in
its later-model Corvairs. GM’s heavy-handed tactics
against Nader, including the use of private detectives to
dig up dirt on the irrepressible crusader, backfired when
the company was forced to pay a settlement to its ad-
versary for its questionable actions.

Although some consumers turned away from the
Big Three’s products, foreign automakers held just 5
percent of the American market in 1963. By 1971, how-
ever, their share had increased to 16 percent, an omi-
nous trend once gasoline prices skyrocketed after the
ORGANIZATION OF PETROLEUM EXPORTING COUNTRIES
(OPEC) oil embargoes of the early 1970s. Although
many of the imported autos were luxury makes such as
the Mercedes-Benz or sports cars from Fiat or MG, in-
creasingly they were fuel-efficient Japanese models from
Honda and Toyota.
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Consumerism and criticism. Critics of the automobile
also accused the industry of fostering detrimental long-
range social trends, including urban sprawl. The 1970
U.S. Census revealed that for the first time in American
history, more people lived in suburban areas than in
cities or on farms. It was a trend that began with the
post-World War II building boom, when returning vet-
erans and their growing families took advantage of
high wages, low interest rates, and a booming econ-
omy to buy their piece of the American Dream: a new
home. The federal government encouraged Americans
to buy their own homes with low-interest loans
through the Veterans Administration, and by investing
billions of dollars in a new interstate highway system.
As a result, 83 percent of America’s population growth
took place in the suburbs between 1950-70. Almost all
of the new suburbanites required an automobile to
take them from their homes to shopping centers,
schools, and places of work.

Critics of suburbanization duly noted that the new
developments took up huge amounts of land, much of it
in prime agricultural areas, and made automobile own-
ership a necessity, as most cities did not expand their
mass transit operations into suburban areas. As social
critics castigated the typical suburbanite as an apolitical
conformist, obsessed with status symbols and fitting in,
the American luxury cruiser came to symbolize the ma-
terialism and superficiality of American life.

The energy crisis. On October 6, 1973, EGYPT and SYRIA
launched a military offensive against ISRAEL in a conflict
that came to be known as the Yom Kippur War, after the
Jewish holy day that marked the conflict’s first day.
After the United States came to Israel’s aid, the seven
Arab nations in OPEC announced an oil embargo
against Israel’s supporters, including the United States,
JAPAN, and most western European countries. The em-
bargo, lasting from October 1973 to March 1974, cre-
ated fundamental changes in the global economy and
had an immediate impact on American society as well.
In 1967, 2.2 million barrels of oil were imported each
day that represented 19 percent of American oil con-
sumption. On the eve of the energy crisis in late 1973,
America imported six million barrels of oil a day—36
percent of its total oil consumption.

The most visible change induced by the oil embargo
was the long lines at gas pumps around the country;
only during World War II had gasoline been rationed,
and gas prices had remained low in the United States
by world standards since then. Suddenly, the average
American had to contend with a peacetime gasoline
shortage; when there was gas, its price had increased
by 40 percent in just a few months. The American
economy, which had been built in large part upon the
availability of cheap oil, experienced a sharp recession.

Along with the INFLATION triggered by higher energy
prices, a period of “stagflation”—an economic down-
turn accompanied by persistent inflation and unem-
ployment—shook the confidence of the American
consumer in 1973 and 1974. After another price hike
by OPEC near the end of the decade, energy prices rose
an additional 60 percent, contributing to a 14 percent
U.S. inflation rate in 1979.

It seemed that the American Dream—symbolized by
a new home in a far-flung suburb with an ever-larger au-
tomobile in the driveway—had reached the end of the
road. The energy crisis thus led to a fundamental re-
evaluation of the typical American’s lifestyle. Conserva-
tion and fuel efficiency became the bywords of the new
era, accompanied by an uncertainty about the country’s
economic prospects and its ability to influence the for-
eign policies of OPEC members.

Although domestic automobile manufacturers later
blamed unfair trade regulations and a supposedly high
wage rate for their slumping competitiveness in the
1970s, their own decisions had laid the groundwork for
the decline. In the days of little foreign competition,
cheap gasoline, and a ready consumer market, the Big
Three had passed numerous opportunities to diversify
their product lineup to include additional smaller mod-
els. Convinced that the American driver would never
purchase an economy car, even the smaller-sized, less ex-
pensive domestic makes were sold as aspiring full-sized
luxury cars.

Reorganization and internationalization. Scrambling
to recapture their market share throughout the 1970s,
American automakers responded with a series of cost-
cutting measures that undermined their relationship
with their work force. In addition to speeding up pro-
duction lines in older factories, auto makers attempted
to replace workers with robotic machines in their newer
plants. The Big Three also relocated many of their parts
and assembly plants in non-unionized, lower-wage loca-
tions outside of the United States. Although GM had op-
erated factories outside the States since the 1920s to
serve various domestic markets, it now made autos for
the American market in its international plants. By
1980, GM operated 23 plants outside of the United
States, a trend followed by the other members of the Big
Three. Although some consumers responded with a
“Buy American” campaign in the 1980s, the trend to-
ward foreign assembly and components production con-
tinued unabated.

In contrast, foreign automakers such as Honda,
Mercedes-Benz, Subaru-Isuzu, and Toyota invested
billions of dollars to build assembly plants in the
United States in the 1980s and 1990s, beginning with
Honda’s operation of a plant in Marysville, Ohio, in
November 1982. Rejecting attempts by the UAW to
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unionize their work forces, the so-called “transplant”
producers instead focused on quality circles and other
employee-involvement programs to boost production
and morale in their plants. As of 1998, over 990,000
full-time workers were employed in the automobile
manufacturing sector; those in the Big Three largely
remained unionized, while only those in joint-manu-
facturing operations among the transplant companies
were unionized.

The 1990s were generally favorable to the North
American auto industry, which remained a major con-
tributor to the American economy with over $105 bil-
lion added to the GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) in
1998 alone. While Ford and Chrysler seemed to adapt
to the demands of lean manufacturing to remain com-
petitive and offered numerous successful smaller mod-
els, however, GM was often criticized for organizational
disarray and lackluster product development. In 1991
and 1992, the company was estimated to have lost $15
billion in North America alone. Even its attempts to di-
versify its core businesses by purchasing Hughes Aircraft
and Electronic Data Systems kicked off a storm of con-
troversy and criticism. Like their transplant counter-
parts, however, American automakers (still known as
the Big Three, even after Chrysler’s purchase by Daim-
ler-Benz in 1997) continued to emphasize the principles
of total quality management to achieve impressive re-
sults over the past two decades.

Indeed, by the late 1990s the automobile industry
added $100 billion in GDP to the American economy.
The automobile industry also fostered a rising standard
of living for its workers by paying wages that ranked at
the top of the industrial sector, a trend that had begun
with Henry Ford’s announcement of a Five-Dollar Day
in 1914. The industry’s almost complete unionization by
1941, however, was even more crucial in establishing
the autoworker’s reputation among the elite of indus-
trial workers. In addition to its economic and techno-
logical accomplishments, so too did the industry
transform the social and cultural life of the American
nation.

With almost 208 million motor vehicles registered
in the United States in 1997, the country ranked as the
most automobile-dependent nation on earth, with al-
most 458 cars per 1,000 persons.
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Aviva

HEADQUARTERED IN LONDON, ENGLAND,
Aviva places seventh in the list of the world’s largest in-
surance groups, one of the top five insurance compa-
nies in Europe and the UNITED KINGDOM’s top insurer
(Fortune magazine estimates). While 50 percent of its
business lies in the UK, Aviva also has strong markets
in AUSTRALIA, CANADA, FRANCE, IRELAND, ITALY, the
NETHERLANDS, POLAND and SPAIN. Besides offering gen-
eral insurance, its two other main activities include the
services of long-term savings and fund management. It
has worldwide premium income and investment sales
of £28 billion from ongoing operations, plus more
than £200 billion in assets under management. Ac-
cording to July 2002 figures, it had 25 million cus-
tomers with 68,000 employees.

Formerly called CGNU Insurance, Aviva created a
new name that “represents part of the group’s planned
journey towards being recognized as a world-class fi-
nancial services provider.” As of July 1, 2002, the
Aviva brand brought together 50 different trading
units from around the world to generate further op-
portunities to harness the benefits of size and interna-
tional advantage.

Envisioned change is significant, allowing Aviva
to make more of the corporate brand, benefit its trad-
ing businesses, and fine-tune marketing, advertising,
and sponsor relationships.

By the close of 2001, Aviva’s operating profit (be-
fore tax) was up 41 percent and new business in-
creased 10 percent. At mid-year 2002, these figures
remained steady, and Aviva reported $52 billion in an-
nual 2001 revenue.
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AXA

WHEN CLAUDE BEBEAR TOOK OVER at Anciennes
Mutuelles, a regional French insurer, no one would
have believed that it would one day be one of the
world’s major financial companies. Bébéar made a rep-
utation for acquiring distressed companies, making a
specialty of turning around businesses that others thought
were hopeless.

His first large coup was taking over Drouot, one of
FRANCE’s largest insurers, in 1982 even as the newly
elected government mulled nationalizing the industry. In
19835, he renamed the company, foreseeing a world fi-
nancial role: AXA is not an abbreviation but a simple
name that can be pronounced in many languages.

In 1991 AXA made its first large foray into the
United States, securing the Equitable (hit by huge losses in
real estate and junk bonds) with its Donaldson, Lufkin &
Jenrette trading group. In 1996 AXA took over the larger
Union des Assurances de Paris (UAP) in a merger that cat-
apulted AXA into the world’s top league of insurers.

Fortune magazine ranked AXA as the 31st largest
company in the world in 2003, with revenues exceeding
$62 billion.

BIBLIOGRAPHY. AXA Annual Reports, www.axa.com;
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KevVIN R FOSTER, PH.D.
City COLLEGE OF NEW YORK




Bahamas

THE COMMONWEALTH of the Bahamas is located
on the northwest edge of the West Indies, and is com-
prised of approximately 700 islands and cays and more
than 2,000 rock formations. The capital is Nassau, lo-
cated on New Providence Island. Other islands include
Grand Bahama, with the cities of Freeport and West
End, and Great Inagua Island.

In 2002, the population of the Bahamas was ap-
proximately 300,000 and concentrated in the urban cen-
ters of Nassau and Freeport. The population is largely of
African descent, a result of the Bahamas’ early days as a
slave-trading center, with a minority descended from
English settlers, as well as from Syrians, Greeks, Haitians,
and other West Indians. English is the native language and
Creole is spoken among Haitians. Due to immigration
from the United States and other West Indian islands,
the Bahamas’ rate of population growth is substantially
greater than the Caribbean average.

In 1492, Christopher Columbus landed in the Ba-
hamas. However it was not until the mid-1600s that a
permanent European settlement was established by the
British. In 1964, the Bahamas was granted internal au-
tonomy and in 1973 it was granted independence.

Until the mid-1900s, farming and fishing were the
major economic activities. Since attaining independence,
the Bahamas has become a stable, developing nation
with an economy heavily dependent on tourism and off-
shore banking. Due to a wonderful climate and beauti-
ful beaches, the Bahamas is one of the most popular
year-round travel destinations in the western hemi-
sphere. Tourism continues to grow and has led to a
boom in construction of hotels, resorts, and residences,
and to solid economic growth. Tourism accounts for
more than 60 percent of the GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT

(GDP) and directly or indirectly employs approximately
half of the country’s labor force.

Because of favorable tax laws, the Bahamas has be-
come a growing international financial center, and bank-
ing has become its second most important industry.
Manufacturing, agriculture, and industry, including the
production of petroleum, salt, and rum, contribute
about one-tenth of the GDP and show minimal growth.
The Bahamas is also a major shipping point for illegal
drugs and its territory is used for smuggling illegal im-
migrants into the UNITED STATES.

In the short run, overall economic growth prospects
rest heavily on the tourism industry, which itself de-
pends on growth in the United States, the major source
of tourists who visit the Bahamas.
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Bahrain

THE KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN is an archipelago in
the Persian Gulf consisting of 33 islands, only six of
which are inhabited. Its capital is Manama, and it is a
constitutional hereditary monarchy in the form of an
emirate with an executive-cabinet form of government
and a separate judiciary.
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The emir, or head of state, is also supreme com-
mander of the Bahrain Defense Force (BDF). Although
the king has substantial executive powers, in practice he
has delegated decision-making authority to a cabinet
since 1956, when a decree created the Administrative
Council, an 11-member body that advised the ruler on
policy and supervised the growing bureaucracy.

In 1970, this was transformed into a 12-member
Council of Ministers. The president of the Council of
Ministers, the prime minister, serves as the head of gov-
ernment. The emir appoints the prime minister, who then
forms a government by selecting members of the Council
of Ministers, albeit in consultation with the emir. The
ministers are directly responsible to the prime minister,
who, like the emir, has authority to veto a decision by
any member of the council. Bahrain formally gained its
independence from the UNITED KINGDOM in 1971.

Unlike other Persian Gulf countries, Bahrain pos-
sesses minimal oil reserves, but has become an interna-
tional banking center and is involved with petroleum
processing and refining.

The constitution was suspended in 1975; amended
and ratified again in 2001. Bahrain has a high rate of lit-
eracy of 88 percent. Both men and women over the age
of 18 may vote. Islam is the official religion and its judi-
cial system is based partly on Islamic law and English
Common Law. Bahrain has a mixed economy with gov-
ernment control of many basic industries. However, the
emir is slowly privatizing all industries and reforming
the political system.

With a population of just over 650,000 in 2001,
Bahrain had a GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) of $8.4
billion.

BIBLIOGRAPHY. The Department of State Background Note,
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Bank of America

BANK OF AMERICA IS THE THIRD LARGEST bank
in the United States with assets of $638 billion (2002). It
derives 92 percent of its revenues from domestic opera-
tions in 21 states and the District of Columbia making it
the nation’s largest consumer bank—a fact that would
have surely given its founder, A.P. Giannini, a great deal
of pleasure.

A.P. (Amadeo Peter) Giannini (1870-1949), known
as the father of retail banking and one of the industry’s

great innovators, led the Bank of America through its
first five decades. He was born in San Jose, California,
and by age 31, had already made his fortune as a pro-
duce wholesaler. While serving as a director for a local
bank in San Francisco, Giannini realized that the finan-
cial needs of the burgeoning population of Italian im-
migrants located in city’s North Beach neighborhood
was being ignored and he urged the bank to extend its
services to “the little people.” The bank’s leaders did
not see any profit potential in small customers and re-
fused to implement his ideas. Frustrated, Giannini or-
ganized his own bank and on October 15, 1904, Bank
of Italy (eventually to become Bank of America) opened
for business.

Bank of Italy was the first to cater to an immi-
grant population previously forced to go to loan sharks
and hide their savings in their homes. Many of Bank
of Italy’s early patrons had never been inside a bank
before and did not speak or write English. At a time
when bankers toiled behind closed doors and ignored
the working class, Giannini placed his desk on the
lobby floor and took to the streets to convince the
local residents to put their savings in his bank. He ad-
vertised his bank’s willingness to make loans under
$100 and employed Italian-speaking tellers. He also
insisted that Bank of Italy’s stock be widely distrib-
uted among local investors and he limited the bank’s
directors and executives to 100 shares each of the ini-
tial 3,000-share offering.

Bank of Italy’s reputation in San Francisco was se-
cured during the Great Earthquake and Fire of 1906,
which destroyed the city, including the bank’s offices as
well as 3,700 of North Beach’s 4,000 residences. Seeing
opportunity in the disaster, Giannini made a great show
of setting up a makeshift counter on the Washington
Street wharf and proclaiming the bank open for busi-
ness. He extended loans to ship captains to bring in
loads of lumber and to local residents who were strug-
gling to restore their homes and businesses. As a result,
North Beach became the first area of the city to rebuild.
Giannini became a local hero and customers flocked to
the bank.

Once Giannini proved the efficacy of his business
model, he quickly extended it to other underserved eth-
nic groups. Bank of Italy created departments to cater to
Chinese, Greek, Portuguese, Slovenian, Spanish, Latin,
and Russian immigrants.

Giannini’s greatest ambition, and the challenge that
would consume him until his death, was the establish-
ment of branch banking. At that time, the industry was
composed of many independent banks and the only
branches that existed were local offices in the same city
as the parent bank. A wider system of branches was ille-
gal in many states and in others, such as California, was
dependent on the permission of state regulators.
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Nevertheless, Giannini envisioned Bank of Italy as a
statewide system of branches that would serve all of
California. He understood that the branch system would
create a wide and ever-growing deposit base for Bank of
Italy and enable it to offer a higher level of financial
services to smaller towns and cities. Thus, in October
1909, Bank of Italy acquired the Commercial and Sav-
ings Bank of San Jose and established it as its first
branch outside of San Francisco. Giannini had set in
motion a strategy of acquisition and expansion that put
the Bank of Italy at odds with its industry as well as
state and federal governments.

Over the next two decades, Bank of Italy, under Gi-
annini’s generalship, used savvy strategies to create new
branches. In order to gain branch approvals from state
officials, it acquired many ailing independent banks, ex-
tending its reach while bolstering the condition of the
state banking system. When state officials refused to ap-
prove further growth, the bank used legal loopholes to
form new companies that were outside the scope of state
authority and established the branches under federal au-
thority. When neither state nor federal authorities would
approve further growth, the bank took its case to the
courts. Bank of Italy’s competitors often complained bit-
terly about its expansion, but the bank’s aggressive sales
force and exceptional service made it a success with con-
sumers throughout California.

In 1927, with the passage of the McFadden Act, Gi-
annini was able to unite all of the companies he had
formed in order to expand as one entity, Bank of Italy
National Trust and Savings Association. It was the third
largest bank in the United States with 276 branches in
199 communities. In the process, it became a primary
lender for California’s agriculture and movie industries.

Unsatisfied, Giannini turned his sights toward cre-
ating a national branch banking system. In 1929, he cre-
ated a holding company named Transamerica
Corporation and used it to begin buying banks across
the country. Planning to retire, he turned over the lead-
ership of Transamerica to two executives recruited from
outside the bank, who promised to carry on his program
of expansion. During the Great DEPRESSION, however,
the new leaders announced plans to sell off many of the
company’s banks. Giannini returned with a vengeance
to defend his vision. He waged a successful proxy battle
and regained control of the bank in 1932.

By 1943, the year Giannini retired, his bank was the
largest in the United States with just over $5 billion in
assets. The bank’s asset base and the strong corporate
culture that Giannini had fostered put it in an excellent
position to profit from the growth of California and
emergence of the United States as a global superpower.
By 1957, the bank boasted $10 billion in assets. In
1958, it introduced the BankAmericard credit card (now
known as Visa). The 1960s and 1970s brought a grow-

ing wave of international expansion. In 1968, a new
holding company named BankAmerica Corp. was
formed and by 1979, it held $108 billion in assets.

BankAmerica remained the nation’s largest bank
until 1980. By then, international lending had become a
minefield as countries, such as BRAZIL and MEXICO,
began defaulting on their loans. Many major banks, in-
cluding BankAmerica, incurred billions of dollars in
losses as their loans were restructured. The 1980s also
brought the deregulation of the banking industry, which
radically altered the competitive environment. The
bank’s leadership had not foreseen these developments
and it staggered through the decade. By 1989, its assets
were $98 billion, $20 billion less than a decade before.

By 1990, the bank’s downward trend stabilized and
it began to grow once again. In 1992, BankAmerica set
off a round of industry consolidation when it made the
largest banking acquisition to that date, the purchase of
California’s Security Pacific. In 1993, it acquired Texas-
based First Gibraltar. By 1997, its asset base had grown
to $260 billion and it was the fourth largest bank in the
United States.

In 1998, BankAmerica merged with the nation’s
third largest bank, Charlotte, North Carolina-based Na-
tionsBank. NationsBank dominated the merger. The
headquarters of the combined banks was Charlotte and
its new leader was NationsBank head Hugh McColl.
The new bank was named Bank of America and held as-
sets of $617 billion. A.P. Giannini’s vision of a nation-
wide chain of branch banks operating under a single
charter had finally been achieved.
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Bank of England

THE BANK OF ENGLAND was chartered as a joint-
stock company in 1694 to provide financial assistance
to the British government for war efforts on the Euro-
pean continent. Over the next three centuries the Bank
would shift from a private, profit-making enterprise to a
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government-owned CENTRAL BANK, and expand its role
to become one of the most important financial institu-
tions in the world.

Though not the oldest (that honor belongs to the
Sverige Riksbank of Sweden, established in 1668), the
Bank of England is internationally recognized as one of
the premier central banks. A central bank is a monetary
authority that oversees the banking, financial, and mon-
etary affairs of a nation. Central banks (161 existed as
of 1990) are very important for contemporary capital-
ism because they issue currency, oversee banking sys-
tems, implement exchange-rate policy, and conduct
monetary policy. Although these responsibilities give
these institutions tremendous power in manipulating
economic performance, such was not always the case.
The long history of the Bank of England provides an op-
portunity for examining the evolving role of central
banking over recent centuries.

In the early years of its existence the Bank func-
tioned as a private bank with important obligations to
the British government. Indeed, the primary function of
the Bank of England throughout the 18th century was
financing government debt through the sale of securities.
This was an era when modern central banking did not
exist and the concepts of monetary policy and “lender of
last resort” had yet to be conceived.

During the years when the UNITED KINGDOM fol-
lowed the GOLD STANDARD (1816-1914 and 1925-31),
the Bank of England was expected to convert its bank
notes to gold on demand. This restriction limited the
Bank’s discretionary power to issue CURRENCY, however,
it provided a clear rule that fostered confidence in the
Bank’s autonomy. Nonetheless, monetary crises through-
out the first half of the 19th century led to increased reg-
ulation of the Bank’s actions.

By the middle of the 19th century, the Bank had been
granted the exclusive right to issue bank notes. This power
helped shift the Bank’s responsibility away from commer-
cial operations and in the direction of serving the govern-
ment and other banks. Financial crises in 1866 and 1890
raised awareness that the Bank of England should serve as
“lender of last resort.” In this capacity the Bank was ex-
pected to provide emergency liquidity to other institutions
to address bank runs and panics.

With the demise of the gold standard in the early
20th century, the rationale for the Bank’s independence
disappeared. This change, coupled with the emergence
of Keynesian economics after WORLD WAR II, raised new
awareness of monetary policy as a political tool. With a
greater interest in government control of the economy,
the Bank of England was nationalized in 1946. For the
next four decades, the government conducted monetary
policy with the Bank’s support. Not surprisingly, there
was relatively little interest in restoring the autonomy
the Bank enjoyed under the gold standard.

Recent studies of central banking practices around
the world suggest greater bank autonomy is correlated
with greater success against INFLATION. These studies
have renewed the question of whether the Bank of Eng-
land should enjoy greater freedom from the Treasury.

In 1993 and 1994 the British government instituted
a series of reforms in this direction including formalizing
monthly meetings between the Bank governor and the
Chancellor of the Exchequer and giving the bank greater
discretion in the timing of interest rate changes.

In 1997, the Bank was given responsibility for set-
ting interest rates. This power, previously held by the
Chancellor, was transferred to a newly created Mone-
tary Policy Committee consisting of members of the
Bank Governors and Bank Directors. The Monetary
Policy Committee meets each month and immediately
announces their interest rate decisions. This move is yet
another step in the direction of greater Bank autonomy.

In the first decade of its fourth century, the Bank of
England has a very different set of responsibilities than
it did in 1694. Today’s Bank views its first task as fight-
ing inflation through monetary policy. In addition to
this responsibility, the Bank implements the British gov-
ernment’s exchange-rate policy, maintains foreign-ex-
change reserves, and is responsible for ensuring a sound
and stable financial system including serving as the
“lender of last resort” to the British banking system.
This last responsibility has been tempered somewhat by
the transfer of supervisory and regulatory powers from
the Bank to the Financial Services Authority.

The Treaty on Economic and Monetary Unifica-
tion (also known as the Maastricht Treaty) was negoti-
ated in the early 1990s to establish European Monetary
Unification. Monetary unification began January 1,
1999, and included the creation of the EURO currency
(first issued in 2002) and the EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK.
As a member of the European Community, the United
Kingdom participated in the treaty process. Although
Britain endorses the idea of the European Central Bank
and has indicated a desire to eventually join the Euro-
pean Monetary Unification, in early 2003 it had not
yet done so.

Given the terms of the Maastricht Treaty, such a de-
cision will require granting the Bank of England addi-
tional autonomy from the British government. With a
history of Bank subordination to the government through-
out the 20th century, such a move would be a dramatic
change. Nonetheless, recent reforms suggest this direc-
tion is possible.

Clearly the future role of the Bank is tied to the evo-
lution of central banking practices around the globe.
More importantly, however, the future of the Bank of
England seems strongly linked to the continuing issue of
Bank autonomy and to the fate of the newly created Eu-
ropean Central Bank.
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Bank of France

FOUNDED JANUARY 18, 1800, by the administration
of Napoleon Bonaparte, the Bank of France was part of
a broader reorganization of the French state by Napoleon
(including, for example, the establishment of a national
legal code and departmental system), that aimed at cre-
ating a post-revolutionary nation state, combating the
economic depression of the Revolutionary era, and in-
vigorating the relatively weak French economy.

It had not escaped Napoleon’s notice that dynamic
European military and economic powers in the 18th
century, such as England and the Netherlands, had ben-
efited in many spheres from the creation of central
banks. However, the first charter of the Bank of France
did not accord it the status of a CENTRAL BANK, nor give
it a monopoly on note issue, but instead limited its ac-
tions to the provision of credit and the issuing of notes
in Paris. This charter established an administrative
structure that placed great power in the hands of the
two hundred largest shareholders, known as Les deux
cent familles, who formed the General Assembly of the
Bank. This term has since become synonymous in
France with the idea that a powerful sociopolitical class
controls the strings of the French economy, and this idea
was given support by the fact that Napoleon, and many
of his political associates, were among the first members
of the General Assembly. In 1806—08 the Bank was reor-
ganized, with the Governor and his deputies appointed di-
rectly by the Emperor. This move initiated a long-running
debate, in common with other central banks, concerning
the role of the state in the management of the Bank of
France, and the extent to which it should be independ-
ent of government.

One might argue that this has been the central ques-
tion in the history of the Bank of France, for the charac-
ter of the Bank has certainly often changed according to
the prevailing political orthodoxy on central bank inde-
pendence at different moments in history.

The Bank gradually became a national, central bank
in the period after 1848 when it began to expand its op-
erations outside Paris. The Bank started to develop an
extensive national branch network at this time, taking
the place of many of the small regional banks that had
collapsed in 1848. By 1900, the Bank had representa-
tion in 411 towns, including 120 full branches, and this
regional spread also marked an extension of the bank’s
issuing powers. Economist Glyn Davies, among others,
has suggested that “Owing to its very extensive network
of branches and offices, [French] commercial banks
have not developed as rigorously as their British or Ger-
man counterparts.” Margaret G. Myers notes that this
period saw the origins of the entrenched rivalry between
the larger, joint-stock commercial banks in France and
the Bank of France, and observes that such competition
was enhanced by the fact that larger commercial banks
(unlike many private and provincial banks) had little in-
fluence on the governance of the Bank of France. Never-
theless, the scope and scale of operations of the Bank
were limited compared with other central banks.

Before World War I, the Bank was relatively unin-
volved in currency markets or in lending money abroad,
and the chief task of the bank was the maintenance of a
sense of macroeconomic stability, often through redis-
counting for other banks, and through lending money to
the French state in return for its issuing privileges. Sug-
gestions have been made that the Bank was responsible
for France’s consistently low interest rates, though
France’s traditional position as a net exporter of capital
offers another possible cause of those low rates.

The Popular Front government of 1936-38 began a
process of democratization of the Bank that culminated
in its nationalization in 1945. In 1936, more than
40,000 investors owned shares in the Bank, but this fig-
ure concealed the fact that most of its shares were held
by a small number of institutions and individuals. The
Popular Front government altered the administrative
structure of the Bank, by increasing the number of re-
gents appointed directly by government and by includ-
ing one worker’s representative.

In 1945, the Bank of France and the largest deposit
banks were nationalized, along with other major eco-
nomic entities such as Renault car company, the coal in-
dustry, and public utilities. Post-war French governments
advocated a strong role for technocratic government in
the rebuilding of the postwar economy, and in many re-
spects they were successful in this aim, using the Bank of
France in furthering such policies. In the postwar period
the Bank continued its policy of limiting its role in man-
aging the value of the franc, tracking the dollar for much
of the period, before linking the value of the franc to
that of the deutschmark. More recently, the franc has
been incorporated into the EURO and the Bank of France
forms one part of the European System of Central Banks
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that coordinates the management of monetary policy
and common interest rates across the euro-zone. The
Bank is also heavily involved in the management of the
“zone franc” in 15 African states, and with other inter-
national networks such as the INTERNATIONAL MONETARY
FUND (IMF) and the WORLD BANK.

The Bank retains its local functions, with an obliga-
tion to retain a branch in each French department (re-
gion), acting as an agent of the state in the receipt of
taxes and the provision of detailed, economic data on
the regions to central government. In theory, the Bank
has been independent of government since 1993, but
given its remit (which also includes the ensuring of price
stability and the support of governmental economic
policies such as the promotion of economic growth and
job creation), it is hardly independent in any meaningful
sense. One might, however, say that the Bank of France
does have a clear sense of its mission and that it does
function as a central bank, which was not true for much
of its history.
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Bank of Japan

THE CENTRAL BANK OF JAPAN, entrusted with the
task of maintaining the stability of the Japanese cur-
rency (the YEN) and the country’s financial system, the
Bank of Japan (BOJ) was set up in 1882. It is a corpora-
tion whose legal status is governed by a special law (the
most recent version enacted in 1998), and although the
government owns 535 percent of BOJ shareholders’ cap-
ital, the law makes BOJ independent (in particular, there
is no provision in the law for shareholders’ meetings).
The governing body of BO]J is its Policy Board. The BO]J
Governor is appointed by the Cabinet for the term of
five years and has to be approved by the Parliament. By
law, the Governor cannot be dismissed during the term
of tenure except in some well-defined cases.

Japan’s economy and its financial sector were dev-
astated after the defeat in WORLD WAR 1I. Although the
1949 version of the law on the Bank of Japan formally
gave it a certain degree of independence from the Min-
istry of Finance and the government, in practice BO]J
acted as part of the broad government. In particular, the

main goal of its monetary policy throughout the 1950s
and 1960s was not so much price level stability as pro-
viding the economy with “money for growth.”

With the Japanese economy growing very rapidly,
private investment demand was so high, compared to
the amount of savings that the economy could generate,
that BOJ had to step in aggressively to support the mar-
ket for corporate loans. The financing of investment by
Japanese firms relied heavily on the country’s banking
system, which, lacking the necessary liquid resources,
was itself in the state of “overlending,” meaning that re-
serves were often negative. Under these circumstances,
BOJ acted as a lender of last resort to commercial banks,
but it also used its position as the banking system’s most
important creditor to impose certain limits on the credit
lines extended by commercial banks (the so-called win-
dow guidance). Compared to this administrative guid-
ance, other, more conventional methods of monetary
policy, such as open market operations played a much
smaller role (in particular, because the bonds market it-
self was very undeveloped).

Things changed dramatically when the era of high
growth came to an end in the 1970s. The real growth
rate in the Japanese economy declined sharply and so
did private investment demand. Two oil shocks created
significant inflationary pressures and also led to big gov-
ernment budget deficits and the issuance of large quan-
tities of government bonds. BOJ was forced to change
both the goals and the means of its monetary policy.
Since the second half of the 1970s it had decisively
shifted its focus to combating inflation. In the wake of
reduced corporate investment demand, commercial
banks no longer needed access to the BOJ line of credit
to secure enough reserves, so that “window guidance”
was no longer an option as an instrument of monetary
policy either. Instead, BO]J started relying more and
more on standard means of monetary policy, such as
changing its official DISCOUNT RATE and using open mar-
ket operations by utilizing the growing market for gov-
ernment bonds.

The new MONETARY POLICY initiated in the late
1970s was initially successful. Inflation was brought
under control and economic growth resumed. There
were different problems, however, and BOJ was slow in
realizing the risks associated with deregulation and
globalization of the Japanese capital markets. With real
investment demand still much below that which had ex-
isted prior to the 1970s, Japanese corporations and
wealthy individuals had amassed huge financial assets
that sought profitable investment opportunities every-
where, from real estate in Japan to U.S. government
bonds and foreign currency assets. Money supply was
growing fast but BOJ, seeing no signs of consumer price
inflation, failed to implement tighter monetary policy
and curb the build-up of a speculative bubble.
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On the last day of trading in 1989, the stock price
index (NIKKEI 225) at the Tokyo stock exchange reached
its all-time peak of 38,916 yen (13 years after that, on
the last day of trading in 2002, it was down 78 percent
at 8,579 yen). In the next year, the bubble burst, leading
to the most protracted depression in the history of the
Japanese economy, with the real growth rate averaging
1.4 percent over the period of 1991-2000. In response,
BOJ implemented the zero-interest rate policy, supplying
the economy with enough liquidity to keep long-term in-
terest rates at virtually zero. This, into early 2003, was
not enough to revive the economy, however, and pres-
sure built on BOJ to supply even more liquidity by buy-
ing government debt. The new law enacted in 1998
considerably strengthened the political independence of
BOJ, however, and it continued to emphasize the stabil-
ity of the national currency and the prevention of infla-
tion as its primary goal while stressing the government’s
responsibility to implement structural reform and the re-
form of the banking sector needed to steer Japan out of
its economic conditions.
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banking, commercial

COMMERCIAL BANKS ARE in the business of pro-
viding banking services to individuals, small businesses,
and government organizations. They act as financial in-
termediaries by accepting deposited funds in a large va-
riety of forms and lending the money to households,
businesses, and government agencies. Examples of
major American commercial banks include Citigroup
Inc., Bank of America, ]J.P. Morgan Chase, Bank One
Corp., Wells Fargo & Co. Inc, Fleet Financial Group,
Sun Trust Banks Inc., and National City Corp.

Bank sources of funds. The major sources of commer-
cial bank funds come in three forms: deposit accounts,
borrowed funds, and long term funding. Deposit accounts
are composed of transaction deposits, savings deposits,
time deposits, and money market funds. Transaction de-
posits are funds kept in a bank for easy transfer to oth-
ers and include checking accounts and NOW accounts.
NOW accounts, or negotiable order of withdrawal ac-
counts, are checking accounts that pay interest. This was
legalized for banks in 1981 as a response to competition

from money market funds offered by non-bank institu-
tions. Traditional savings accounts or passbook ac-
counts pay interest, but do not provide checking
services. From the 1930s until 1986, under Regulation
Q, the government restricted the interest rates banks and
savings and loans could pay on savings accounts, 5.5
percent for savings and loans, and 5.25 percent for
banks. The federal government believed that competi-
tion could cause bank failures. Regulation Q was re-
pealed when inflation in the UNITED STATES and therefore
INTEREST RATES on Treasury Bills and Commercial Paper
exceeded 10 percent and people moved their funds from
regulated savings accounts to non-regulated money mar-
ket funds.

Borrowed funds are federal funds purchased, bor-
rowing from the Federal Reserve banks, repurchase
agreements, and eurodollar borrowing. The federal
funds rate is the lending rate between banks that are
members of the FEDERAL RESERVE system. It is the lend-
ing rate that the Federal Reserve targets to control the
money supply. Federal funds purchased (borrowed)
represent a liability to the borrowing bank and an asset
to the lending bank. Loans in the federal funds market
are typically for one to seven days. Another source of
funds for banks is borrowing directly from the Federal
Reserve (the United States central bank) at the discount
window. Loans from the discount widow are short
term, commonly from one day to a few weeks and are
designed to resolve a temporary shortage of funds. The
discount rate at which these loans takes place is set by
the Federal Reserve Board and is generally below the
federal funds rate.

Banks are, nonetheless, reluctant to borrow from
the discount window since they need direct approval
from the Federal Reserve to do so, and borrowing will
result in more intense regulatory attention. A repurchase
agreement (repo) represents the sale of securities by one
party to another with an agreement to repurchase the se-
curities at a specified date and price. The bank sells
some of its government securities to another bank or
corporation with a temporary excess of funds and
agrees to buy them back at some short time in the fu-
ture. The yield on repo agreements is slightly less than
the federal funds rate since the loans are of about the
same duration and repo loans are less risky—they are
backed by the collateral of government securities.

Banks may also obtain dollar denominated loans,
generally in transactions involving $1 million or more,
outside the United States in the eurodollar market at the
London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR). Eurobanks,
banks that participate in this currency market, are lo-
cated not only in Europe but also in the BAHAMAS,
CANADA, JAPAN, HONG KONG, and several other countries.
Because interest rate ceilings were historically imposed
on dollar deposits in U.S. banks, corporations with large



72 banking, commercial

dollar balances moved much of their business overseas
during the high inflation of the 1970s and 1980s. By the
turn of the century, there were more U.S. dollars outside
of the United States then in it; thus, the eurodollar mar-
ket was the largest market for dollars in the world.

The remaining sources of funds for banks are long-
term bonds and equity capital. Like other corporations,
banks own some fixed assets such as land, buildings,
and equipment. These assets are long term in nature,
and are therefore funded with long-term sources of
money such as equity and long-term debt. This debt is
not guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Cor-
poration (FDIC), and trades on the open market just
like the debt issues of other corporations. Bank debt is
followed by the rating agencies (S&P and Moody’s) and
its behavior is a good indication to government regula-
tors of the financial strength of a bank. Equity capital is
composed of stock purchased by investors and the re-
tained earnings of the bank. Since capital can absorb
bank losses so the FDIC does not have to, bank regula-
tors control the level of capital banks must hold. In
1981 bank regulators imposed a minimum primary

Commercial banks open their vaults for loans—business
loans, consumer loans, and real-estate loans.

capital requirement of 5.5 percent of assets. Since 1992,
regulators have imposed new risk-based capital re-
quirements, so riskier banks are subject to higher capi-
tal requirements.

Bank uses of funds. The common uses of bank funds in-
clude cash, bank loans, investment in securities, federal
funds sold, repurchase agreements, eurodollar loans,
and fixed assets. Banks must hold cash to maintain lig-
uidity and accommodate any withdrawal demands from
depositors. The level of cash they maintain is controlled
by reserve requirements imposed by the Federal Reserve.
Altering the reserve requirement is one of the means the
Fed uses to control the money supply.

The main use of bank funds is for loans. These in-
clude business loans, consumer loans, and real-estate
loans. A common type of business loan is the working
capital loan—these loans are short term, but may be re-
newed by businesses on a frequent basis. They are used
to purchase short-term assets such as inventory. An-
other type of business loan is the term loan, which is
primarily used to purchase fixed assets such as machin-
ery. Term loans usually have a fixed interest rate and
maturities ranging from 2 to 10 years. Term loans com-
monly have protective covenants attached to them that
restrict what the borrower may do with the funds and
are also commonly backed with the collateral of the
asset they are used to purchase. A more flexible financ-
ing arrangement is the informal line of credit, which al-
lows businesses to borrow up to a specified amount
within a specific time period. This is useful for firms
that may experience a sudden need for funds but do not
know precisely when.

The interest rate charged by banks on loans to their
most creditworthy customers is known as the prime
rate. The prime rate goes up and down with market con-
ditions and is generally adjusted with the fed funds rate.
For large loans several banks generally pool their funds
in what is referred to as loan participation. The most
common form of loan participation involves a lead bank
arranging for the documentation, disbursement, and
payment structure of the loan and other banks supply-
ing some of the funds to distribute the risk of the loan.

Commercial banks provide installment loans to in-
dividuals to finance the purchase of cars and household
items. These loans require the borrowers to make peri-
odic payments over time. Banks also provide credit cards
to consumers enabling purchases of various goods with-
out the customer reapplying for credit on each purchase.
A maximum limit is assigned to credit-card holders, de-
pending on their income and employment record—this
service commonly involves an agreement with either
VISA or MasterCard. State regulators may impose usury
laws that control the maximum interest rate that banks
may charge consumers.
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Banks also provide real-estate loans. For residential
real-estate loans, the maturity on a mortgage is typically
15 to 30 years, although shorter loans with a large one-
time (balloon) payment are also common. Real-estate
loans are backed by the residence that the borrower pur-
chases. They are commonly securitized and sold in sec-
ondary markets.

History of bank regulation. The regulatory structure of
the banking system in the United States is dramatically
different from that of other countries. The United States
has a dual banking system since either the state or the fed-
eral government may regulate banks. A bank that obtains
a state charter is referred to as a state bank; a bank that
obtains a federal charter is known as a national bank. Na-
tional banks are regulated by the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency, and state banks are regulated by their respective
state agencies. Banks that are members of the Federal Re-
serve system are also regulated by the Fed. Banks that are
insured by FDIC are also regulated by the FDIC.

Members of the Monetarist and AUSTRIAN SCHOOL of
economics believe that the Great DEPRESSION was largely
caused by mismanagement at the Federal Reserve system,
and abuses at the banks certainly did occur. The stock
market crash of 1929 and the depression that followed in-
spired significant new banking regulation in the 1930s.
Prior to 1933, most commercial banks offered invest-
ment-banking services. The Banking Act of 1933 also
known as the Glass-Steagall Act required banks belonging
to the Federal Reserve system to divorce themselves from
their security affiliates. Commercial banks were still al-
lowed to underwrite general obligation bonds of federal,
state, and municipal bodies and of government corpora-
tions, but were prohibited from underwriting equities and
corporate bonds. The act also prohibited partners and of-
ficials of security firms from serving as directors or offi-
cers of commercial banks that were members of the
Federal Reserve system, and created the FDIC. As a result
many banks were broken in two. The Morgan Bank, for
example, was split into a commercial bank, the Morgan
Guaranty Trust Company, known as J.>. MORGAN CHASE
and an investment bank, Morgan Stanley, known as Mor-
gan Stanley Dean Witter (2003).

While it took many years to recover from the Great
Depression and adjust to all of the new banking regula-
tions, banking was largely successful and stable from
World War I until the 1970s. In the 1970s and 1980s
excess inflation caused by government overprinting of
money to finance the national debt resulted in signifi-
cant bank losses and Savings and Loan (S&L) failures.
The S&Ls ran into trouble when the interest they paid
to depositors, which floated with market interest rates,
exceeded the income they received from their long-term
fixed-rate home mortgages. What followed was a multi-
decade wave of regulatory restructuring.

The Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of
1980 (DIDMCA) gradually phased out deposit-rate ceil-
ings (enforced by Regulation Q) between 1980 and
1986 and increased the maximum deposit insurance
level from $40,000 to $100,000. It allowed the creation
of checkable deposits (NOW accounts) for all deposi-
tory institutions (previously it was illegal for banks to
pay interest on checking accounts), and it allowed S&Ls
to offer limited commercial and consumer loans in com-
petition with commercial banks. It also created the ex-
plicit pricing of Fed services like check clearing, so the
Fed would have to compete with private organizations
for this business.

Banks and other depository institutions were fur-
ther deregulated in 1982 as a result of the Garn-St. Ger-
main Act. The Act allowed the merger of failing financial
institutions across state lines; the McFadden Act of 1927
had previously prevented this sort of bank branching. In
1991, Congress passed the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA), which was in-
tended to penalize banks that engaged in high-risk activ-
ities. Its most important provision was to make FDIC
insurance more resemble private insurance. Deposit in-
surance premiums were to be based on the risk of banks,
rather than on a traditional fixed rate. Risk-based de-
posit insurance premiums are now based on a regulatory
rating and the financial institution’s capital levels.

In 1999, the Financial Services Modernization Act
was passed, which allowed commercial banks, securities
firms, and insurance companies to merge—essentially
repealing the Glass-Steagall Act. The most prominent
example of bank expansion into securities services is
Citicorp’s merger with Traveler’s Insurance Company,
which resulted in the financial conglomerate named Cit-
igroup. Since Traveler’s Insurance Group already owned
the investment bank Salomon Smith Barney, the merger
was a massive consolidation of banking, securities, and
insurance services. This merger occurred in 1998, the
year before the passage of the Financial Services Mod-
ernization Act. Yet, the Act was still critical, because it
allowed Citigroup to retain its banking, securities, and
insurance services.

Too big to fail. Some troubled banks have received pref-
erential treatment from bank regulators. The most obvi-
ous example is Continental Illinois Bank, which was
rescued by the federal government in 1984. Roughly 75
percent of the time-deposits at Continental were in ac-
counts in excess of $100,000. Under FDIC insurance
rules, only deposits up to $100,000 were guaranteed
against default, nonetheless, the FDIC bailed out all de-
positors. During this time period, other banks were al-
lowed to fail without any rescue attempt from the
federal government. The reason for the Continental res-
cue plan was, as one of the largest banks in the country,
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Continental’s failure could have resulted in a loss of
public confidence in the U.S. banking system and a sub-
sequent run on other U.S. banks.

While these concerns could be justified, the govern-
ment rescue also caused a MORAL HAZARD problem. If
the federal government rescues a large bank, it sends a
message to the banking industry that large banks will
not be allowed to fail. Consequently, large banks may
take excessive risks without concern about failure. If
risky ventures of a large bank (such as loans to very
risky borrowers) pay off, then the return will be high,
but if they do not pay off, the federal government will
bail out a large bank.
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ALSO KNOWN AS RETAIL BANKING or commercial
banking, consumer banks provide checking, savings,
credit, and other banking services to individuals and
small businesses, typically handling very large numbers
of relatively small transactions. They are distinguished
from investment banks that raise capital for large busi-
nesses and operate in fundamentally different ways from
consumer banks.

In the UNITED STATES and UNITED KINGDOM, consumer
banking and investment banking are largely separate. In
the United States, this separation is legally required by
the Glass-Steagall Act of 1933, while in the United King-
dom it is a matter of customary business practice. Other
countries allow banks to combine the two types of activ-
ity. Banks that offer both consumer and investment
banking services are called “universal banks.”

Consumer banks are a mainstay of individual and
business savings. However, as other savings and invest-

ment vehicles became more widely available and popu-
lar, the percentage of household financial assets de-
posited in consumer banks declined in the United States
from 39 percent in 1978 to below 17 percent at the end
of the 20th century. This article refers primarily to U.S.
consumer banks and the U.S. banking system, but it ap-
plies with minor differences to banks in other countries.

Types of consumer banks. In the United States, con-
sumer banking institutions include commercial banks,
savings institutions (Savings & Loan associations and
mutual savings banks), and credit unions, with each
type regulated by a different government agency and
organized in a different way. Other countries have sim-
ilar types of banking institutions, though legal require-
ments and business customs vary widely from country
to country.

Commercial banks, the most common type of de-
pository institution, accept deposits and use them to
make loans for a wide range of uses, such as automo-
bile purchases, business equipment, and lines of credit
at interest rates that vary just as widely. Though they
were once the main providers of both deposit accounts
and loans, banks now face competition from other in-
stitutions such as money-market funds that allow
smaller depositors to invest and write checks against
their accounts. Free of some of the legal restrictions
placed on banks, such non-bank funds can make more
diversified investments and offer higher returns than
banks. However, non-bank funds lack deposit protection
provided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora-
tion, which insures bank deposits up to $100,000. And
banks are still the primary source of loans for individu-
als and smaller businesses.

Savings institutions include savings and loan associ-
ations and mutual savings banks. They started out as
“Building & Loan societies” (immortalized in Frank
Capra’s 1939 film, “It’s a Wonderful Life”) whose mem-
bers deposited their money to provide home loans to
other members. In the 1930s, the U.S. national govern-
ment began to subsidize home ownership. In 1934, it ex-
tended deposit insurance to savings institutions, putting
them on a par with bank deposits.

Until deregulated in the late 1970s, savings institu-
tions invested mainly in home loans. Deregulation al-
lowed them to make riskier loans, but left in place the
deposit insurance of $100,000 per depositor by the
now-defunct Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Cor-
poration. This led some institutions to offer higher in-
terest rates and make risky loans, confident that
government would cover any losses. The combination of
deregulation with government protection against risk
caused widespread savings institution bankruptcies in
the 1980s as risky loans went sour and taxpayers had to

foot the bill.
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As banks and other financial institutions offer more
options to depositors and borrowers, savings institu-
tions seem to be merging into those other institutions
and disappearing as a separate type of consumer bank.

Credit unions perform the same functions as banks
and savings and loans, but only for members of specific
groups, such as employees of the same company, mem-
bers of the same union, or workers in the same industry
who also belong to the credit union. This reduces their
risk of making bad loans because borrowers are mem-
bers and are already known to the credit union.

The two fundamental types of bank deposit are de-
mand deposits and time deposits.

Demand deposits can be withdrawn on demand, as
their name implies. Checking accounts and other check-
able deposits are the most common type of demand-
deposit accounts, and though savings accounts sometimes
theoretically require advance notice to withdraw funds,
banks usually allow depositors to withdraw their money
on demand.

Checkable deposits are accounts against which a de-
positor can write checks, meaning that money on de-
posit can be demanded any time a check is presented for
payment. Checkable deposits include traditional non-in-
terest checking accounts, negotiable order of with-
drawal (NOW) accounts, and super-NOW accounts.
Checkable deposits have steadily decreased as a portion
of bank funds. In 1960, they accounted for over 60 per-
cent of bank funds, but by the year 2000 had decreased
to only 13 percent of bank funds.

Time deposits are left with the bank for an agreed-
upon period of time, such as six months, one year, or
longer. A depositor who wishes to withdraw the money
early must forfeit some of the interest that the money
would have earned. Banks offer two main classes of
time deposits. Time deposits under $100,000 are con-
sidered small-denomination time deposits, while those for
$100,000 or more are considered large-denomination time
deposits. However, because the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation only insures deposits up to $100,000, a por-
tion of the money in large-denomination time deposits is
uninsured like any other investment.

Time deposits are often made by purchasing certifi-
cates of deposit (CDs). Large-denomination time de-
posits can be bought and sold in bond markets, so
depositors can get their money out without penalty if a
buyer is willing to pay enough. Large-denomination
time deposits are typically made by corporations and fi-
nancial institutions as one alternative to U.S. Treasury
bonds. Such time deposits are an important source of
funds for consumer banks.

How consumer banks operate. Consumer banks (includ-
ing commercial banks, savings institutions, and credit
unions) accept deposits from some individuals and busi-

Consumer banking often involves personal consultation to
determine the best investment options.

nesses and loan out the money to other individuals and
businesses. The difference between the interest they pay
to their depositors and the interest they charge to lend
out the money is called “the spread,” and it is how banks
make their money.

A typical passbook savings account, for example,
might pay an interest rate of 2 percent. On the other
hand, a bank might charge 6 percent for a home loan
and 18 to 20 percent for an unsecured credit card
loan. This spread is the banking equivalent of “buy
low, sell high.” Banks “buy” deposits at a relatively
low rate of interest and “sell” loans and credit at rela-
tively high rates.

Deposit funds (reserves) that are lent or invested can
make a profit for the bank, but funds held by the bank
do not. Therefore, consumer banks lend or invest all but
a fraction of their deposits, which they keep on hand as
vault cash or on deposit at a branch of the U.S. FEDERAL
RESERVE, the U.S. central bank. Banks use this held-back
fraction of reserves to pay depositors who wish to with-
draw funds or who wish to write checks that draw on
their accounts. This is called fractional-reserve banking.

The Federal Reserve requires banks to keep a mini-
mum percentage of their demand-deposit funds avail-
able to satisfy withdrawals. This minimum is called the
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reserve requirement. In February, 2002, the reserve re-
quirement was 10 percent of demand deposits. Because
time deposits are left with the bank for a specified pe-
riod, they are less likely to be withdrawn before matu-
rity, so there is no reserve requirement for time deposits.
Fractional-reserve banking has been both a blessing
and a curse to Western economies. It gives banks both
the ability and incentive to expand a country’s money
supply, as economist Adam SMITH noted in 1776:

A particular banker lends among his customers his
own promissory notes, to the extent, we shall sup-
pose, of a hundred thousand pounds. As those notes
serve all the purposes of money, his debtors pay him
the same interest as if he had lent them so much [gold
or silver]. This interest is the source of his gain.
Though some of the notes are continually coming
back upon him for payment, part of them continue
to circulate for months and years. Though he has
generally in circulation [paper currency of] a hun-
dred thousand pounds, twenty thousand pounds in
gold and silver may, frequently, be a sufficient for an-
swering occasional demands. By this operation,
therefore, twenty thousand pounds in gold and silver
perform all the functions which a hundred thousand
could otherwise have performed.

Fractional-reserve banking gives government, through
the banking system, the ability to make more money avail-
able to stimulate business activity in economic downturns.
For example, the Federal Reserve can lower the reserve re-
quirement, enabling banks to loan out a larger portion of
funds from their demand deposits.

However, fractional-reserve banks are inherently at
risk because they never have enough assets on hand to
pay off all their depositors. This has led to numerous
problems, including “bank runs” in which too many de-
positors try to withdraw their money from a shaky
bank, thereby causing the bank to fail. Moreover, erratic
fluctuations in the money supply are a major cause of
the business cycle of boom and bust.

History of consumer banks. Consumer banks as we
know them today began to evolve in medieval Europe. In
the 12th century, deposit banks opened in Italian trading
centers such as Venice and Genoa. These banks were not
allowed to earn money by loaning deposits and keeping
only fractional reserves, but they did facilitate business
transactions by transferring money on order from buyers’
to sellers’ accounts. They also allowed some depositors to
write overdrafts on their accounts, in effect loaning them
money. Soon, similar banks operated in major cities such
as London, Barcelona, and Geneva.

Banks also facilitated long-range trade by buying
and selling bills of exchange. Because shipping gold was

time-consuming, expensive, and hazardous, many mer-
chants preferred to use bills of exchange. By this means,
merchants could sell goods on credit in a distant market,
use one of the market’s local banks to invest the pro-
ceeds in local goods, and then have the goods shipped
back to the home market. Because all the transactions
were based on bank credit, no actual gold shipments
were required. By the beginning of the INDUSTRIAL REVO-
LUTION, fractional-reserve banking had become common
in Europe and elsewhere around the world, and institu-
tions recognizable as the ancestors of modern consumer
banks were in widespread operation.
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banking, investment

INVESTMENT BANKS, OR I-BANKS, assist with a
large variety of financial transactions generally involv-
ing the restructuring of the ownership of firms. These
transactions include private placements, initial public
offerings, mergers and acquisitions, leverage buyouts,
and securitization. The role of an investment bank is gen-
erally that of a financial intermediary or advisor rather
than a lender or investor so most of its compensation is
in the form of fees. The most active investment banking
houses in recent years have been: Merrill Lynch, Sa-
lomon Smith Barney, Morgan Stanley Dean Wiitter,
CREDIT SUISSE First Boston, J.P. MORGAN CHASE, Goldman
Sachs, Deutsche Bank, Lehman Brothers, UBS Warburg,
and Banc of America Securities.

Private placements and venture capital funds. Most
businesses begin life as proprietorships or partnerships,
and then, as the more successful ones grow, at some
point they find it desirable to become corporations.
Initially, its founders and key employees own most of
a firm’s corporate stock. Founding firms that are ex-
tremely successful tend to grow very quickly and there-
fore need expansion funds beyond the resources of the
initial founders.
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The first outside source of funds usually obtained
by startup firms come from private placements. Pri-
vate placements are stock issues that do not have to be
registered with the SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS-
sION (SEC), and are therefore highly restricted in who
may purchase them. In a non-registered private place-
ment, the company may issue securities to an unlim-
ited number of accredited investors, but to only 35
non-accredited investors. Accredited investors include
the officers and directors of the company, high wealth
individuals, and institutional investors. An additional
restriction on private placements is that none of the
investors can sell their securities in the secondary mar-
ket to the general public.

For most startup companies, the first private-equity
placements are to a small number of individual investors
called angels. The angels tend to be high net-worth peo-
ple with significant knowledge about the industry they
are investing in, and commonly sit on the company’s
board of directors. As a company’s financial needs grow,
the next step is commonly to seek support from a ven-
ture capital fund. Venture capital funds are private lim-
ited partnerships that typically raise $10 million to $100
million from a small group of primarily institutional in-
vestors, including pension, funds, college endowments,
and corporations. The managers of venture capital
funds (venture capitalists) are typically very knowledge-
able about a given industry, and limit their investments
to only one investment sector.

Initial public offerings (IPOs). Going public means sell-
ing some of a company’s stock to outside investors and
then letting the stock trade in secondary public markets
such as the NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE. Taking compa-
nies public is the primary business of most investment
banks. Investment bankers assist firms by helping to de-
termine the stock’s initial offering price and selling the
stock to its existing clients—generally a mix of institu-
tional investors and high net-worth individuals. After
the stock is sold, the I-Bank, through its brokerage house,
will have an analyst “cover” the stock to maintain in-
vestor interest in it. This analyst will regularly distribute
reports to investors describing the stock’s future growth
prospects.

When taking firms public, the firm and its invest-
ment bankers must decide whether the bankers will work
on a best-efforts basis or will underwrite the issue. In a
best-efforts sale, the banker does not guarantee that the
securities will be sold or that the company will get the
cash it needs, only that it will put forth its “best efforts”
to sell the issue. On an underwritten issue, the company
does get a guarantee, because the banker agrees to buy
the entire issue and then resell the stock to its customers.
Except for extremely small issues, virtually all IPOs are
underwritten. Investors are required to pay for securities

within 10 days, and the investment banker must pay the
issuing firm within four days of the official commence-
ment of the offering.

Typically, the banker sells the stock within a day or
two after the offering begins, but on occasion, the banker
miscalculates the offering price and is unable to sell the
issue. If this occurs, the investment bank must absorb
any losses. Because investment bankers bear significant
risk in underwriting sock offerings, large-issues bankers
tend to form underwriting syndicates. The banking house
that sets up the deal is called the lead, or managing, un-
derwriter and the other banks share in the initial pur-
chase and distribution of the shares.

Since the creation of the SEC in 1933, investment-
banking services have been highly regulated. The SEC
has jurisdiction over all interstate public offerings in ex-
cess of $1.5 million. State agencies also regulate the secu-
rities market. Newly issued securities (stocks and bonds)
must be registered with the SEC at least 20 days before
they are publicly offered. The registration statement,
called Form S-1 provides financial, legal, and technical
information about the company to the SEC. A prospec-
tus, which is embedded in the S-1, summarizes this in-
formation for investors. After the SEC declares the
registration to be effective, new securities may be adver-
tised, but a prospectus must accompany all sales. Prelim-
inary, or “red herring,” prospectuses may be distributed
to potential buyers during the 20-day waiting period
after the registration is effective.

After the registration statement has been filed, the
senior management team, the investment bankers, and
the company’s lawyers go on a road show during which
the management team will make multiple presentations
each day to potential institutional investors—generally
existing clients of the underwriters. During the presenta-
tions potential investors may ask questions, but the
management team may not give out any information
that is not already included in the registration due to a
SEC mandated quiet period. The quiet period begins
when the registration statement is filed and lasts for 25
days after the stock begins trading. After a presentation,
the investment bankers will ask the investors for an in-
dication of interest in the new company based on the
range of offering prices shown in the registration state-
ment. The investment bankers will record the number of
shares that each investor is interested in buying. This
process is called book building. If there are more in-
vestors interested in purchasing the company than there
are shares available, then the offer is oversubscribed and
the I-Bankers may increase the offering price, if there is
little interest in the new company, then they may lower
the offering price or withdraw the IPO.

Mergers and acquisitions. A merger occurs when two or
more firms become one firm with approximately equal
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control of the combined firm going to both management
teams. An acquisition occurs when one firm takes con-
trol of another, generally smaller firm. From the stock-
holder’s point of view there are good reasons for
mergers such as firm synergies, and bad reasons for
mergers such as diversification. If two companies merge
and the value of the whole is greater than the sum of its
parts, then a synergy is said to exist. Synergistic effects
can arise from five sources:

1. operating economies, which result from economies
of scale in management, marketing, production, or
distribution

2. financial economies, including lower transaction costs
and better coverage by security analysts

3. tax effects, where the combined enterprise pays less
in taxes than the separate firms would pay

4. differential efficiency, which implies that the manage-
ment of one firm is more efficient and that the weaker
firm’s assets will be better managed after the merger

5. increased market power due to reduced competition.

Some of these reasons for mergers are good for the econ-
omy and consumers since they will receive equal or bet-
ter goods and services for lower prices, and other reasons,
such as decreased competition, may hurt consumers. The
ANTITRUST division of the Justice Department regulates
mergers and acquisitions.

Managers often cite diversification as a reason for a
merger. While this makes sense from the point of view of
the manager, it makes little sense from the point of view
of the stockholders in the firm. If a manager controls a
larger firm involved in multiple different industries, he
will collect a larger salary and control more assets than
if he only manages a small specialized firm, so diversifi-
cation helps management. If a stockholder wants to be
diversified, he need only buy stock in multiple different
firms. Furthermore, since management may only be
knowledgeable in one specialized area, mergers based on
diversification may actually make the combined firm
less valuable than its individual components. As of Oc-
tober 2002, the five largest corporate mergers or acqui-
sitions in the United States were: America Online Inc.
acquiring Time Warner; Pfizer Inc. acquiring Warner-
Lambert; Exxon Corp. acquiring Mobil Corp; Travelers
Group Inc. acquiring Citicorp; and SBC Communica-
tions Inc. acquiring Ameritech Corp.

Leveraged buyouts. In a private transaction, the entire
equity of a publicly held firm is purchased by a small
group of investors that usually includes the firm’s cur-
rent senior management. In some of these transactions,
the current management group acquires all of the equity

of the company. In others, current management partici-
pates in the ownership with a small group of outside in-
vestors who typically place directors on the now-private
firm’s board and arrange for the financing needed to
purchase the publicly held stock. Such deals almost al-
ways involve substantial borrowing, often up to 90 per-
cent of assets, and thus are known as leverage buyouts
(LBOs). The acquirer believes the firm is drastically un-
dervalued in the market or that the firm’s value can be
increased by changes current management is unwilling
to make. Thus, a group of investors might take a firm
private, fire the management, and restructure the firm to
making a profit. For example when Kohlberg, Kravis,
Roberts, & Company (KKR) won the battle for RJR
Nabisco, they removed the top management and termi-
nated a money-losing “smokeless” cigarette project. LBOs
tend to take place when the stock market is depressed
and debt financing is more appealing. Many LBOs were
financed with junk bonds issued by Michael Milken and
Drexel Burnham Lambert during the early 1980s. Sub-
sequently, Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, Merrill Lynch,
Salomon Smith Barney, and other major investment
banks have entered the junk bond market.

Securitization. A security refers to a publicly traded fi-
nancial instrument, as opposed to a privately placed in-
strument. Thus, securities have greater liquidity than
otherwise similar instruments that are not traded in an
open market. In recent years, procedures have been de-
veloped to securitize various types of debt instruments,
thus increasing their liquidity, lowering the cost of capi-
tal to borrowers, and generally increasing the efficiency
of the financial markets. The oldest type of asset securi-
tization is the mortgage-backed market. Here, individ-
ual home mortgages are commonly combined into
pools, and then bonds are created that use the pool of
mortgages as collateral. The financial institution that
originated the mortgage generally continues to act as the
servicing agent, but the mortgage itself is sold to other
investors. Savings and Loans (S&Ls) are in the business
of borrowing money on a short-term basis through
passbook accounts and short-term certificates of de-
posit, and lending money to home purchasers through
long-term fixed-rate home mortgages. During the high
inflation period of the late1970s and early1980s many
S&Ls went bankrupt due to this duration mismatch be-
tween their assets and liabilities. When inflation in-
creased, the value of their assets (home mortgages) went
down drastically, but the value of their liabilities (pass-
book accounts) did not change. The securitization of home
mortgages is one of the ways developed to help S&Ls
and banks limit their exposure to this type of interest-
rate risk. Today, many different types of assets are secu-
ritized, including auto loans, credit card balances, home
loans, and student loans.
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History of investment banking. Investment banking
services have been available since the early days of the
United States. Before the 1850s, when the financial
needs of the railroads gave rise to some of the first in-
vestment banking houses, the business in securities was
conducted by various kinds of unspecialized middlemen.
In the United States, as in Europe, investment banking
started out as a sideline to some other business. In
America this role usually was filled by speculators and
merchants, since relatively few other men of large
wealth were willing to take the risks entailed in buying
securities or had funds other than those invested in land
or trade. Early securities trading mainly involved gov-
ernment and railroad bonds.

Of the many incorporated commercial banks per-
forming an investment banking function before 1840,
none was more deeply involved in the business than the
United States Bank of Pennsylvania, which took over the
nongovernmental affairs of the second Bank of the
United States, when its charter expired in 1836.
Nicholas Biddle, its first president and former head of
the Bank of the United States, contracted and negotiated
for all kinds of public and private securities, including
some of the first railroad issues. Like some large com-
mercial banks doing an investment banking business a
half-century later, he tried to attract the deposits of the
companies and governmental units whose securities he
distributed. His most important innovation, which was
partly responsible for the institution’s ultimate collapse
in 1841, was the practice of lending issuers money on se-
curities he was trying to sell on commission.

By the outbreak of the Civil War, investment bank-
ing in the United States had achieved a significant degree
of maturity and specialization. During the Civil War, the
Union government was having significant difficulty rais-
ing funds, so Abraham LINCOLN’s first Secretary of the
Treasury, Salmon P. Chase called on his brother-in-law,
Jay Cooke, who had opened a private banking house in
Philadelphia in 1861. Cooke proposed a hard-selling,
well-organized, campaign to appeal to the patriotism
and self-interest of the small investor. Chase accepted
the banker’s suggestion since bankers and large in-
vestors, the usual purchasers of debt securities, were un-
willing to buy the bonds; thus, the first mass marketing
of securities was born. Subscriptions ranged from
$300,000 to as little as $50. After the war, Cooke at-
tempted the same techniques selling railroad bonds. He
was not as successful, and in 1873, Cooke & Co. went
out of business due to unpaid debt and unsold bonds of
the Northern Pacific Railroad.

After Cooke’s failure, a new financial giant—]. Pier-
pont MORGAN—rose to prominence. His father, Junius
Spenser Morgan was born on a Massachusetts farm, but
became a powerful international banker as a partner
with George Peabody & Co. in London. The younger

Morgan, after a brief apprenticeship with Duncan, Sher-
man, & Co, opened his own banking house in New
York, dealing largely in foreign exchange, gold, and se-
curities. In 1871, J.P. Morgan entered into a partnership
with Anthony Drexel of Philadelphia. With his advanta-
geous foreign connections, he soon became prominent in
underwriting securities issues. In 1879, Morgan took on
the important responsibility of helping William H. Van-
derbilt sell a large portion of his enormous holdings in
the New York Central Railroad. Morgan found English
buyers for the stock, and became their representative on
Central’s board.

From this time period until his death in 1913, Mor-
gan was the dominant figure in American finance. In
1893, the U.S. Treasury suffered from a run on gold re-
serves motivated by fear that free-silver legislation
would end the gold standard causing a depression in the
dollar. Morgan organized a marketing syndicate to issue
new government bonds and replenish the gold reserve.
In 1901, Morgan was one of the key figures in the for-
mation of United States Steel Corporation—at the time
the largest business corporation in the world. And in
1907, when Wall Street was swept by a financial panic,
Morgan acted as a “one-man Federal Reserve bank” by
organizing the heads of New York City’s leading banks
to put up enough cash to prevent suspension of payment
by weaker banks.

Members of the Monetarist and AUSTRIAN SCHOOLS
of economics believe that the Great DEPRESSION was
largely caused by mismanagement at the FEDERAL RESERVE
system, but there were also abuses at the banks. The
stock market crash of 1929 and the depression that fol-
lowed inspired significant new banking regulation.
Prior to 1933, most commercial banks offered invest-
ment-banking services. The Banking Act of 1933 also
known as the Glass-Steagall Act required banks belong-
ing to the Federal Reserve System to divorce themselves
from their security affiliates within one year. Commer-
cial banks were still allowed to underwrite general obli-
gation bonds of federal, state, and municipal bodies,
and of government corporations, but were prohibited
from underwriting equities and corporate bonds. The
act also prohibited partners and officials of security
firms from serving as directors or officers of commer-
cial banks that were members of the Federal Reserve
system, and created the Federal Deposit Insurance Cor-
poration (FDIC). As a result many banks were broken
in two. The Morgan Bank, for example, was split into a
commercial bank, the Morgan Guaranty Trust Com-
pany, now known as J. P. Morgan Chase and an invest-
ment bank, Morgan Stanley, now know as Morgan
Stanley Dean Witter. Also passed during this time pe-
riod were the Truth in Securities Act of 1933, and the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. The provisions of
the Truth in Securities Act were discussed in the section
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on IPOs. The Securities and Exchange Act created the
Securities and Exchange Commission, established a min-
imum margin requirement of 55 percent, and put regu-
lation of broker’s loans under the control of the Federal
Reserve system.

While it took many years to recover from the Great
Depression and adjust to all of the new banking regula-
tions, banking was largely successful and stable from
World War II until the 1970s. In the 1970s and 1980s
excess inflation caused by government overprinting of
money to finance the national debt resulted in signifi-
cant bank failures. What followed was a multi-decade
wave of regulatory restructuring. Most of this deregu-
lating was related to commercial banking. In 1999, the
Financial Services Modernization Act was passed, which
allowed commercial banks, securities firms, and insur-
ance companies to merge—essentially repealing the
Glass-Steagall Act. The most prominent example of
bank expansion into securities services is Citicorp’s
merger with Traveler’s Insurance Company, which re-
sulted in the financial conglomerate named Citigroup.
Since Traveler’s Insurance Group already owned the in-
vestment bank Salomon Smith Barney, the merger was
a massive consolidation of banking, securities, and in-
surance services. This merger occurred in 1998, the
year before the passage of the Financial Services Mod-
ernization Act.

Yet, the act was still critical, because it allowed Cit-
igroup to retain its banking, securities, and insurance
services. Since the re-merger of investment and commer-
cial banking there have been accusations of tying (given
loans only under the condition of receiving I-Banking
business) and of large banks giving questionable loans in
exchange for I-Banking business.
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bankruptcy

DATING BACK TO the ancient Romans, bankruptcy
has been the course of action for when a business or in-
dividual is unable to repay outstanding debts owed to
creditors, or avoids repayment. In the last 400 years,
governments have put formal laws in place that penal-
ize debtors, while at the same time protecting the rights
of creditors.

Bankruptcy, in its early form, was viewed as debt-
or fraud. Those who were bankrupt were severely pun-
ished and laws were created to ensure creditors were
repaid.

Bankruptcies mainly took place in the business world
and were involuntary, in that a business was charged with
bankruptcy when it could not repay creditors. The penal-
ties for merchants and individuals charged with bank-
ruptcy included prison, public flogging, and in some
instances, execution.

The meaning of bankruptcy has changed dramati-
cally in today’s society. Rather than being charged with
bankruptcy, it is now something that businesses and in-
dividuals declare, which eliminates virtually all the crim-
inality involved in its original definition. In modern
times, bankruptcy has evolved into a practice that cen-
ters on eliminating debts, particularly as personal bank-
ruptcy has become a more common practice. In cases of
personal bankruptcy, the process of declaring oneself
bankrupt—filing for bankruptcy— is viewed as a cleans-
ing act, giving the debtor a fresh start economically and
relief from creditors.

Some believe the term bankruptcy was derived from
the words bancus (tradesman’s counter) and ruptus (bro-
ken), meaning that a person’s business was gone. Others
see the word coming from the Italian banca rotta, or
“broken bench,” for the practice in medieval times of de-
stroying a businessman’s trading bench if he did not
repay outstanding debts.

Early bankruptcy. In ancient Rome, under the Caesars,
debt collection laws were enacted to make certain that
creditors were repaid. A trustee (often referred to as a
protector or caretaker) auctioned off the debtor’s prop-
erty to the bidder who agreed to pay the most to the
creditors. The trustee was either chosen by the creditors
or appointed by a magistrate. In severe cases, a debtor
could be sold into slavery.

Historians disagree about the date of the first Eng-
lish bankruptey law. Some think it was enacted in 1542,
while others believe the first law was passed in 1570.
The 1542 edict, passed under the rule of Henry VIII, es-
tablished harsh penalties against the debtor to prevent
fraud committed on creditors. Bankrupt individuals ap-
peared before a chancellor, faced examination under
oath at the discretion of the creditor, and if the debtor
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failed to surrender his possessions to repay the debt, the
offender was sent to debtors’ prison.

The 1570 law passed because the earlier statute put so
many people in prison that it became a national epidemic.
The penalties, however, were no less severe. All assets were
taken, sold, and distributed to creditors. Bankruptcy offi-
cials even had the right to break into a person’s home to
seize property that could be used to repay debts. Unlike
today’s less hostile version of bankruptcy, there was no dis-
charge of the remaining debt, regardless of the penalty the
debtor faced. Debt collection continued until all creditors
were satisfied. As the debtors’ prisons filled, new forms of
punishment took place that did not include jail time.
Debtors could be publicly flogged, while others had an ear
cut off or had an ear nailed, while still attached, to a pil-
lory in a public forum. The 1705 Statute of Anne law gave
prosecutors the right to execute debtors and approxi-
mately five people were put to death under this law.

Bankrupicy in America. Given the chaotic state of the
economy in early America and large debts the nation owed
for financing the AMERICAN REVOLUTION, the founders
were not willing to enact punitive bankruptcy laws in the
young country. The federal government empowered the in-
dividual states to dictate bankruptcy laws. Many of these
mimicked the English in harshness, including nailing con-
victed debtors to the pillory and branding a “T” on the
thumb of debtors for “thief.”

The first official bankruptcy law in the UNITED STATES
was passed in 1800 to regulate land speculation deals.
The law was later repealed in 1803. Although modeled
after English bankruptey law, American federal laws were
less punitive and allowed the debtor to discharge some
debts. The rest of the 19th century saw similar bankruptcy
laws enacted in response to specific economic crises. Each
of these was followed by repeal, usually after the law
proved too cumbersome or people figured out ways to de-
fraud the system using the new law.

The Bankruptcy Act of 1898 began a new era of
bankruptcy laws, favoring the debtor over the creditor
and giving the bankrupt party legal protection from those
who were owed money. The Great DEPRESSION forced
more bankruptcy legislation, with new laws being passed
in 1933 and 1934. With the Chandler Act of 1938, Con-
gress revamped the laws. Chapter 13 bankruptcy was in-
troduced, which gave debtors the ability to repay over a
three- to five-year plan, while retaining their property and
residence. The Chandler Act also defined how businesses
could reorganize during bankruptcy.

During the long economic boom that took place after
World War II, bankruptcy did not change significantly
until the 1970s. The Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978
overhauled bankruptcy practices. Chapter 11 was created
to help businesses reorganize, while a new Chapter 13 re-
placed the old program. Both made it easier for corpora-

tions and people to file for bankruptcy and emerge with
much less financial damage. Much of the bankruptcy
news in the 1980s occurred as the 1978 Act was tweaked
and new laws were passed to include groups that were not
given special treatment in the earlier laws, such as the
Chapter 12 provision created for family farms in 1986.

Boom and bust bankruptcy. The boom and bust econ-
omy of the 1980s and 1990s caused record numbers of
corporations and individuals to declare bankruptcy. The
leniency of modern bankruptcy laws has made it, to some
people’s viewpoint, an attractive alternative to actually re-
paying creditors. Many of the world’s most well-known
companies have filed for bankruptcy, including Continen-
tal Airlines, Texaco, and LTV Steel. In 1997, nearly 1.4
million people filed for personal bankruptcy, an average
of one for every 76 American households.

Most people filing for bankruptcy now use Chapter 7
liquidation, which discharges all unpaid debts, but does
not allow creditors to place a lien on property or garnish
wages. In the business world, Chapter 11 reorganizations
are the most common form of bankruptcy. Under this
program, businesses are allowed to continue operations
with their own management teams in place, while assets
are protected from creditors. Management has 120 days
to propose a plan of reorganization to creditors, but the
deadline can be extended for years.

While corporate bankruptcies, such as those by
ENRON and WORLDCOM still receive the most media atten-
tion, consumer filings dwarf those of business. In 2002,
1.57 million were filed, but only 38,540 were businesses.
Yet it is difficult to quantify the true economic effect of
the largest bankruptcy filings, such as WorldCom with
nearly $104 billion in assets when it filed in 2002, or
Enron totaling $63 billion.
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Barclays Bank

BARCLAYS IS A FINANCIAL services group, based in
the UNITED KINGDOM, engaged primarily in banking, in-
vestment banking, and investment management. It is one
of the largest, oldest, and most revered financial services
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groups in England, Scotland, Wales and Ireland, and a
leading provider of coordinated global services to multina-
tional corporations and financial institutions worldwide.
As a whole, it is comprised of seven business groupings:
Barclays Africa; Barclaycard; Barclays Capital; Barclays
Global Investors; Barclays Private Clients; Business Bank-
ing; and Personal Financial Services.

In 2003, Barclays had 74,400 employees operating
within those groups, spread throughout 60-plus coun-
tries. All corners of the world—in Europe, the North
America, Latin America, Africa, the Caribbean, Asia, the
Middle East and Australia—are represented as Barclays’
markets. Barclays has 2,088 branches in the United King-
dom alone, 564 branches overseas, and an online banking
service, to which nearly 3.5 million users are registered.

The history of Barclays can be traced back 300 years
to when banking partners John Freame and Thomas
Gould founded the institution in 1690. The name Barclay
came about when a third partner, James Barclay, joined
the firm. Since then, it has remained at the physical center
of London’s financial district, and also the metaphorical
center of London’s finance business.

By 1896, when a new, realigned bank was formed
from mergers, it had 182 branches and deposits of £26
million, a vast sum in Victorian England. After another
series of amalgamations, the bank claimed more than a
thousand branches in 1926. In 1969, it acquired Mar-
tin’s Bank, the largest bank outside of London, and in
2000 The Woolwich, a principal lending bank.

According to its 2002 annual report, Barclays aspires
to be “recognized as an innovative, customer-focused
company that delivers superb products and services, en-
sures excellent careers and contributes positively to the
communities.” Striving to uphold a long and honored
legacy, it continues to build its business in retail and com-
mercial banking outside the United Kingdom and to nur-
ture global business in the areas of investment banking
and credit cards. In 2002, the group achieved a sales of
$27.5 billion with profits of $3.7 billion.
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barter

THE EXCHANGE OF ONE COMMODITY for an-
other, barter is used in the absence of any widely ac-

cepted type of money, where money is defined as any
commodity, coin, or paper currency whose primary
value is as a medium of exchange, not as a good or serv-
ice. Barter evolved early in the history of mankind as in-
dividuals recognized the benefits of a fundamental
component of capitalism: exchange. Historical evidence
suggests barter developed as early as 9000 B.C.E. when
human beings exchanged cattle and plant products such
as grain.

Before they integrated barter into their daily lives,
societies were largely self-sufficient. Individual house-
holds provided the necessities of food, clothing, and
housing for themselves and consequently had little time
to pursue leisure, education, research, or any of the other
activities generally associated with economic growth and
improved standards of living. The existence of sustained
hunter-gatherer and agrarian societies in the early history
of man proved that individuals could coexist in commu-
nities. The endurance of such living arrangements proved
significant for two reasons. First, it exposed individuals
to a wide array of different talents and skill sets. Second,
community living provided a certain level of trust
among its inhabitants.

It was not long before individuals recognized the
high costs of remaining self-sufficient. By exchanging
with one another, individuals could take advantage of
diverse specialization talents and, in so doing, rid them-
selves of the limitations of remaining self-reliant. Con-
sumption and production were no longer constrained by
the type and amount of resources that one possessed.
Through specialization and exchange, an individual
could produce those items for which his resources and
abilities were best suited, trade with someone else to get
goods and services he could not otherwise obtain and
subsequently free up time and other valuable resources.

Adam smITH formally recognized the benefits of
such specialization when he outlined his “Theory of Ab-
solute Advantage” in his 1776 work, An Inquiry into
the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations. The re-
wards of exchange were further endorsed by David RI-
CARDO when he formulated his “Theory of Comparative
Advantage.” Individuals grew more dependent on one
another as barter spread. This, however, did little to
negate the tremendous gains from exchange as commu-
nity living typically fostered a certain degree of trust
among individuals.

Specialization and the division of labor have long
been acknowledged as driving forces of improvements in
productivity and living standards. Not only does a sys-
tem based on exchange allow individuals access to a
greater number of goods and services, it also permits in-
dividuals to obtain these commodities more easily and
at a lower cost to themselves as well as society. The
repetitive nature of specialization leads to improved fac-
tor productivity as individuals become better skilled and
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find more efficient methods of production. Advancements
in social and economic welfare accelerate as specialization
leads to cultural, technological, and intellectual progress
that would be unattainable with self-sufficient systems.
Such achievements ultimately promote economic growth
and advances in a society’s standard of living.

The substantial benefits of specialization could not
be realized as long as individuals remained self-suffi-
cient. Hence, barter was a necessary prerequisite for spe-
cialization, the division of labor, and the ensuing
increase in economic activity. Despite that, few cultures
presently exist in which barter continues to be used as a
principal method of exchange. In nearly all cultures in
the world today, exchange involves the use of some gen-
erally accepted form of money.

The Chinese used bronze knives and the Lydians,
electrum ingots, to facilitate exchange as early as the 7th
century B.C.E. By the 4th century B.C.E., disks of metal that
mimicked today’s coins were circulating as a medium of
exchange throughout the Greek world. Barter systems
were replaced quickly by money systems as the high costs
of barter became apparent. While the use of barter al-
lowed civilizations to prosper in ways that would have
been impossible under self-sufficient regimes, the substan-
tial transactions costs associated with barter placed limits
on social and economic advancements.

Barter required what has become known as the dou-
ble coincidence of wants. A pig farmer who finds himself
in need of a sweater would have to find an individual
who had sweaters to trade and who also wanted pork
(i.e., the desires of the pig farmer and sweater-maker
would have to coincide before the two would barter with
one another). Assuming the pig farmer could find a
sweater-maker in need of pork, the search costs could be
prohibitive and hence the pig farmer may choose to re-
treat to a self-sufficient lifestyle.

Even if the pig farmer were able to overcome the
double coincidence of wants, other impediments exist.
The durability and portability of the pigs may pose a
problem should the farmer live a great distance from the
producer of the sweaters. Assessing the true value of the
pigs may prove difficult as all pigs are neither uniform in
size nor quality. Because one pig is likely to be worth
more than one sweater, barter may be further hindered
due to the fact that pigs are not divisible. The pig farmer
would have to agree to take ownership of a large number
of sweaters or find something other than a pig to offer
for the sweater. Lastly, a barter system is typically char-
acterized by a large number of exchange rates where the
number of exchange rates, E, in a barter economy with n
goods will be equal to 1/2n(n-1). This further increases
the difficulty of quickly assigning a value to a particular
commodity and hence discourages exchange.

Barter provided an important impetus for special-
ization and the division of labor without which social,

cultural, and technological advancements would most
likely have been hindered. High transactions costs, how-
ever, frequently led to the replacement of barter by
money systems. Despite that, barter did not disappear
altogether. It continued to crop up throughout modern
history particul